
AnnUAl repOrT 2011

property  
investment 
excellence



2

Company name:  Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number:  1987/005284/06
Share code:  HYP
ISIN:  ZAE000003430
JSE sector:  Real estate
Year-end:  31 December

ABOUT This repOrT

This integrated annual report of Hyprop presents the financial results of the 
company and the economic, social and environmental performance for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2011, and follows our previous report 
published for the financial year to 31 December 2010. This is Hyprop’s second 
integrated report. 

The Attfund Retail portfolio has been included from 1 September 2011, the 
effective date of the acquisition.

For the purpose of this integrated annual report, reporting on sustainability 
initiatives (specifically Safety, Health and Environment and Corporate Social 
Investment matters) extends to each of the shopping centres in Hyprop’s 
portfolio of assets, including those acquired from Attfund Retail during the year.  

The content included in this integrated annual report is deemed to be useful 
and relevant to Hyprop’s stakeholders and of a nature which may influence their 
perception or decision-making. The information specifically aims to provide 
stakeholders with a good understanding of the financial, social and environmental 
initiatives of the company and their results, to enable stakeholders to evaluate 
Hyprop’s ability to create and sustain value over the long-term.

The annual report was prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, as well as 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, where relevant. The company has 
further applied the majority of the principles contained in the King III Report. Any 
King III principles which have not been applied are explained, where applicable, 
including wherever possible reference to the part of the year for which the 
non-compliance occurred. The company has also considered and applied many 
of the recommendations contained in the Discussion Paper on the Framework 
for Integrated Reporting and the Integrated Report issued by the Integrated 
Reporting Committee of South Africa in January 2011. 

For further information, please see “Contact Details” on page 110 of this 
integrated annual report. 

respOnsiBiliTy sTATemenT 

The Audit Committee acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity of 
this report. 

The Audit Committee has applied its mind to the report and believes that it 
addresses all material issues, and fairly presents the integrated performance of 
Hyprop and its subsidiaries. 

FOrwArd-lOOking sTATemenTs

This integrated annual report contains forward-looking statements that, unless 
otherwise indicated, reflect the company’s expectations as at 31 December 
2011. Actual results may differ materially from the company’s expectations if 
known and unknown risks or uncertainties affect its business, or if estimates or 
assumptions prove inaccurate. The company cannot guarantee that any forward-
looking statement will materialise and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to 
place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. The company disclaims 
any intention and assumes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statement even if new information becomes available as a result of future events 
or for any other reason, other than a required by the JSE Listings Requirements.

pieter prinsloo laurence Cohen les weil
CEO Financial Director Chairman of the

  Audit Committee 
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“Attfund Retail” – Attfund Retail Limited (formerly Femtoworx Limited), acquired 
by Hyprop effective 1 September 2011
“the board” – The board of directors of Hyprop Investments Limited
“Canal Walk” – Canal Walk Shopping Centre
“Canal Walk Manco” – Canal Walk Management Company (Proprietary) Limited
“CapeGate” – CapeGate Retail Precinct
“Clearwater” – Clearwater Mall
“the current year” – The year ending 31 December 2012
“GLA” – Gross lettable area
“The Glen” – The Glen Shopping Centre
“The Grace” – The Grace Hotel and Offices
“Hyde Park” – Hyde Park Corner
“Hyprop” or “the company” – Hyprop Investments Limited
“King III Report” – King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009
“Large regional” – 50 000 – 100 000 m²
“MOI” – Memorandum of Incorporation, formerly known as Memorandum and 
Articles of Association
“Redefine” – Redefine Properties Limited
“Regional” – 30 000–50 000 m² 
“SENS” – Securities Exchange News Service
“Stoneridge” – Stoneridge Shopping Centre
“Super regional” – Larger than 100 000 m²
“Sycom” – Sycom Property Fund Limited
“the year” or “the year under review” – The year ended 31 December 2011
“Vunani” – Vunani Property Investment Fund Limited
“Vunani Properties” – Vunani Properties (Proprietary) Limited
“VPIF” – Vunani Property Investment Fund (Proprietary) Limited
“Willowbridge” – Willowbridge Lifestyle Centre
“Woodlands” – Woodlands Boulevard

DEFINITIONS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

for the year ended 31 December 2011
Group

2011
Group

2010

revenue (r000)  1 583 157  1 119 048 

net property income (r000)  1 071 476  747 116 

net operating income (r000)  1 027 621  711 072 

net debt at year-end (r000) *  5 330 520  1 422 253 

loan to value ratio (%)  26.2  12.6 

total combined units in issue at year-end  243 113 169  166 113 169 

Distribution per combined unit (cents)  383,0  357,0 

Increase in distribution per combined unit (%)  7,3  8,8 

net asset value per combined unit (r)  51,12  51,78 

net asset value per combined unit - excluding deferred taxation (r)  57,37  57,01 

Closing combined unit price (r)  53,25  57,00 

Vacancy factor (% of lettable area)       4,1         3,9 

Gross collections (rental income and recoveries) (r000)    1 350 937     984 910 

* Long-term loans less cash and cash equivalents

BuSINESS AT A GLANCE

Half year distribution growth  

10,4%
Total distribution  

383 cents up 7,3%
Market capitalisation  

R12,9 billion up 37%
Total assets  
R20,2 billion up 76%
NAV excluding deferred taxation

R57,37
Gearing 

26,2%
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VISION 
Hyprop aspires to be the leading property 
fund in South Africa, offering an opportunity 
to access income and capital growth through 
a specialist portfolio of premium, high quality 
shopping centres in a simple, sustainable 
investment vehicle. 

MISSION
-  To be a world-class shopping centre fund 

that adheres to global best practice
-  To be the partner of choice for tenants, 

shoppers, employees and investors alike 
-  To provide a trustworthy, transparent and 

sustainable investment
-  To promote social and environmental 

sustainability
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Acquisition of the R9 billion 
Attfund Retail portfolio

Shopping centre income up 
7,4% (like-for-like)

Sale of The Grace for  
R85 million

Positive trading conditions at 
large shopping centres

Retained high occupancy in 
shopping centres

 VPIF, in which Hyprop 
previously held a 49,8% stake, 
listed on the JSE

BuSINESS AT A GLANCE
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Combined unit price performance vs PLS Index
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AwARdS & 
ACCOLAdES

CANAL WALK
South African Council of Shopping Centres:

-  “Spectrum Award” for delivering the single  
most innovative shopping centre marketing campaign 

-  “Gold Footprint Award” for ‘Gets Social’

-  “National Retailer of the Year”  
awarded to Cape Union Mart Adventure Centre

Clearwater 

-  “Recognition for service excellence in the community” 
Roodepoort Chamber of Commerce

-  1st  for leaders and achievers  
City of Johannesburg

WOODLANDS 

-  Gold Award in PMR Africa 2011 

-  1st in the top three of the Shopping Centre Category 
Beeld “Jou Keuse/Your choice” 

HYDE PARK 

-  Hyde Park Re-launch - Silver Award
 Hosting of Food/Wine/Design Fair 2010 - Bronze Award
  Annual Tree Lighting Event - Bronze Award
  South African Council of Shopping Centre’s Footprint  

Marketing Awards
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Hyprop is Africa’s leading specialist shopping 
centre fund with R20 billion assets under 
management. The property portfolio includes 
12 prime shopping centres with over 750 000m² 
lettable area, classified as regional, large-
regional, super regional and value/lifestyle.

147 361m2  
Retail GLA 

401 
Stores 

10 089m2 
Office GLA    

8 008 
Parking bays  

21 215 605 
Footcount 2011 

80% 
Ownership 

Canal Walk is one of South Africa’s premier 
super-regional shopping centres situated in 
Century City, Cape Town.

ANCHOR TENANTS 
Checkers, Dischem, Edgars, Game,  
Pick n Pay, Woolworths.

GAVIN wOOd (45)
BCom CA(SA)
CEO Canal Walk 

FOOTPRINT

SuPER REGIONAL

 

western Cape
Gauteng

Canal walk
Clearwater Mall

The Glen

woodlands Boulevard
Atterbury Value Mart

Southcoast  
Mall

The Mall of Rosebank

Stoneridge

Somerset Value Mart
CapeGatewillowbridge Hyde Park

PORTFOLIO AT A GLANCE

BuSINESS AT A GLANCE
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LARGE REGIONAL

85 370m² 
Retail GLA 

240 
Stores 

n/a 
Office GLA    

5 125 
Parking bays  

10 069 361 
Footcount 2011 

100% 
Ownership 

Clearwater is the prime shopping 
destination in the western suburbs 
of Johannesburg, situated in a rapidly 
expanding residential corridor. 

ANCHOR TENANTS
Dischem, Edgars, Game,  
Pick n Pay, Woolworths. 

VICKY VLOK (39)
General Manager Clearwater 

The Glen is the shopping 
destination of choice for the 
affluent suburbs of the South 
of Johannesburg.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Dischem, Edgars, Game, 
Pick n Pay, Woolworths.

GLEN MABOE (35)
National Diploma (HR)
General Manager The Glen

74 624m2  
Retail GLA 

194 
Stores 

n/a
Office GLA    

3 699 
Parking bays  

14 067 635
Footcount 2011 

75,15% 
Ownership 

CapeGate is located at the Okavango 
interchange alongside the N1 in Cape 
Town’s northern suburb of Brackenfell. 

ANCHOR TENANTS
Builders Warehouse, Checkers, Edgars, 
Fruit & Veg City, Pick n Pay, Superspar, 
Virgin Active, Woolworths. 

NICHOLAS OLIPHANT (36)
BTech Business Administration National 
Diploma Retail Business Management 
General Manager CapeGate and 
Somerset Value Mart 

106 016m2  
Retail GLA 

215 
Stores 

2 527m2 
Office GLA    

4 252 
Parking bays  

9 621 933   
Footcount 2011 

100% 
Ownership 

Woodlands is ideally situated 
near the exclusive Woodhill Golf 
Estate and is known as the “fashion 
capital” of Pretoria.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Builders Warehouse, Dion 
Wired, Dischem, Edgars, Food 
Lovers Market, Game, Pick n Pay, 
Woolworths.

MALIzE JACOBS (36)
General Manager Woodlands 

69 867m2  
Retail GLA 

150 
Stores 

n/a
Office GLA    

4 200 
Parking bays  

7 500 220 
Footcount 2011 

100% 
Ownership 
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REGIONAL

27 657m² 
Retail GLA 

131 
Stores 

9 460m2 
Office GLA    

1 730
Parking bays  

4 821 231  
Footcount 2011 

100% 
Ownership 

Hailed as the grande dame of South African 
shopping, Hyde Park caters for the most 
discerning visitors with exclusive, high-end 
retail.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Clicks, Dion Wired,  
Pick n Pay, Woolworths.

JACqUI MCGEEHAN (44)
Diploma in Public Relations
General Manager Hyde Park

Situated off the N2 freeway on the picturesque 
and fast-developing South Coast of KZN, 
Southcoast Mall is a vibrant shopping centre 
designed to meet the retail, leisure and social 
needs of the broader Shelly Beach and Margate 
consumer markets. 

ANCHOR TENANTS
Builders Express, Checkers, Clicks, Game,  
House & Home.

TRACY KOHLER (43)
General Manager Southcoast Mall

29 361m2  
Retail GLA 

88 
Stores 

n/a
Office GLA    

95 
Offices 

1 523 
Parking bays  

3 919 648   
Footcount 2011 

50% 
Ownership 

Situated in the heart of cosmopolitan 
Rosebank, The Mall of Rosebank 
provides amenities to a wide range  
of shoppers from business executives 
and celebrities to international visitors.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Clicks, Foschini, Planet Fitness,  
Pick n Pay, Stuttafords, Truworths. 

ROY LICHT (66) 
BCom Registered Valuer
General Manager The Mall of Rosebank

35 950m2  
Retail GLA 

120 
Stores 

17 713m2 
Office GLA  

1 617
Parking bays  

9 410 829 
Footcount 2011 

100% 
Ownership 

*Post year-end Hyprop’s 50% undivided share in Southcoast Mall was sold to Redefine.

BuSINESS AT A GLANCE
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VALuE/LIFESTYLE

47 707m2 
Retail GLA 

90 
Stores 

n/a 
Office GLA   

1 715 
Parking bays  
 

100% 
Ownership 

Atterbury Value Mart offers its 
customers a convenient one-stop 
shop-and-go shopping experience in 
Pretoria.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Builders Warehouse, Hi Fi Corporation,  
Mr Price Home, Spar, Sportsmans 
Warehouse.

dANIE dE BEER (30)
General Manager Atterbury Value Mart

Located in the high growth Greenstone/
Longmeadow node, this trendsetting 
open-air lifestyle centre is designed to 
meet all shopping requirements in a 
family-oriented environment.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Food Lovers Market, Hi-Fi Corporation, 
Superspar, Toys R Us, Virgin Active.

dAPHNE SMITH (42)
General Manager Stoneridge

51 293m2 
Retail GLA 

76 
Stores 

n/a
Office GLA    

2 751 
Parking bays  

90% 
Ownership 

Located in the northern suburbs of 
Cape Town, Willowbridge provides 
a world class open-air shopping 
experience.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Barnyard Theatre, Builders Warehouse, 
Checkers, Dischem, Food Lovers Market, 
Pick n Pay, Woolworths.

SALOME THONNARd (39)
General Manager Willowbridge 

45 011m2  
Retail GLA 

99 
Stores 

n/a
Office GLA    

2 302 
Parking bays  

5 186 185 
Footcount 2011 

100% 
Ownership 

With 21 outlets Somerset Value Mart 
offers its customers a wide variety 
to meet all shopper needs in one 
convenient location.

ANCHOR TENANTS
Fruit & Veg City, Hi-Fi Corporation, 
Sportsmans Warehouse, Toys R Us.

NICHOLAS OLIPHANT (36)
BTech Business Administration National 
Diploma Retail Business Management 
General Manager CapeGate and 
Somerset Value Mart 

 

12 546m2  
Retail GLA 

21 
Stores 

n/a
Office GLA    

718 
Parking bays  

100% 
Ownership 
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Property description Location GLA
Cost

(Hyprop share)
Fair value

(Hyprop share)

Date of 
acquisition/

development

(m2) R000 R000

RETAIL

Shopping centres

80% undivided share in Canal Walk * Century City, CT  157 450  1 233 242  4 880 000 Oct 2003

Clearwater Strubens Valley, Jhb  85 370  2 415 104  2 500 000 Sep 2011

75,15% undivided share in The Glen Oakdene, Jhb  74 624  639 591  1 623 365 #

Woodlands Pretoriuspark, Pta  69 867  1 598 101  1 604 000 Sep 2011

CapeGate Brackenfell, CT  106 016  1 537 657  1 435 000 Sep 2011

Hyde Park * Hyde Park, Jhb  36 910  317 962  1 337 000 Pre-listing 1988

The Mall of Rosebank Rosebank, Jhb  35 950  377 628  923 000 Jan 2003

90% undivided share in Stoneridge Greenstone Park, Modderfontein  51 293  539 330  409 500 Sep 2008

50% undivided share in  
Southcoast Mall

Shelly Beach  29 361  117 166  122 000 Nov 2005

Willowbridge Bellville, CT  45 011  604 288  607 000 Sep 2011

Somerset Value Mart Somerset  12 546  160 290  154 000 Sep 2011

Atterbury Value Mart Pretoria  47 707  917 186  885 000 Sep 2011

Total - shopping centres  752 105  10 457 545  16 479 865 

OFFICES

The Mall Offices Rosebank, Jhb  17 694  Included with 
The Mall 

 268 000 Jan 2003

Cradock Heights Rosebank, Jhb  4 505  82 901  73 000 Jun 2009

Glenfield Office Park Pretoria  10 360  210 169  167 000 Sep 2011

Glenwood Office Park Pretoria  3 415  69 647  46 000 Sep 2011

Lakefield Office Park Pretoria  15 266  240 691  215 000 Sep 2011

Total - offices  51 240  603 408  769 000 

HOTELS

Southern Sun Hyde Park Hyde Park, Jhb  132 rooms  178 356  145 000 Sep 2009

Total - hotels  -    178 356  145 000 

Total - portfolio  803 345  11 239 309  17 393 865 

* Includes office component

# The 75,15% undivided share in The Glen was acquired on the following dates:
 - 33,33% in December 2001
 - 16,77% in September 2002
 - 25,05% in October 2004

INVESTMENT PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
at 31 December 2011

BuSINESS AT A GLANCE
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HYPROP AT A GLANCE 

Hyprop is South Africa’s premier listed shopping 
centre fund and the 4th largest listed property 
fund in South Africa, with R20 billion assets under 
management. 
A niche focus on high quality shopping centres 
positions Hyprop  in the real estate asset class 
proven most defensive over the past number 
of years. Further, the South African Listed 
Property Index (SAPY) outperformed all other 
major asset classes in 2011. 

2011 was a watershed year in Hyprop’s history, 
marked by the R9 billion acquisition of the 
Attfund Retail portfolio.  This created a 
portfolio of assets unrivalled in the South 
African listed property sector without 
compromising the company’s quality retail 
focus. The acquisition further bolstered the 
in-house property and asset management 
team. 

The property portfolio now includes  
12 prime shopping centres with over  
750 000m² GLA, spread over Gauteng and the 
Western Cape and classified as regional, large-
regional, super-regional and value centres. 
Hyprop’s head office is in Johannesburg.  The 
company has a total staff complement of 298. 

Hyprop’s  super-regional and large regional 
malls enjoy ongoing strong demand for 
space and the total vacancy rate across the 
portfolio amounts to only 4,1%. 

COMPETITIVE  
STRENGTHS: 
•	 		High	quality	shopping	centres	in	prime	

locations
•	 	Diverse	income	base
•	 	Critical	mass	and	economies	of	scale	to
 - negotiate better lease terms
 - secure better pricing from suppliers
•	 	Significant	depth	of	in-house	

management 
•	 	Broad	unitholder	spread
•	 	Proven	track	record	of	expanding	and	

improving existing centres 

STRATEGIC  
OBjECTIVES: 
•	 	Invest	in	large	shopping	centres	

dominant in their respective catchment 
area

•	 	Acquire	established	centres	for	
expansion and improvement

•	 	Create	strong	income	and	capital	growth
•	 	Form	strategic	alliances	with	developers	

and asset managers to acquire shopping 
centres

•	 	Investment	in	rest	of	Africa	through	
partnerships

INVESTMENT  
CASE: 
•	 	Largest	listed	shopping	centre	fund	

on JSE 
•	 	Provides	direct	access	to	ownership	

of high quality shopping centres 
•	 	Transparent	investment	vehicle
•	 	Income	distributed	on	a	semi-annual	

basis 
•	 	Shopping	centres	distinguished	by	

their quality, size and location
 -  diverse tenant base with strong 

national profile
 - flagship national stores
 - preferred shopping destinations 

ACHIEVING  
LONG-TERM  
GROWTH BY:
•	 	Improving	operational	efficiencies	in	

cost control and rent renewals and 
reducing vacancies

•	 	Expansion	programmes	at	existing	
centres

•	 	Continuously	refurbishing	and	
upgrading existing centres

•	 	Implementing	sustainable	
environmental best practice

•	 	Acquiring	shopping	centres	that	
complement the asset base

•	 	Providing	the	best	possible	shopping	
experience to shoppers 

OuR BuSINESS MODEL

Hyprop is a specialist fund focused on high quality shopping centres, which comprise 95% of the 
total direct property portfolio. The remaining 5% of the portfolio is made up of select office 
space and a hotel. The company is committed to delivering superior returns to its unitholders 
through proactive asset management and consistent capital and income growth. 
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

MICHAEL AITKEN, CHAIRMAN

Over the past decade much of the global economic growth was fuelled by debt, with the 
expectation that economic buoyancy would sustain and generate ongoing growth. However, 
the adverse events of 2008/9 burst the credit bubble. This gave way to increasingly conservative 
consumer behaviour with a growing desire to save and repay debt, and significant risk-aversity 
in the financier environment.

In the latter part of 2011 emphasis moved away from the global financial crisis to the European 
sovereign debt crisis. With anticipation of how this will be addressed in Europe and the urgency 
in doing so, significant downside risk still exists with the potential for contagion in the US 
economy and elsewhere.

South Africa has been largely shielded from the direct impact of any economic fallout, but the 
negative effect on our economy resulting from the loss of confidence amongst our trading 
partners has nevertheless been significant. GDP growth over the past calendar year rose by only 
a modest 3,1%, inflation settled at 6,1% and the repo rate at year-end was 5,5%. 

Listed property remained the best performing South African asset class for the second 
consecutive year in 2011, yielding a total return of 8,9%. The sector has also outperformed 
general equities, cash and bonds over five (14,9%) and 10 years (25,7%). The local property market 
was constrained by higher vacancies and increased arrears during 2011. Fortunately the effects 
have been priced in and prospects appear to be more promising, with most managers expecting 
some improvement off this cyclical low. Nonetheless underlying economic growth remains a 
prerequisite for real growth in the property sector.

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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In spite of the global economic backdrop, Hyprop 
enjoyed a productive year and management was 
able to capitalise on a number of initiatives and 
opportunities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Hyprop turned in a credible performance for 
the year as a whole, despite lower earnings 
growth during the first half due to the 
underperformance of the Sycom investment 
and the downturn in the hospitality sector. 
In the second six months The Grace Hotel in 
Rosebank was sold, Southern Sun Hyde Park 
showed improving occupancies and Sycom 
reported more positive prospects.

Net borrowings at year-end of R5,3 billion 
equate to a gearing ratio of 26,2%, of which 
interest rates were hedged in respect of 60%, 
at a weighted average rate of 8,2% and a 
weighted average maturity of 5 years.

The net asset value per combined unit (NAV) 
at year-end was R51,12, representing a 1,3% 
decrease on the re-stated NAV of R51,78 at  
31 December 2010. Excluding deferred taxation, 
NAV was R57,37.

Hyprop’s distribution of 383 cents per 
combined unit was an increase of 7,3% on the 
previous year.

2011 HIGHLIGHTS
In spite of the global economic backdrop, 
Hyprop enjoyed a productive year and 
management was able to capitalise on a 
number of initiatives and opportunities.

Most notable of these was Hyprop’s 
acquisition of 100% of the shares in Attfund 
Retail, effective 1 September 2011. The 
acquisition resulted in an important structural 
change in the company while maintaining a 
consistent level of quality in the asset base. 
Following the acquisition, Hyprop placed  
15 million consideration units in the market at 
a price of R53 per unit. The major acquisition 
and successful placement of units resulted in 

Hyprop’s assets under management rising 76% 
to R20,2 billion, and the company’s market 
capitalisation increasing to R12,9 billion at year-
end. Successful integration of the management 
team of Attfund Retail and Hyprop has also 
been completed. As previously announced, 
Hyprop simultaneously disposed of Attfund 
Retail’s 25% interest in Centurion Mall for 
R751,5 million to Fountainhead Property Trust, 
which was in terms of a pre-emptive right.

Subsequent to the Attfund Retail transaction 
certain of the vendors placed a further  
12 million of their consideration units in the 
market in a highly successful book-build, 
which has resulted in the Public Investment 
Corporation (PIC) increasing its unitholding in 
Hyprop. With a trillion Rand of public sector 
funds under management in its centenary year 
(2011), we are most pleased to welcome the 
PIC as a significant investor in Hyprop.

The Grace Hotel was sold during the year 
for R85 million. The sale was effective in 
November and transfer was registered in 
January 2012.

The planned redevelopment of The Mall of 
Rosebank will commence once final town-
planning approvals have been granted and 
letting requirements have been met. It is 
anticipated that construction will start later in 
2012. To date the pre-letting of this exciting 
project has been well received by all leading 
retailers. The opening of the Gautrain rail 
link to Rosebank, together with various 
development projects in the area including 
Standard Bank’s new 75 000m² office complex, 
will strengthen Rosebank as a premier retail, 
office and residential hub.

The decision was taken to relocate Hyprop’s 
head office from its historical home in Hyde 
Park Corner to Craddock Heights in Rosebank. 
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Roy McAlpine retired in June, having turned 70. 
Roy’s wealth of investment experience and his 
enthusiasm for Hyprop made him a valuable 
board member during his tenure.

Following the implementation of the Attfund 
Retail transaction, Louis Norval and Louis van 
der Watt were appointed as non-executive 
directors effective 1 September 2011. David 
Rice resigned from the board on 25 November 
2011, thereby reducing the number of Redefine 
appointed representatives to two.

Subsequent to year-end Gavin Tipper 
was appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of the 
Audit Committee, effective 9 March 2012. 
The Audit Committee now comprises three 
independent non-executive directors in line 
with King III guidelines.

APPRECIATION 
I extend my thanks to the management team, 
in particular Pieter Prinsloo and Laurence 
Cohen, for their commitment and valuable 
contribution. My appreciation also to my 
fellow directors for their insight and counsel 
during the year. 

Michael Aitken

Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT CONTINUEd

The building’s location within easy walking 
distance of the Gautrain station made this a 
sound strategic decision that will facilitate the 
easy movement of staff between Rosebank, 
OR Tambo and Pretoria.

ECONOMIC OuTLOOK
Internationally, financial market turbulence, 
fiscal consolidation efforts and banking sector 
deleveraging will continue to constrain growth 
in 2012. Europe in particular carries a high level 
of uncertainty with significant downside 
risks. On the upside improving economic 
conditions in the US are encouraging, with 
many indicators moving in the right direction. 
US consumers continue to deleverage and 
many US companies have strong balance 
sheets. The risks to the US remain the debt 
burden and the apparent lack of political will 
to resolve the impasse. 

Emerging markets will continue their 
growth trend in 2012, impacted by the 
European sovereign debt crisis, the weaker 
macroeconomic climate and deteriorating 
funding conditions. 

These global prospects underpin expectations 
for a challenging year locally. GDP growth 
is expected to be moderate at 2,5% to 3% 
in 2012, while the average inflation rate is 
expected to stay within the target range of 
6%. Consequently interest rates are likely to 
remain on hold until the end of the year. South 
African equities, as a proxy for the engine 
room of the economy, could bode well for 
growth based on the past record of sustained 
strength, if bottlenecks in implementing 
government’s infrastructure spend can be 
cleared. 

STRATEGY
Hyprop’s strategy is to build on its portfolio 
of dominant retail centres in core locations, 
maintaining levels of quality, and to ensure 
that we offer the very best retail experience 
to our target market. To this end the board 
will consider investing in shopping centres 
elsewhere, including the rest of Africa. 

There will be continued focus on the 
disposal of non-core assets, the expansion 
and redevelopment of existing centres and 
improvement of operational efficiencies. 
Attention will also be given to alternative 
forms of finance to further reduce the overall 
cost of debt.

Hyprop has the benefit of a motivated 
management team which, combined with our 
asset selection and asset management skills, 
will enable us to meet our primary objective 
of providing sustainable growth and capital 
appreciation to investors over the long term.

I and my fellow directors acknowledge 
our responsibility for economic, social and 
environmental sustainability on a par with 
financial returns and our approach to this is 
outlined throughout this integrated annual 
report. Policies and procedures are being 
continually enhanced to ensure each aspect 
of the company’s operations adheres strictly 
to sustainability practices. This process is 
further aided through formal risk assessments 
and audits.

DIRECTORATE 

Pieter Prinsloo was re-appointed to the board 
as CEO effective 1 May 2011.

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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CEO’S REPORT

PIETER PRINSLOO, CEO

INTRODuCTION
Hyprop achieved a landmark in its growth strategy with the acquisition of Attfund Retail in 
September 2011. The acquisition increased total assets by 76%, further enhancing the quality 
of the portfolio without diluting its retail focus. Market capitalisation increased 37% to  
R12,9 billion. 

The company is now distinguished as Africa’s largest listed shopping centre fund and ranking 
amongst the top JSE-listed property funds. Hyprop’s superior rating is underpinned by quality 
assets, a commendable track record for growth and an experienced and skilled management 
team. These factors ensure Hyprop continues to deliver sustainable income and capital growth. 

This is evidenced in 2011’s growth in distributions, which were up 7,3% to 383 cents per unit. 
Notably distribution growth for the second half of the year was up 10,4%, supported by the 
defensive quality of the shopping centre portfolio and boosted by a once-off 3,7 cents per 
unit benefit following the deferred payment for 15 million Attfund Retail consideration units. 

Hyprop’s premium quality shopping centres are preferred shopping destinations in their 
respective nodes and boast a diverse tenant base with a strong national retailer profile and a 
number of flagship national stores. 

Portfolio includes

12 shopping
centres 
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DISPOSALS
Effective 1 September 2011, Attfund Retail’s 25% interest in Centurion Mall was sold to 
Fountainhead Property Trust for R751,5 million. The Grace Hotel was sold effective November 
2011 for R85 million, and transfer was registered in January 2012.

DEVELOPMENTS
The planned redevelopment of The Mall of Rosebank has progressed further with the 
commencement of demolitions on the Rosebank Gardens site. Redevelopment of the centre 
itself will commence once town-planning approvals have been granted and letting requirements 
have been met. It is anticipated that construction work will start during 2012.

Further information will be communicated to unitholders in due course. 

Further extensions to Canal Walk, to meet tenant demand, and the refurbishment of 
Willowbridge South are also planned to begin in the next 12 months.

2011 PERFORMANCE
Hyprop delivered a pleasing performance 
with strong like-for-like growth at its centres. 
Hyprop’s vacancy levels remained low at 
4,1% at year-end. Vacancies in the office 
portfolio are primarily centred in the three 
Pretoria office parks. Hyprop’s shopping 
centres benefited from the positive trading 
conditions in the second half of the year, 
reflecting vacancies of only 3,6%. 

Further detail in respect of Hyprop’s financial 
performance is set out in the Financial 
Director’s Report. 

ATTFuND RETAIL ACquISITION
The Attfund Retail acquisition represented 
one of the largest property acquisitions in 
the South African market to date by a single 
buyer. It provided Hyprop with a distinct 
opportunity to acquire a large, well-managed, 
retail-focused portfolio that complements 
the company’s existing portfolio. It increased 
Hyprop’s portfolio to 12 shopping centres, 
almost doubling its size. Post the acquisition 
and the increase in market capitalisation, 
Hyprop is benefiting from improved liquidity 
and unitholder spread and a more diverse 
income base with less dependence on a 
single asset. The ‘new’ Hyprop has additional 
critical mass and economies of scale enabling 
it to negotiate better leasing terms with 
tenants, secure better pricing from suppliers 
and improve management structure at an 
executive level. Further, the company’s 
strong balance sheet continues to attract 
competitive funding and lower credit margins 
from banks. 

MANAGEMENT 

Subsequent to the Attfund Retail acquisition, 
operational management has been set up 
in three regions, Johannesburg, Cape Town 
and Pretoria. Each region now has a regional 
executive overseeing the operational activities 
at the shopping centres, which in turn have 
individual management teams headed by 
a general manager. The new management 
structure is working well. The executive team 
at head office has been strengthened by the 
appointment of legal and technical executives. 
This has proven successful and is benefiting 
the company tremendously.

BEE
Although Hyprop has always been committed to the Property Sector Transformation Charter 
scorecard, it does not yet have a formal rating in accordance with the DTI Generic Code of 
Good Practice and the Charter itself. We are currently in the process of preparing the way for 
a formal rating. Notwithstanding the absence to date of a formal rating, Hyprop was pleased 
to see the listing of Vunani in August 2011. This was the culmination of a five year BEE enterprise 
development initiative, put together in 2006 by Hyprop and Vunani. At year-end Hyprop held a 
11,8% stake in Vunani, which was sold subsequent to year-end. 

PORTFOLIO REVIEW

Investment property

Investment property was independently valued at year-end by Old Mutual Investment Group: 
Property Investments (Pty) Limited using the discounted cash flow method. 

Offices include the three Pretoria office buildings acquired with the Attfund Retail portfolio.

Development property relates to the Rosebank Gardens site, which will form part of The Mall 
of Rosebank redevelopment.

During the year Hyprop acquired Intaprop (Pty) Limited’s 30% share in the Rosebank Gardens 
site for R45 million. 

Listed property investments 

Hyprop had the following listed property investments at 31 December 2011:

Fund type Number  
of units

% held Value  
Rm

Sycom Property Fund Limited PUT 84 225 688 39,0% 1 980
Vunani PLS 14 198 976 11,8%* 99
Acucap Properties Limited PLS 2 610 430 1,5% 97
Total value 2 176
*sold subsequent to year-end

The investments in listed property securities do not form part of Hyprop’s core portfolio and 
disposal thereof will be considered in line with the company’s long term strategy.

CEO’S REPORT CONTINUEd

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE 
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
During the year retail spend increased 15% 
overall with spend per head up 9,5% to R219 
with the majority of centres posting healthy 
growth. The significant increase in retail 
spend is primarily due to the inclusion of the 
Attfund Retail properties and in particular 
the extensions at Woodlands and Clearwater. 
Footcount across the portfolio was up 4,5% 
compared to the previous year. 

VACANCIES 

Total vacancies increased marginally to  
4,1% compared to 3,9% in the previous 
year. The bulk of the vacancies are in the 
office component of the portfolio - 10%  
(2010: 4,7%) - while retail vacancies total 3,6% 
(2010: 3,8%). 

LETTING ACTIVITY
During the year 47 255m² was renewed, equating 
to 12% of the portfolio, at an annual growth 
rate of 2,3% and average escalation of 8,1% 
per annum. New leases accounted for  
25 519m², or 6%, of the portfolio at an average 
escalation of 8,6% per annum. 
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31 December 2011
(m²) (%)

31 December 2010
(m²) (%)

Canal Walk *  1 077 0,7  1 602  1,1 
Super regional 1 077 0,7  1 602  1,1 
Clearwater  2 669  3,1 
The Glen  198  0,3  464  0,6 
CapeGate  6 776  6,4 
Large regional  6 944  2,9  464  0,6 
Hyde Park *  2 133  5,8  833  2,3 
The Mall of Rosebank  2 975  8,3  907  2,5 
Southcoast Mall  1 836  6,3  1 777  6,1 
Regional  9 643  2,9  464  0,6 
Willowbridge  2 403  5,3
Stoneridge  8 807  17,2  10 026  20,0 
Somerset Value Mart  130  1,0 
Atterbury Value Mart  75  0,2 
Value centres  11 415  5,7  10 026  20,0 
Shopping centres  29 079  3,9  15 609  4,1 
Offices  4 610  9,0 
Hotels ^  269  3,6 
Total  33 689  4,1  15 878  3,9 

* Includes the office component    ^ Office component of The Grace

CEO’S REPORT CONTINUEd

Renewals

Business segment

GLA 
(m²)

Average 
contractual 

escalation 
(%)

Retail  35 944 8,1
Offices  1 1  31 1 8,4
Total  47 255 8,1

New lettings

Business segment

GLA 
(m²)

Average 
contractual 

escalation 
(%)

Retail  19 271 8,6
Offices  6 249 9,1
Total  25 519 8,6

Weighted average rental per m²*

Business segment

Rental  
(R/m²)

Canal Walk - retail  220,88 
Canal Walk - office  88,18 
Clearwater  167,00 
The Glen  177,25 

Woodlands  138,24 
CapeGate - Value  87,56 
CapeGate - Regional  109,50 
Hyde Park - retail  265,85 
Hyde Park - office  108,50 
The Mall of Rosebank  173,83 
Southcoast Mall  88,71 
Willowbridge - retail  100,98 
Willowbridge - office  93,93 
Stoneridge  73,09 
Somerset Value Mart  96,84 
Atterbury Value Mart  123,57 
The Mall offices  110,71 
Lakefield  102,88 
Glenfield  108,79 
Glenwood  133,16 

* Average rent consists of rent and operating costs.

Vacancies

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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LEASE RENEWAL PROFILE

Vacancy % 2012 % 2013 % 2014 % 2015 % 2016 % +
Retail
Income   9  14  19  23  31 
Area 3,9*  12   15  26  21  26 
Offices 
Income   21  14  17  11  28 
Area 9,0  15  14  20  30  22 
Total 
Income   10  14  19  22  31 
Area 4,1  12  15  25  22  26

* Includes office component of Canal walk and Hyde Park

Lease renewal profile per retail property
By income

2012 % 2013 % 2014 % 2015 % 2016 % +
Canal Walk  10  14  20  30  26 
Clearwater  8  8  44  18  22 
The Glen  10  28  28  8  26 
Woodlands  7  13  29  13  37 
CapeGate  11  20  12  38  18 
Hyde Park  23  22  28  13  13 
The Mall of Rosebank  32  23  6  24  14 
Southcoast Mall  11  29  7  38  15 
Willowbridge  17  26  9  22  26 
Stoneridge  4  37  8  13  38 
Somerset Value Mart  52  1   3  44 
Atterbury Value Mart  17  16  25  13  30 

By area
Vacancy % 2012 % 2013 % 2014 % 2015 % 2016 % +

Canal Walk  0,2  5  10  16  37  33 
Clearwater  3  3  4  46  13  31 
The Glen  0,3  8  28  24  7  32 
Woodlands     3  8  26  10  52 
CapeGate  6  8  13  6  41  25 
Hyde Park  2  20  20  40  12  6 
The Mall of Rosebank  15  27  19  5  22  12 
Southcoast Mall  7  8  18  8  44  15 
Willowbridge  5  10  22  7  20  36 
Stoneridge  18  7  25  5  11  33 
Somerset Value Mart  1  49  1       2  48 
Atterbury Value Mart  0,2  15  13  26  16  29 

Footcount up 

4,5%  
year-on-year 
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TENANT PROFILE 

Exposure to top 10 retailers

Rank Tenant
GLA 

 occupied m²
% of total  
GLA retail

% of total 
 income retail

1 Massmart Group 55 181 8 4
2 Edcon Group 46 170 6 5
3 Pick n Pay Ltd 41 190 6 2
4 Woolworths Ltd 35 350 5 2
5 Foschini Group 26 400 4 5
6 Mr Price Group 25 236 3 4
7 Shoprite Holdings Ltd 23 376 3 1
8 JD Group 18 853 3 2
9 Truworths Ltd 13 241 2 2
10 Pepkor 12 673 2 2

297 668 41 28

Tenant profile by grade
 

Tenants in the portfolio have been categorised by grade as follows:     
A Grade:  Large national tenants, large listed tenants and major franchisees (including all national retailers and tenants part of large listed groups) 
B Grade:  Smaller national tenants, medium sized franchisees, medium to large retailers   
C Grade:  Smaller line stores   
Due to the nature of the Hyprop portfolio, the above categorisations are largely subjective.   

  

 A Grade  
 B Grade    
 C Grade  

    

 

 A Grade  
 B Grade  
 C Grade  

   

61%

20%

19%

47
%27%

26%

* Excludes Southern Sun Hyde Park* Excludes Southern Sun Hyde Park

Tenant grading by income*Tenant grading by GLA*

CEO’S REPORT CONTINUEd

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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PROSPECTS 

The board will continue to dispose of non-
core assets and with the expansion and 
redevelopment of existing centres and 
improvement of operational efficiencies. 
Attention will also be given to alternative 
forms of finance to further reduce the overall 
cost of debt.

Hyprop continues to see strong demand for 
retail space at super and large regional malls 
and national tenants are looking to increase 
their footprint in flagship stores. In addition 
new international brands are showing interest 
in taking up space including Zara, GAP, Topshop 
and Cotton On, which provides Hyprop with 
a wider choice in terms of tenant mix. 

Hypop will continue to invest in high quality, 
sizable shopping centres. The board is 
cognisant of limitations in local investment 
opportunities and will consider investment in 
shopping centres elsewhere in Africa, through 
associations with developers and locally-
based partners. 

Taking into account the implementation of 
the Attfund Retail acquisition and short term 
dilution due to higher gearing, Hyprop expects 
to show distribution growth of between 4% 
and 6% for 2012. 

WORD OF THANKS
In closing I wish to extend my appreciation 
to the board of directors for their advice, 
guidance and input during the year. Thanks 
also to our unitholders for their continued 
support as well as all our advisors and suppliers 
for their diligent service. My thanks to the 
Hyprop executive team and staff for their 
hard work and dedication and in particular 
I wish to welcome all the new employees 
following the Attfund Retail acquisition. We 
further extend our thanks to our tenants 
for their continued perseverance in a tough 
economic environment. 

Pieter Prinsloo

CEO

 

New 
international 
brands 
showing 
interest
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FINANCIAL dIRECTOR’S REPORT 

SEGMENTAL OVERVIEW

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

Business segment
Revenue 

R’000 

Distributable 
earnings 

R’000 
Revenue 

R’000 

Distributable 
earnings 

R’000
Canal Walk  423 566  301 315  387 809  276 462 

Super regional  423 566  301 315  387 809  276 462 
Clearwater Mall*  96 654  61 562 
the Glen  178 087  112 927  163 328  103 096 
Woodlands*  59 054  40 619 
CapeGate*  57 266  36 911 

Large regional  391 061  252 019  163 328  103 096 
Hyde park  152 944  93 963  140 613  88 080 
the Mall of rosebank  105 823  70 222  107 414  64 995 
Southcoast Mall  20 968  11 565  21 600  13 372 

Regional  279 735  175 750  269 627  166 447 
Willowbridge *  25 932  15 253 
Stoneridge  58 339  25 795  49 523  27 552 
Somerset Value Mart*  6 903  4 597 
Atterbury Value Mart*  31 062  24 163 

Value centres  122 236  69 808  49 523  27 552 
Shopping centres  1 216 598  798 892  870 287  573 557 
Offices #  70 569  45 320  49 857  28 015 
Hotels  47 326 (5 866)  64 766  11 406 

Investment property  1 334 493  838 346  984 910  612 978 
listed property securities  132 006  132 006  119 990  119 990 
Fund mangement expenses  (34 209)  (35 061)
net interest paid  (208 325)  (121 554)
Share of income from associate - VpIF  9 949  15 518 
Word4Word Marketing*  16 444  909 
Straight-line rental income accrual  100 214  14 148 
non-core income  4 555  905 
Total revenue  1 583 157  743 231  1 119 048  592 776 

* Acquired from 1 September 2011 # Includes offices acquired from Attfund Retail from 1 September 2011 

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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The Attfund Retail portfolio has been 
included from 1 September 2011, being the 
effective date of the acquisition.

Like-for-like growth from Hyprop’s shopping 
centres in revenue and distributable earnings 
was 8,0% and 7,4%, respectively. Canal Walk 
and The Glen performed particularly well 
during the year, with distributable earnings 
growth of 9% and 10%, respectively. Property 
expenses increased by 9%.

The investment in associate is Hyprop’s 20% 
interest in Garden Route Mall (2010: VPIF).

Non-core income includes Hyprop’s 
investment in Word4Word Marketing (Pty) 
Limited and fee income from VPIF.

Income from associate relates to distributions 
received from VPIF. This income reduced due 
to Hyprop selling 50% of its interest in VPIF 
concurrently with VPIF’s listing on the JSE.

Notwithstanding the larger portfolio, total 
arrears at 31 December 2011 were R41 million, 
the same as the previous year-end.

Total provision for doubtful debts at year-end 
amounted to R17,4 million (2010: R20,8 million).

Total distribution  
383 cents per  
combined unit 

up 7,3%  
year-on-year 

Net income 
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NET ASSET VALuE

Valuations

Property Portfolio

Value attributable to Hyprop
Value per  

rentable area

Business segment
Rentable area 

(m2) 

31 December 
2011 

R’000 

31 December 
2010 

R’000 
31 December 2011 

(R/m2)
Canal Walk 157 450 4 880 000 4 556 000  38 742 

Super regional 157 450 4 880 000 4 556 000  38 742 
Clearwater * 85 370 2 500 000  29 284 
the Glen 74 624 1 623 365 1 535 433  28 945 
Woodlands * 69 867 1 604 000  22 958 
CapeGate * 106 016 1 435 000  13 536 

Large regional 335 877 7 162 365 1 535 433  22 922 
Hyde park 36 910 1 337 000 1 277 000  36 223 
the Mall of rosebank 35 950 923 000 918 000  25 675 
Southcoast Mall 29 361 122 000 129 500  8 310 

Regional 102 221 2 382 000 2 324 500  24 496 
Willowbridge * 45 011 607 000  13 486 
Stoneridge 51 293 409 500 407 700  8 871 
Somerset Value Mart * 12 546 154 000  12 275 
Atterbury Value Mart * 47 707 885 000  18 551 

Value centres 156 557 2 055 500 407 700  13 420 
Shopping centres 752 105 16 479 865 8 823 633  24 470 
Offices # 51 240 769 000 331 000  15 008 
Hotel 145 000 271 000
Investment property 803 345 17 393 865 9 425 633  24 047 
Development property 116 000 73 674
listed property securities 2 176 173 1 529 268
Investment in VpIF 210 055

803 345 19 686 038 11 238 630  24 047 

* Acquired from 1 September 2011 # Includes offices acquired from Attfund Retail from 1 September 2011 

MANAGEMENT REVIEW

FINANCIAL dIRECTOR’S REPORT CONTINUEd



Hyprop AnnuAl report 2011 25

The NAV at year-end was R51,12, representing a 
1,3% decrease on the re-stated NAV of R51,78 
at 31 December 2010.

Excluding deferred taxation, the NAV at year-
end was R57,37. 

DEBT MANAGEMENT AND 
GEARING 
Net borrowings at 31 December 2011 of  
R5,3 billion equate to a gearing ratio of  
26,2%, up from 12,6% in 2010. The company is 
limited by its MOI to a maximum gearing level 
of 55%. 

The board has approved a strategy whereby 
gearing levels can be increased to levels 
between 30% and 40%, mainly through 
corporate activity including acquisitions and 
developments. 

At year-end interest rates were fixed in respect 
of 60% of borrowings, at a weighted average 
rate of 8,2% (2010: 9,4%) and a weighted 
average maturity of 5 years. 

Subsequent to year-end, interest on a further 
R450 million of debt was fixed for four years 
at a weighted average interest rate of 8,2%, 
taking the hedged book to 70% of borrowings 
at a weighted average interest rate of 8,3%. 
The weighted average maturity remains  
5 years.

The company has a preferred fixed interest 
target of 80% of total debt. The hedged 
book is currently below this level to provide a 
degree of flexibility for the allocation of funds 
realised from the sale of non-core assets.

The maturity profile of debt facilities and 
fixed interest rate agreements/interest rate 
swaps is reflected in the graph below:

The company is in the process of procuring 
a credit rating from Moodys, with a view to 
diversifying the debt book in the second half 
of 2012 to include a combination of commercial 
paper and corporate bond finance.

CASH FLOW
The majority of Hyprop’s income comprises 
contractual rental income. After the payment 
of property expenses, fund management 
expenses and interest on debt, 100% of net 
income is paid out to unitholders on a semi-
annual basis.

Cash collected between distribution 
payments is paid into floating debt facilities, as 
opposed to leaving the cash on call, to more 
effectively utilise the cash and benefit from 
the interest saving.

Acquisitions, new developments and capital 
expenditure are funded by debt or by the 
issuing of new Hyprop combined units. Cash 
realised from the sale of assets is applied to 
reduce debt.

APPRECIATION 
I would like to thank my financial team for 
their hard work and commitment during the 
year. I would also like to welcome the new 
financial management staff from Attfund 
Retail, following the acquisition. 

Laurence Cohen

Financial Director 
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BOARd OF dIRECTORS

ExECuTIVE DIRECTORS

1. Pieter (PG) Prinsloo (46)
 BSc (qS)
 CEO
  Previously held the position of CEO 

of Hyprop for seven years from 2002 
to 2009. He was re-appointed to the 
position of CEO of Hyprop with effect 
from 1 May 2011.

  Pieter is a quantity surveyor who 
has been engaged in every aspect of 
property development, management 
and finance for over 20 years having 
worked at Sanlam Properties, Standard 
Bank Properties and ABSA Commercial 
Property Finance.  

2. Laurence (LR) Cohen (39)
 BCom CA(SA)
 Financial director
  Laurence joined Hyprop in 2003 as 

financial director of Hyprop Manco, 
having spent three years working in 
Grant Thornton’s corporate finance 
division. He was appointed to the 
board in 2006 as group Financial 
Director and has been involved 
extensively in various aspects of the 
business since joining the company. He 
also served as a non-executive director 
on Vunani Property Investment Fund 
(Pty) Limited until its listing on the JSE 
in August 2011. 

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECuTIVE DIRECTORS
 
3. Michael (MS) Aitken (55)
 BA LLB
 Chairman
  Michael has over 20 years’ experience in 

property-related activity with specific 
expertise in asset management and 
investment relating to both directly held 
and listed property vehicles. He is currently 
managing director of Corovest Property 
Group Limited and a non-executive director 
of Strategic Real Estate Managers, the asset 
managers for Emira Property Fund Limited.

4. Ethan (EG) Dube (52)
 MSc (Statistics) Executive MBA (Sweden)
  Ethan has gained significant corporate finance 

and asset management experience over 
the years. He worked for Southern Asset 
Managers for three years as a Senior Analyst 
and for Standard Chartered and Merchant 
Bank for two years in the Corporate Finance 
division.

  In 1996 Ethan founded Infinity Asset 
Management with three other partners and 
in 1998 founded Vunani Limited, a financial 
services company, where he is currently CEO.

1

2

3

4

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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5. Lindie (L) Engelbrecht (37)
 CA(SA)
  Until recently Lindie was a director at 

Ernst & Young in Climate Change & 
Sustainability Services. She is a member 
of the King Committee on Corporate 
Governance and was previously a 
director at KPMG and Chief Executive 
of the Institute of Directors. Lindie has 
advised, consulted and presented to 
boards and audit committees in the 
public and private sectors and to tertiary 
institutions on corporate, legal and 
governance matters.

6.  Gavin (GR) Tipper (46)
  BCom BAcc CA(SA) MBA
  Gavin has been involved in the  

financial services industry for more than  
21 years. He was formerly a director of 
Coronation Investments and Trading 
Limited and a technical partner at KPMG, 
South Africa. He sits on the Hyprop 
Audit Committee.

7.  Les (LI) Weil (67)
  BCom CA(SA) MBA 
  Les has more than 40 years’ experience 

in real estate, prior to which he spent 
several years in merchant banking and 
commerce. He was chairman of JHI 
Properties for 28 years until September 
2010. He is also a member of the King 
Committee on Corporate Governance. 

NON-ExECuTIVE DIRECTORS

8.  Kevin (KM) Ellerine (44)
   National diploma in Company 

Administration
  Kevin joined the family business, Ellerine 

Holdings, in January 1991 as merchandise 
manager. In 1993 he became property 
manager of Ellerine Bros. (Proprietary) 
Limited, and was appointed managing 
director of the property division in 2000, 
a position he still holds today. He sits on 
the boards of all the property and private 
equity companies in which Ellerine Bros.  
is invested.

9.  Mike (Mj) Lewin (57)
  BCom BAgric Management
  Mike Lewin has over 20 years’ experience 

in the property industry and heads 
the retail division of Redefine. He was 
previously with Edgars Consolidated  
Stores Limited for 18 years, where he 
served as their property development 
executive.

10.  Louis (L) Norval (56)
  BSc (qS)
  Louis was Executive Chairman and Chief 

Executive of Attfund Limited as well as 
Attfund Retail Limited, on acquisition 
of Attfund Retail by Hyprop. He is also 
managing director of the Parkdev Group 
of Companies. Louis was a founding 
member and senior partner of Norval 
Wentzel Steinberg Quantity Surveyors 
and an executive director of Baker Street 
Associates Holdings (Pty) Limited. Louis 
also represented South Africa in golf  
in 1979.

11.  Stewart (S) Shaw-Taylor (59)
  CA(SA) Harvard PMd
  Stewart has more than 30 years’ 

experience in investment banking and 
real estate. He is currently the Global 
Head of the Standard Bank Property 
Group as well as the Head of Group 
Real Estate Services. He is responsible 
for the real estate debt, equity and asset 
management related activities undertaken 
by the Standard Bank Group.

12.  Louis (LLS) van der Watt (44)
  CA(SA) CIMA
  Louis co-founded Atterbury Property, 

one of the biggest property developers 
in South Africa, in 1994 after completing 
his articles at Deloitte Consulting (the 
Management Consulting arm of Deloitte 
& Touche).

13.  Marc (M) Wainer (63) 
  Marc has been involved in all aspects of 

the real estate industry for over 35 years. 
He is CEO of Redefine and serves on the 
boards of Redefine International (plc) and 
The Cromwell Group (Aus).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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1. Wayne Abegglen (45)
 National Higher diploma (HR)
 Regional Executive: Cape Town
  Wayne has over 16 years’ experience in 

property management and joined Canal 
Walk in 2003. Formerly CEO of Canal 
Walk he was appointed as Regional 
Executive: Cape Town in 2011. He has been 
involved in the successful repositioning 
of Canal Walk as a foremost shopping 
destination, while also enhancing the 
tenant mix of the centre. Wayne holds an 
Advanced Certificate in Shopping Centre 
Management.

4.  Steven Riley (42)
  BArch diploma Project Management 
  development Executive 
  Steven has over 16 years in the property 

industry including retail property 
development, property management and 
project architecture. While with Old Mutual 
Properties, he was the assistant centre 
manager at Gateway and formed part of 
the redevelopment team for Menlyn Park. 
He joined Hyprop in January 2010.

7.  Desirée Nafte (45)
  BA LLB University of the witwatersrand
  National Legal Executive
  After practising as an attorney in private 

practice, Desirée entered into the 
commercial property industry in 2001 as a 
legal advisor and has specialised in property 
law and landlord and tenant law. She is 
currently the vice-chair of the SAPOA Legal 
Committee. Desirée also holds a Diploma in 
Advanced Banking Law. She joined Hyprop 
in October 2011. 

2. Nicole Greenstone (43)
  BA (Hons) H dip Ed Nat dip Real 

Estate (Valuations)
  Regional Executive: Johannesburg
  Nicole has 19 years’ experience in 

property management. She joined 
Hyprop in October 2003 as asset 
manager and was appointed Regional 
Executive: Johannesburg in 2011.

5. Mark de Klerk (50)
  B Eng (Mechanical) GCC (Mechanical)
  National Technical Manager
  Mark has 13 years’ experience in the 

management of the facilities and 
technical aspects of shopping centres. 
He previously worked for Growthpoint 
Properties managing Brooklyn Mall, 
Waterfall Mall, Lakeside Mall and 
Woodmead Retail Park.  
He joined Hyprop in November 2012.

8. Karin Eichhorn (35)
 BCom Fin Management
  Karin joined Hyprop in 2000 and 

assumed the role of National Human 
Resources Executive in 2010, following 
11 years in finance as Group Financial 
Manager. She has a wide range of 
experience at Hyprop which has 
assisted her in the development of 
a sophisticated human resources 
function for the company.

3. Yvette van der Merwe (38)
  BA Communication 
  Regional Executive: Pretoria
  Yvette has been involved with various 

aspects of the property market moving 
from marketing of shopping centres into 
asset management of commercial and retail 
properties. She was the National Portfolio 
Executive for Attfund Retail and became the 
Regional Executive: Pretoria for Hyprop on 
conclusion of the Attfund Retail acquisition 
in September 2011.

6. Brenda Frylink (48)
  Brenda has over 20 years’ experience n 

property management. She previously 
worked for Colliers RMS and opened Sammy 
Marks Square and Lakeside Mall. In 2000 
she joined Peermont Global before joining 
Attfund in 2004 where she opened and 
managed Woodlands Boulevard. In 2008 she 
was appointed National Facilities executive 
for the Attfund portfolio. Brenda holds a 
Certificate in Shopping Centre Management. 

9.  Riegardt Marais (40)
 National diploma Public Relations
 Marketing Executive
  Riegardt has over 15 years’ shopping centre 

marketing experience including with Primedia 
Lifestyle in South Africa as well as shopping 
centres in the Middle East. His portfolio in  
South Africa has included Fourways Mall,  
Hatfield Square, Village Walk, Randburg 
Square and Jabulani Mall as well as Airports 
Company South Africa (Johannesburg, 
Cape Town and Durban airports). He joined 
Hyprop in March 2010.

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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MANAGEMENT ORGANISATIONAL CHART

johannesburg 
Region 
(Located in Rosebank)

Regional Executive 
Nicole Greenstone

Leasing Executive 
Lynda Burger

Pretoria  
Region 
(Located in woodlands)

Regional Executive 
Yvette van der Merwe

Leasing Executive 
Lynette Joubert

Cape Town  
Region 
(Located at Canal walk)

Regional Executive 
wayne Abbeglen

Leasing Executive 
zubair Rasool

CEO  
Pieter Prinsloo

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Internal Audit & Risk 
Management

*Post year-end Hyprop’s 50% undivided share in Southcoast Mall was sold to Redefine.

Shopping centres
Canal walk
CapeGate 
willowbridge
Somerset Value Mart

Shopping centres / offices

woodlands
Atterbury Value Mart
Clearwater
Lakefield
Glenfield
Glenwood

Shopping centres / 
offices and hotel
Hyde Park
The Glen
The Mall of Rosebank
Stoneridge
Southcoast Mall*
The Mall Offices
Cradock Heights
Southern Sun Hyde Park

Head Office 
(Located in Rosebank)

Financial - FD  
Laurence Cohen

- 2 x Financial Managers

- 3 x Accountants

Developments 
Steven Riley

Technical 
Mark de Klerk

Facilities 
Brenda Frylink

Legal 
desiree Nafte

HR and IT Systems 
Karin Eichhorn

Marketing 
Riegardt Marais

Word4Word Marketing 
(Pty) Ltd
Kristi Maree
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The board strives to ensure that the 
company conducts its business with the 
utmost integrity towards all its stakeholders, 
including its unitholders, potential investors, 
property industry associations, employees, 
tenants, shoppers, suppliers, community 
and civil society.  To this end and in line 
with the Companies Act, 2008, a Social and 
Ethics Committee has been formed which is 
accountable to the board.  

The Social and Ethics Committee monitors 
Hyprop’s compliance with relevant social, 
ethical and legal requirements and best 
practice codes. The committee will further 
report to unitholders on matters that fall within 
the scope of its mandate. The establishment 
of the committee is intended to bring clearer 
focus to Hyprop’s responsibility to the various 
stakeholders  on social transformation in 
the workplace, and on the protection of 
the safety, health and dignity of employees, 
customers and stakeholders.

Hyprop is in the process of implementing  a 
safe whistle blowing system for employees 
to report any unethical behaviour by fellow 
employees, directors or unitholders of the 
company. Whistle blowing, fraud reports 
and other concerns are managed in a non-
discriminatory and confidential manner. The 
company provides secure communication 
channels for employees to seek advice or 
voice their concerns. 

The company further has a documented 
Code of Ethics (see below) for employees, 
designed to provide guidance as to ethical 
conduct in all areas, appropriate policies in 
respect of the safeguarding of assets and 
information, and the appropriate corrective 
measures to enforce these policies.

THE CODE OF CONDuCT & 
ETHICS (“THE CODE”)
The Code’s primary purpose is to promote 
the good conduct of all employees and 
other representatives of Hyprop that will 
allow the company “to create the most 
desirable shopping destinations in South 
Africa which constantly deliver an exceptional 
and memorable shopping experience”. This is 
intended to be achieved through:

•	 	service	excellence;
•	 		striving	for	international	best	practice;
•	 	effective	delegation;
•	 	promoting	leadership;	and
•	 	utilising	 best	 technology	 and	 building	

principles.

The Code sets out the company’s commitment 
to the highest level of ethical conduct, fair 
dealing and integrity in business practice as 
an operational imperative. It encapsulates 
Hyprop’s commitment to best-practice 
corporate governance, including timeous, 
valuable and transparent communication with 
all stakeholders. In addition, the Code contains 
guidelines on confidentiality, fair and ethical 
market competition and sound environmental 
practices, addressing all aspects of responsible 
corporate governance.

In terms of the Code directors are required 
to declare to the Chairman and company 
secretary their unitholdings, additional 
directorships and any potential conflicts of 
interest. In conjunction with the Financial 
Director and sponsor, they ensure that any 
required disclosure in respect of trades in 
Hyprop combined units is published on 
SENS. Directors and senior employees with 
access to the company’s financial results and 
other price-sensitive information are barred 
from dealing in Hyprop’s combined units for 
specified time periods preceding relevant 
announcements.  A notification is sent to all 
directors and affected staff alerting them that 
the company is entering a closed period.

In summary Hyprop endeavours to:

•	 		promote	 a	 policy	 of	 zero-tolerance	
for any form of corruption, unethical 
business practices and/or behaviour that 
contravenes any law, regulation or the 
mores	of	society;

•	 	avoid	 any	 conflicts	 of	 interest	 that	 may	
unduly influence or compromise any 
employee’s ability to act in the company’s 
best	interest;

•	 	ensure	 independence	 from	 any	 business	
organisation or third parties with 
contractual	relationships	with	Hyprop;

•	 	refuse	 gifts,	 hospitality	 or	 other	 favours	
from third parties in return for any kind of 
favour,	service	or	treatment;

•	 	conduct	its	business	with	integrity,	mutual	
respect and professionalism to enhance 
the	company’s	reputation;

•	 	steer	 away	 from	 direct	 and	 indirect	
discriminatory	practices;

•	 	implement	legitimate	dealings	in	Hyprop’s	
combined units in compliance with the 
Insider Trading Act, Securities  Services Act 
and	JSE	Rules	and	Regulations;

•	 	implement	 best-practice	 corporate	
governance;

•	 	protect	confidentiality	of	information;
•	 	uphold	 fair	 and	 ethical	 competition	 in	

the marketplace in accordance with the 
relevant	competition	laws;

•	 	support	 the	 process	 of	 sustainable	 and	
real	transformation;

•	 	safeguard	 the	 company’s	 assets	 for	
legitimate	purposes	only;

•	 	implement	an	effective	system	of	controls	
in order to meet the company’s strategic 
objectives;	and

•	 	subscribe	 to	 sound	 health,	 safety	 and	
environmental practices.

 

CORPORATE CITIzENSHIP

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRuCTuRE

Of the 75 corporate governance principles 
considered, Hyprop compliance was rated at 
68% - representing substantial compliance. 

APPROACH TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE

Hyprop subscribes to the principles of collaboration, transparency, integrity and accountability. Fundamental 
to the translation of these into corporate responsibilities and the achievement of financial objectives is 
an effective system of corporate governance. This is entrenched by the company’s procedures governing 
corporate conduct, with particular emphasis on the qualitative aspects. Hyprop’s board of directors  
is committed to complying with the recommendations as set out in the King III Report, effective  
1 March 2010, and legislation including the Companies Act. 

During the year Hyprop underwent a King III gap analysis, which was conducted by Laurence Cohen 
(Financial Director) and Neville Toerien (company secretary) with moderation by an independent 
consultant. The results of the assessment are outlined in the table on the facing page. Of the 75 principles 
considered, compliance was rated at 68% - representing substantial compliance. 

Risk Committee Remuneration  
Committee

Nomination  
Committee

HYPROP BOARD

Social and Ethics 
Committee

Audit Committee Investment  
Committee

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY



Hyprop AnnuAl report 2011 33

The table below represents the areas of non or partial compliance with King III, which the company recognises as essential to address:

Areas of non-compliance/partial compliance identified Action plan
The Audit Committee should oversee integrated reporting Hyprop has prepared an annual integrated report for 2011, which has been 

reviewed by the Audit Committee. 
The board should ensure that there are processes in place enabling complete, 
timely, relevant, accurate and accessible risk disclosure to stakeholders

Hyprop has enhanced reporting in the 2011 integrated annual report.

Composition of the board Hyprop appointed Gavin Tipper to the board and Audit Committee on  
8 March 2012, which improves the balance of independent non-executives 
on the board. His appointment ensures that the Audit Committee is now 
comprised exclusively of independent non-executive directors. 

Evaluation of the board annually This has been performed post year-end and will be done annually going 
forward.

The induction and ongoing training and development of directors should be 
conducted through formal processes

An informal induction programme exists, tailored to the background and 
needs of the director in question. Hyprop is satisfied that this meets 
requirements despite its informal nature.

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be independently assured Sustainability reporting will be co-ordinated at head office with detailed 
operational input from the shopping centre management. Independent review 
and assurance of sustainability reporting and disclosure will be considered by 
the Social and Ethics Committee as part of its mandate for the coming year.

Applying a combined assurance model This will be addressed in the coming months by executive management, 
assisted by the company secretary, the National Legal Executive and the 
outsourced internal audit function. 

Information technology (IT) governance The board understands its role in monitoring IT governance and will ensure 
that it forms an integral part of the company's risk management. 
The outsourced internal audit function will be tasked with ensuring that 
Hyprop's IT systems and framework comply with the King III Report.

A risk based internal audit approach KPMG has been appointed, after due consideration, to provide an outsourced 
internal audit function. Their audit approach will be risk based.

Internal audit should provide a written assessment of the effectiveness of the 
company’s systems of internal controls and risk management

To be communicated with management and reported on at sub committee 
level by the outsourced internal audit function.

The board should ensure continual risk monitoring by management A plan is being developed to ensure that ongoing assessments are performed 
on a continual basis. The adoption of a risk based internal audit approach will 
contribute to effective risk management.

The board should ensure that frameworks and methodologies are 
implemented to increase the probability of anticipating unpredictable risks

This will be considered in the context of the risk-based internal audit 
approach. 

48%

16%

16%
20%

King III compliance

 Fully compliant
 Substantially compliant 
 partially compliant
 non compliant
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Where specific principles have not been 
applied, explanations for these are contained 
within this integrated annual report. 

The board aims to integrate responsible 
corporate citizenship into the company’s 
growth strategy and into daily operations 
in order to ensure sustainability. It further 
endeavours to ensure that sustainability forms 
part of all strategic decisions, audits and 
assessments. 

THE BOARD
Hyprop’s board is the focal point for good 
corporate citizenship and sets the values 
to which the company adheres. The board 
exercises sound judgement and leadership 
with integrity. Further the board of directors 
recognises its responsibility of safeguarding 
the sustainability of the business. Unitholders 
and employees are able to provide 
recommendations or direction to the board 
at the annual general meeting, one-on-
one meetings, investor presentations and 
through semi-annual investor polls. Issues 
raised are discussed as they arise and then in 
detail at the annual strategy session. During 
the year a number of concerns were raised 
regarding diversity in Hyprop’s portfolio. 
Some unitholders advocate that Hyprop 
hone its focus as a specialist retail fund and 
completely divest from non-core assets and 
passive investments. Consideration of these 
stakeholder concerns is evident in the disposal 

to date of some of the non-core assets and 
the detailed explanation of the rationale for 
not disposing of passive investments such as 
Sycom. 

During the year Hyprop’s board was chaired by 
independent non-executive director Michael 
Aitken and currently comprises 13 directors, 
two of whom are executive. In line with the 
King III Report the majority are therefore 
non-executive directors (11), five of whom are 
classified as independent. Hyprop complies 
with the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
Companies Act and King III recommendations 
in respect of the categorisation of directors 
as executive, independent and non-executive 
directors and related corporate governance 
requirements.

Hyprop is cognisant of King III and legislative 
requirements that the board and/or 
board committees comprise a majority of 
independent non-executive directors and 
therefore appointed Gavin Tipper to the 
board post year-end as an independent non-
executive director. The board is satisfied with 
the independence of the independent non-
executives. 

Any new appointees to the board will be 
required to possess the necessary skills to 
contribute meaningfully to board deliberations 
as well as demonstrate their independence. 

The board currently comprises the following 
directors: 

13 directors,  
11 non-executives
of which 5 are 
independent 

Executive directors: Pieter Prinsloo (CEO), Laurence Cohen (FD) 

Non-executive directors: Kevin Ellerine, Mike Lewin, Louis Norval, Stewart 
Shaw-Taylor, Louis van der Watt and Marc Wainer

Independent non-executive 
directors: 

Michael Aitken (Chairman), Ethan Dube, Lindie 
Engelbrecht, Gavin Tipper and Les Weil

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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The name of and a brief curriculum vitae for 
each current director are set out on pages 
26 and 27 of this report. The years of service 
of each director is outlined in the board 
attendance table on page 36. 

Changes to the directorate during the year 
and subsequent to year-end included: 

Appointments 

•	 	Lindie	 Engelbrecht	 as	 independent	 non-
executive director with effect 20 January 
2011;

•	 	Pieter	Prinsloo	as	CEO	with	effect	 1	May	
2011;

•	 	Louis	 Norval	 and	 Louis	 van	 der	 Watt	
as non-executive directors with effect  
1	September	2011;	and

•	 	Gavin	 Tipper	 as	 a	 independent	 non-
executive director with effect from  
8 March 2012 

Resignations 

•	 	Mike	 Rodel	 resigned	 as	 CEO	with	 effect	 
3	March	2011;

•	 	Roy	 McAlpine	 retired	 as	 independent	
non-executive director with effect  
30	June	2011	on	turning	70;	and

•	 	David	 Rice	 resigned	 with	 effect	 from	 
25 November 2011. Due to the dilution of 
Redefine’s stake in Hyprop following the 
Attfund Retail acquisition, further board 
representation was no longer considered 
necessary. 

The responsibilities of CEO and Financial 
Director are strictly separated from those  
of the non-executive directors to ensure 
that no director can exercise unrestricted 
powers of decision-making. The Chairman 
provides leadership and guidance to the 
board and encourages proper deliberation 
on all matters requiring directors’ attention 
while obtaining input from other directors. 
The CEO and Financial Director are 
responsible for implementing strategy and 
operational decisions in respect of the  
day-to-day operations. The independent non-
executive directors contribute a wide range 
of industry skills, knowledge and experience 
to the board’s decision-making process. 
These directors are not involved in the daily 
operations of the company. 

Access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary and to company records, 
information, documents and property is 
unrestricted. Non-executive directors also 

have unfettered access to the external and 
internal auditors and to management at any 
time. All directors are entitled, at Hyprop’s 
expense, to seek independent professional 
advice on any matters concerning the affairs 
of the company.

The company’s MOI provides for one-third 
of the non-executive directors to retire by 
rotation after a three-year term of office. 
Accordingly Michael Aitken, Ethan Dube 
and Stewart Shaw-Taylor will retire at the 
upcoming annual general meeting. Being 
eligible, they will offer themselves for re-
election in accordance with the company’s 
MOI. 

The appointment of new directors is 
confirmed by combined unitholders at the 
first annual general meeting following their 
appointment in terms of the MOI. Therefore 
Gavin Tipper will have his appointment raised 
for confirmation at the upcoming annual 
general meeting.

The board, supported by the Nomination 
Committee and subject to approval 
by unitholders, is responsible for new 
appointments. Identification and selection 
of candidates is conducted in a formal 
and transparent manner. The board and 
committee take into account the necessary 
blend of skills and experience that will enable 
new directors to meaningfully contribute 
to the company’s operational progress and 
sustainable transformation, with specific 
relevant factors taken into consideration 
including diversity and regulatory compliance.

New appointees to the board are briefed 
by the Chairman, CEO, Financial Director 
and the company’s sponsor Java Capital and 
introduced to key senior management at 
company and shopping centre levels. They 
are taken on site visits to shopping centres 
and provided with an overview of board 
processes and procedures including copies 
of the most recent board packs, minutes and 
interim and annual financial results.

The board meets at least four times a year with 
ad-hoc meetings when necessary to review 
strategy, planning, financial performance, 
resources, operations, risk, capital expenditure, 
reporting and compliance matters, standards 
of conduct, transformation, diversity, 
employment equity, human resources and 
environmental management etc.

read more

The board charter is 
currently being reviewed 
and updated to ensure 
compliance with the  
King III Report and the 
new Companies Act.
page 36
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read more

Hyprop has established Audit, 
Risk, Investment, Remuneration 
and Nomination Committees to 
assist the board in discharging 
its collective responsibility 
of corporate governance. In 
addition a Social and Ethics 
Committee was constituted in 
April 2012. 

page 37-38

Relevant information is supplied timeously in advance of meetings, ensuring directors can make well-researched and reasoned decisions. 

Details of directors’ attendance at board and committee meetings are set out below:

Years  
of service 

Board 
meetings 

Audit 
Committee 

meetings 

Risk  
Committee 

meetings 

Remuneration 
Committee 

meetings 

Nomination 
Committee 

meetings 

MS Aitken*+@< (Chairman) 11 years 4 months 4(4) 1(1) 1(1)
PG Prinsloo (CEO) (appointed May 2011) Previously served 

as CEO for 7 years 
from 2002 -2009

3(3) 3(3)> 2(2) 1(1)> 1(1)>

LR  Cohen (Financial Director) 8 years 6 months 4(4) 5(5)> 2(2) 1(1)> 1(1)>
EG Dube*+ 6 years 8 months 3(4) 0(1) 0(1)
KM Ellerine* 2 years 4 months 4(4)
L Engelbrecht *+ (̂appointed 13 January 2011) 1 year 4(4) 4(4) 2(2) 1(1) 1(1) 
MJ Lewin* 1 year 1 month 4(4)
JR McAlpine*+ (resigned 30 June 2011) 5 years 6 months 2(2) 2(2)
DH Rice* (resigned 25 November 2011)  1 year 4(4)
MF Rodel  (CEO) (resigned 3 March 2011) 1 year 7 months 1 (1)
L Norval * (appointed 1 September 2011) 4 months 1(1)
S Shaw-Taylor* 11 years 4 months 4(4) 5(5) 2(2) 1(1)
LLS van der Watt* (appointed 1 September 2011) 4 months 1(1)
M Wainer* 9 years 9 months 4(4) 1(1)
LI Weil*+# 8 years 7 months 4(4) 4(5)

BOARD CHARTER

The charter is currently being reviewed  
and updated to ensure compliance with the 
King III Report and the new Companies Act.

The board is responsible for the performance 
of the company in creating value for all 
stakeholders. The directors as a whole 
provide effective corporate governance 
that involves monitoring the relationships 
between the board and management and 
between the company and its stakeholders, 
including unitholders. Hyprop’s formal Board 
Charter sets out the board’s responsibilities 
and authority.  Further the charter entrenches 
effective leadership on an ethical foundation 
and promotes responsible corporate 
citizenship, including in its mandate the focus 
of the board on the impact of business 
operations on the environment and society 
as well as financially-related aspects of 
performance.

The charter further requires the board to 
ensure that the Hyprop has an effective 
and independent Audit Committee. The 
board, assisted by the Audit Committee, 
is responsible for ensuring the integrity of 
the company’s integrated report in terms 
of the charter.  It also highlights the board’s 
responsibility for the governance of risk and 
information technology (IT). 

The charter further sets out the board’s 
responsibility for the company’s systems of 
internal, financial and operational control. The 
internal control processes are underpinned 
by the Code of Ethics, which covers ethical 
behaviour, compliance with legislation and 
sound accounting practice. 

The Board Charter requires  an annual 
evaluation of the board and its committees.   
The board is also responsible for electing 
a Chairman who is an independent non-
executive director.

* Non-executive 
+ Independent 
>By invitation
# Chairman Audit Committee 
^ Chairman Risk Committee 

@ Chairman Remuneration Committee 
< Chairman Nomination Committee 

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary, Probity Business 
Services (Proprietary) Limited, is an 
independent company secretarial practice 
providing services to numerous JSE-listed 
companies. The board is comfortable that its 
representative, Neville Toerien, is sufficiently 
qualified and skilled to act in accordance 
with and update directors in terms of the 
recommendations of the King III Report and 
other relevant regulations and legislation.

The role and functions of the company 
secretary include:

•	 		Providing	 the	 directors,	 collectively	 and	
individually, with guidance in respect of 
their	duties,	responsibilities	and	powers;

•	 		Providing	information	on	laws,	 legislation,	
regulations and matters of ethics and 
good corporate governance relevant to 
the	company;

•	 		Making	 directors	 aware	 of	 any	 law	 or	
regulations	relevant	to	the	company;

•	 		Properly	 recording	 the	 minutes	 of	
meetings, inter alia, meeting attendance 
registers, resolutions, director’s declarations 
of personal and financial interest/s and 
all notice and circulars issued by the 
company;

•	 		Preparing	 the	 notice	 of	 annual	 general	
meeting;	and

•	 		Assuming	 responsibility	 for	 filing	 the	
annual and other returns in terms of the 
Companies Act 2008 (as amended).

It is the responsibility of the company secretary 
to monitor changes and developments in 
corporate governance and together with the 
executive directors, to keep the board updated 
in this regard. The board reviews any changes 
and appropriate measures are implemented 
to comply with best practice in such a way 
to support sustainable performance. The 
directors appreciate that strategy, risk and 
sustainability should be interwoven in daily 
operations and form part of all strategic 
decisions, assessments and audits as set out in 
the King III Report.

The company secretary in conjunction with 
the Financial Director ensures the company 
complies with all current and applicable 
regulations and legislation. In doing so they liaise 
closely with the company’s sponsor. During 
the year the Risk Committee embarked on a 
process, in consultation with an independent 
specialist, to assess risk management and 
compliance related processes  in the company 
and implement enhancements. 

SuCCESSION PLANNING
The board recognises the necessity and 
importance of having a new independent 
director to maintain the balance of 
independent and non-executive directors.  

The board is comfortable that the depth 
of skill meets current board succession 
requirements. Nonetheless a Graduate 
Programme established during the year will see 
suitable candidates identified and groomed to 
move through the ranks from administration 
to mid-management to senior management, 
and ultimately board positions. During the 
year the programme comprised of two black 
women who performed exceptionally well, 
academically and in their roles at Hyprop. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
Hyprop has established Audit, Risk, Investment, 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees 
to assist the board in discharging its collective 
responsibility of corporate governance. In 
addition a Social and Ethics Committee 
was constituted in April 2012 to assist the 
board with the oversight of sustainability, 
transformation and other compliance-related 
matters. 

Formal terms of reference have been 
established and approved for each 
committee of the board, and are currently 
being revised to ensure compliance with 
the King III Report and other recent 
legislation. These will be adopted following 
board approval in FY2012. Committees play  
an important role in enhancing good corporate 
governance and  improving internal controls 
and therefore in the sustainable performance 
of the company. 

The board is satisfied that all committees have 
satisfied their responsibilities. The board also 
continuously evaluates the establishment of 
additional committees when required.

There is transparency and full disclosure from 
board committees to the board. Committee 
chairmen provide the board with a verbal 
report on recent committee activities and the 
minutes of committee meetings are available 
to other board members. In addition, the 
chairmen of the committees or a nominated 
committee member attend the company’s 
annual general meeting to answer any 
questions from stakeholders pertaining to the 
relevant matters handled by their respective 
committees. 

read more

Audit Committee report 
page 57

Risk Committee  
(Risk Management report) 
page 39

Remuneration  
Committee report
page 42
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The Nomination Committee meets annually 
and is chaired by the company’s independent 
non-executive Chairman Michael Aitken. 
It further comprises independent non-
executive directors Ethan Dube, Les Weil and 
Lindie Engelbrecht and non-executive director 
Stewart Shaw-Taylor. Independent non-
executive director Les Weil was appointed 
to the Nomination Committee in November 
2011. The CEO and Financial Director attend 
meetings by invitation. Attendance at 
committee meetings is outlined on page 36. 

The committee is responsible for reviewing 
the scope and composition of the board and 
its	sub-committees;	making	recommendations	
to the board on the appointment of new 
executive	 and	 non-executive	 directors;	
establishing succession plans, particularly for 
the	Chairman	 and	CEO;	 and	 identifying	 and	
nominating high-calibre candidates for the 
approval of the board to fill board vacancies 
as and when they arise. The committee has 
an independent role, operating as an overseer 
and a maker of recommendations to the 
board for its consideration and final approval. 
Essentially the committee assists the board to 
ensure that:

•	 		the	 board	 has	 the	 appropriate	
composition to execute its duties 
effectively;

•	 		directors	are	appointed	through	a	formal	
process;

•	 		induction	 and	 ongoing	 training	 and	
development	of	directors	take	place;	and

•	 		formal	 succession	 plans	 for	 the	
board, CEO and senior management 
appointments are in place.

The Social and Ethics Committee, established 
post year-end, oversees and monitors 
Hyprop’s activities in relation to:

•	 		social	 and	 economic	 development,	
including the principles of the UN Global 
Compact (a strategic policy initiative for 
businesses that are committed to aligning 
with ten universally accepted principles 
in the areas of human rights, labour, 
environment and anti-corruption.), broad-
based black economic empowerment, 
employment equity and the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (“OECD”) recommendations 
on	corruption;

•	 		good	 corporate	 citizenship,	 including	
the promotion of equality, prevention 
of unfair discrimination, corporate social 
responsibility	and	ethical	behaviour;

•	 	environmental,	health	and	safety	matters;
•	 		consumer	relations;	and
•	 		labour	 and	 employment,	 including	

education and skills development.

The members of the committee include CEO 
Pieter	 Prinsloo	 (Chairman);	 non-executive	
director	 Mike	 Lewin;	 HR	 Manager	 Karin	
Eichhorn;	 Group	 Financial	 Manager	 Vasti	
Booysen;	 National	 Legal	 Executive	 Desirée	
Nafte;	 and	 Development	 Executive	 Steven	
Riley. 

ExTERNAL AuDIT 
Grant Thornton acts as external auditor for 
Hyprop. The independence of the external 
auditor is reviewed every year by the Audit 
Committee. Further, the external auditors 
attend all Audit Committee meetings and 
have unrestricted access to the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee.

read more
The company’s risk 
management process 
identifies, assesses and 
monitors any risks to 
which Hyprop is exposed. 
It further recommends 
and monitors mitigation 
strategies. 

page 39
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RISK COMMITTEE
The Risk Committee comprises CEO Pieter 
Prinsloo, Financial Director Laurence Cohen 
(outgoing Chairman), independent non-
executive director Lindie Engelbrecht 
(incoming Chairman) and non-executive 
director Stewart Shaw-Taylor. It meets twice 
a year and attendance is outlined on page 36.

The committee reports directly to the board. 
It is responsible for reviewing and assessing 
the company’s risk control systems and 
ensuring that risk policies and strategies are 
effectively managed. Specifically the role 
of the committee is to assist the board in 
ensuring that:

•	 	the	 company	 has	 implemented	 an	
effective policy and plan for risk 
management that will enhance its ability 
to	achieve	its	strategic	objectives;	and

•	 	the	 disclosure	 regarding	 risk	 is	
comprehensive, timely and relevant.

The committee is accordingly responsible 
for overseeing the development, effective 
implementation and annual review of a risk 
management plan. It makes recommendations 
to the board with regard to risk tolerance 
levels.

Formal terms of reference outlining the 
committee’s purpose, composition and 
responsibilities were adopted during the year 
and will be formalised in a Risk Committee 
Charter in the year ahead.

RISK MATRIx 
Risk is a probable event that could inhibit a 
company’s ability to achieve its objectives and 
goals.

The company’s risk management process 
identifies, assesses and monitors any risks 
to which Hyprop is exposed. It further 
recommends and monitors mitigation 
strategies. 

Key risks Probable impact Mitigation
Resource scarcity Lack of or short supply of water or electricity 

impacting planned projects and current 
operations

Generators installed at all sites. Reduction 
in carbon footprint as well as programmes 
planned to reduce electricity consumption

Responsible corporate citizenship Non-sustainable practices Social and Ethics Committee formed  
to address these issues in a formal and pro-
active manner

Failure to achieve synergy from post-merger 
integration 

Loss of income and investor confidence Regular monitoring at board and executive 
levels to ensure smooth integration

 

RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 

The following were identified as the broad 
categories of risk to which the company is 
exposed:

•	 	Governance
•	 	Strategic
•	 	Operational
•	 	Compliance
•	 	Reporting

Governance risk

Governance risk covers areas associated with 
corporate governance and ethics. It addresses 
risks associated with:

•	 	board	 effectiveness,	 knowledge	 and	
management

•	 board	structure
•	 reputation	and	stakeholder	relations
•	 risk	oversight
•	 transparency	and	financial	integrity

An extract of some of the key material risks in 
this category are as follows:

Key risks Probable impact Mitigation
Board conflicts of interest and lack of 
independence. Influence of majority 
unitholders over board decisions

Individual board member dominating 
decision-making

King III adhered to as far as possible to 
ensure independence, with a diverse board 
comprising a number of independent non-
executive directors

Failure to identify all risks to which the 
company is exposed

High risks not addressed Risk matrix developed and reviewed by 
management and the Risk Committee 
annually

Strategic risk

Managing strategic risk is an ongoing process. Strategic risk includes risks associated with:

•	 	corporate	responsibility	and	sustainability
•	 	external	factors	over	which	the	company	has	little	or	no	control	
•	 	company	strategy	and	implementation	thereof

Emphasis is placed on external factors and catastrophe risk management. 

An extract of some of the key material risks in this category are as follows:
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Operational risk

Operational risk is a risk arising from execution 
of a company’s business functions. It focuses 
on risks arising from people, systems and 
processes through which a company operates. 

It includes the following categories:
•	 	Financial,	including	tenants	and	suppliers
•	 	Legal
•	 	Human	Resources

•	 	Information	Technology
•	 	Corporate	assets
•	 	Insurance

Internal audit assists management in assessing 
whether or not systems of internal control are 
adequate and effective. Internal audit prepares 
a plan based on the areas of operational risks 
and controls in place. 

An extract of some of the key material risks in 
this category are as follows:

Key risks Probable impact Mitigation
Total or partial deterioration 
of investment property

Financial loss Insurance based on 
replacement cost and loss 
of income cover during 
reconstruction

Theft and armed robberies at 
shopping centres

Compromised reputation, 
customer injuries

Staff trained in how to deal 
with press, CPR and stress 
situations

Public liability Reputation loss Public liability insurance 
and proactive property 
management

Inappropriate insurance cover Financial loss Annual review of insurance 
cover with dedicated broker

Insufficient anti-fraud 
programmes in place

Fraud not identified in time 
and financial loss

In process of putting in place 
an anti-fraud and corruption 
phone line. 

Risk-based internal audit 
approach.

Failure to assess the 
effectiveness of internal 
controls

Financial loss Reputable internal auditors
Internal audit programme 
based on risks and controls 
identified in risk matrix

Business continuity Business disruption Disaster recovery programme 
in place

Ineffective change 
control process and 
insufficient testing prior 
to implementation of new 
systems

Loss of data with 
changeover to new property 
management system

Dedicated team to manage 
the changeover.

Testing of system prior to 
moving over to new system.

Delayed action in respect of 
non-paying tenants

Increased potential for bad 
debts

Proactive monitoring 
of tenant performance. 
Proactive tenant 
communication.

Management of accurate 
provisions.

Inaccurate valuation of 
properties by council

Incorrect rates and taxes 
charged

Council valuations and 
lodged objections reviewed 
where appropriate

Interest rate risk Increased interest costs 
which result in below budget 
distributions

Fixed interest costs for 
extended periods

Staff retention Increased staff training costs. 
Loss of key personnel

Formalised remuneration and 
incentive policy in place

Compliance risk

Compliance risk entails not adhering to any 
laws or regulations, policies not set up in 
conjunction with laws and regulations and 
non-compliance with BEE regulations.

All Hyprop’s employees are appointed based 
on their expertise and experience. They are 
all expected to keep abreast of legislation and 
compliance requirements that affect their 
particular areas of responsibility. 

Employees are sent on regular training in 
the fields in which they are are employed, 
and in the case of any new legislation an in-
house legal executive will assist staff where 
necessary. 

The company secretary is responsible for 
assisting the board and relevant committees 
with compliance with the Companies Act 2008 
as amended and JSE Listings Requirements. 

Reporting risk

Reporting risk is the risk that financial-related 
information is unintentionally altered or 
deliberately manipulated. 

It covers all risks associated with:

•	 	compliance	with	accounting	standards
•	 financial	information	availability
•	 	financial	statement	fraud
•	 	reporting	quality
•	 	sustainability	reporting

Executive management implement controls to 
ensure the validity, accuracy and completeness 
of financial information. Internal controls are 
reviewed by internal and external audit when 
reliance is placed on the controls. External 
audit provides opinion on the fair presentation 
of financial information at statutory reporting 
level. On an operational level, this is done by 
the Executive Committee. 

INTERNAL CONTROL
The board is responsible for the company’s 
systems of internal control and risk 
management. The effectiveness of these 
systems is monitored by both the Audit 
and Risk Committees, which are assisted by 
management reporting and periodic reviews 
as well as by an outsourced internal audit 
function. After completing these reviews, the 
committees report to the board on findings 
so that the board as a whole can take a view. 
This process has been subject to regular 
review over a number of years, resulting in 
ongoing refinements. 

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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Hyprop’s systems of internal control are 
designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of the financial statements. The 
systems are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate applicable risks. They are 
intended to safeguard, verify and maintain 
accountability of Hyprop’s assets. They are 
further intended to identify and minimise 
significant fraud, potential liability, loss and 
material misstatement while complying with 
applicable laws and regulations.

One instance of fraud was identified 
subsequent to year-end. The company has 
since updated its banking system and vendor 
application procedures to further boost 
control as around the handling of cash and 
the payment of suppliers. The board has 
also significantly improved the internal audit 
function by appointing a new outsourced 
provider with a risk-based internal audit 
approach. 

In selecting a service provider Hyprop 
considered factors such as: 

•	 	industry	experience
•	 	budget	and	costing	
•	 	methodology	and	approach	
•	 	quality	and	client	satisfaction
•	 	resource	utilisation
•	 	reporting	and	communication	

KPMG’s internal audit services are in full 
compliance with international best practice, 
and are provided by a separate, specialised 
division. The primary focus of the internal audit 
at Hyprop will be the major risks impacting the 
company’s strategic and business objectives. 

KPMG’s internal audit methodology includes:

•	 	planning	 –	 strategic	 analysis,	 enterprise	
risk assessment, and internal audit plan 
development

•	 	execution	 –	 internal	 audit	 execution,	
reporting and issue resolution tracking

•	 	engagement	 project	 management		
performed on an ongoing basis 
throughout the process. 

Further details on financial risk management, 
including the company’s exposure to interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, are set out 
in note 35 to the annual financial statements.

REGuLATORY AND LEGISLATIVE 
COMPLIANCE
The National Legal Executive, together with 
the Financial Director, ensures the company 

complies with all current regulations and 
legislation. In doing so they liaise closely 
with the company’s sponsor. Areas of non-
compliance are formally tabled through 
the risk management process under the 
supervision of the Risk Committee and 
those noted during the year are currently in 
the process of redress as per the King III gap 
analysis. 

Primary Acts with which the company is 
required to comply include the following:

•	 	Basic	Conditions	of	 Employment	Act,	 75	
of 1997

•	 	Companies	Act,	71	of	2008
•	 	Compensation	 for	 Occupational	 Injuries	

and Disease Act, 130 of 1993
•	 	Competition	Act,	89	of	1998
•	 	Employment	Equity	Act,	55	of	1998
•	 	Labour	Relations	Act,	66	of	1995
•	 	Occupational	Health	and	Safety	Act,	85	of	

1993
•	 	Value	Added	Tax	Act,	89	of	1991
•	 	Financial	 Intelligence	 Centre	 Act,	 38	 of	

2001
•	 	Consumer	Protection	Act,	68	of	2008
•	 	Safety	at	Sports	 and	Recreational	 Events	

Act, 2 of 2010
•	 	Income	Tax	Act,	58	of	1962
•	 	Promotion	of	Access	to	Information	Act,	2	

of 2000
•	 	National	Credit	Act,	34	of	2005

IT GOVERNANCE
Hyprop recognises IT governance as an integral 
part of the company’s holistic approach to 
governance. It is the responsibility of the Risk 
Committee to effectively manage relevant IT 
risks. 

Following the incorporation of Attfund Retail 
into the business, Hyprop is in the process 
of reviewing its IT structures to increase 
operational efficiency and establish the policies 
and procedures for effective IT governance. 
The database is undergoing restructure and 
a single property management system will be 
implemented across the company. 

Hyprop plans to achieve IT governance 
compliance in the years ahead. This will include 
formulating a formal IT governance policy 
and charter and implementing an IT internal 
control framework aimed at minimising IT risk 
and increasing operational efficiency. 

read more

REMuNERATION  
PHILOSOPHY

Hyprop aims to be 
regarded as an employer 
of choice.
page 42
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least 
once a year, which the board deems sufficient 
to fulfil its purpose and responsibilities. It 
is chaired by the company’s independent 
non-executive Chairman Michael Aitken 
and further comprises independent non-
executive directors Ethan Dube and Lindie 
Engelbrecht and non-executive director Marc 
Wainer. The CEO and any other directors 
may attend meetings by invitation, but are 
then excluded from deliberations relating to 
their individual remuneration. Attendance at 
committee meetings is outlined on page 36.

A formal charter codifies the tasks and 
responsibilities of the committee. It was 
updated during the year to comply with the 
recommendations of the King III Report and is 
awaiting approval. 

The committee is responsible for reviewing 
and recommending to the board the 
company’s remuneration of directors and all 
employees. It endeavours to ensure that the 
company remuneration strategy reflects the 
interests of all stakeholders, is comparable to 
the general pay environment of the sector 
and complies with all principles of good 
corporate governance. It further ensures that 
the balance of fixed and variable pay (in cash, 
combined units and other elements) meets 
the company’s needs and strategic objectives. 
In addition, the committee reviews whether 
the set objectives of the remuneration policy 
have been achieved.

Executive employment contracts are 
contracts with a notice period and do not 
include restraints of trade. 

Remuneration for non-executive directors 
is a base fee, pre-determined annually 
and approved by unitholders in annual 
general meetings. It is the responsibility of 
the committee to provide the necessary 
information to unitholders to enable them to 
appropriately consider the relevant resolution. 

The Remuneration Committee oversees 
the preparation of this remuneration report 
which forms part of this integrated annual 
report. The chairman also attends the annual 
general meeting of the company to liaise with 
unitholders on any matters under the ambit 
of the committee.

REMuNERATION PHILOSOPHY
Hyprop aims to be regarded as an employer 
of choice. In order to ensure the attraction 
and long term retention of high-calibre 
individuals, basic salaries are market-
related and benchmarked against industry  
norms with adjustments made for 
the employee’s particular experience, 
qualifications, responsibilities and nature of 
work.

The remuneration structure further 
includes performance incentives in the 
form of a phantom share scheme. Hyprop’s 
remuneration policy links these incentives 
to defined Key Results Areas (KRAs) which 
form the basis of all assessments of centre 
managers and senior management, as well 
as to Hyprop’s distribution performance. 
KRA’s are set and agreed by the Executive 
Committee and formally measured.  

The board is in the process of reviewing and 
assessing the merit of the share purchase 
scheme for senior management, which is 
intended to increase senior management 
ownership in combined units of the company, 
thereby aligning the interests of management 
with those of unitholders. A proposed 
scheme will likely be brought to unitholders 
for approval during the course of 2012. 

Michael Aitken

Remuneration Committee Chairman

28 February 2012

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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STAKEHOLdER ENGAGEMENT

Hyprop acknowledges stakeholder engagement as a tool to achieve inclusivity and a step 
towards full accountability. The Code encapsulates this by including timeous, consistent and 
accurate communications with stakeholders as an important operational principle. 

Engaging with individuals or groups enhances the operations of the company and better 
enables it to manage risk and reputation. It further ensures that the impact of Hyprop’s 
business on people, profit and planet is understood and addressed. Equally it informs, 
educates and influences stakeholders, directing a positive impact on Hyprop. 

To this end Hyprop has identified its stakeholders and the channels of communication 
used for dialogue (see overleaf). Stakeholder engagement is a process. While there are 
entrenched engagement channels, there are some areas which Hyprop acknowledges require 
improvement. 

As a first in South Africa and in line with growing international trends, Hyprop 
has launched a smartphone application at Canal walk. Shoppers can now 
use their smartphones to unlock the vast range of services and products 
on offer at the centre. The free Canal walk application can be downloaded 
from the Canal walk website for iPhone, Android and Blackberry – with 
varying versions available to accommodate different phone models. The 
Canal walk application features a store directory, store location service, 
movies (including show times and trailers), events and competitions. 

The app will help shoppers and retailers alike by providing an instant 
communication platform for retail information and promotions, thereby 
enhancing the quality of the shopping experience. Further it will provide 
Hyprop with the means of engaging its shoppers in a more immediate 
manner through mobile technology.

Similar applications are in the process of being rolled-out at other shopping 
centres in Hyprop’s portfolio.

Case study: 

Hyprop embraces mobile 
technology at Canal Walk 
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  unitholders and potential investors 
In line with JSE Rules and Regulations the company publishes all announcements on SENS. 
Financial results announcements are also posted on the company website and published in 
the business press, as well as sent to investors. The executive directors are available to answer 
queries from stakeholders at all times and meet regularly with industry analysts. Wherever 
possible the executive directors also engage with the financial press to ensure accurate 
reporting. In addition, unitholders are actively encouraged to attend the company’s annual 
general meetings to foster ongoing personal interaction with management. After each results 
release an investor poll is conducted to identify the areas of concern for immediate redress 
wherever possible.

 Financers
Hyprop maintains active and open relationships with institutions which provide funding to 
the company. 

 Industry associations 
Hyprop further communicates with stakeholders through its membership of the following 
industry associations and organisations:

	•	Property	Loan	Stock	Association	(PLSA)
	•	South	African	Council	of	Shopping	Centres	(SACSC)
	•	South	African	Property	Owners	Association	(SAPOA)
	•	Green	Building	Council	of	South	Africa

 Employees 
Hyprop has introduced an intranet to facilitate better, quicker and more relevant 
communication with employees. 

 Tenants 
Liaison with tenants is a driving force in the company’s success. Ensuring that tenants’ 
expectations are met and maintaining demand for space is critical to the value chain, as are 
optimal tenant mix and rental income. Engagement with tenants is multifaceted and ongoing 
through SMS’s, emails, newsletters, regular one-on-one meetings, tenant polls and audits, 
security and safety meetings, and marketing workshops. 

 Shoppers 
Shoppers are the lifeblood of Hyprop’s shopping centres. Active communication with shoppers 
takes place via centre websites, media such as radio, local newspapers, daily newspapers, 
information emailers and newsletters, and social media platforms such as Facebook, MXit and 
Twitter. Canal Walk recently lauched a smartphone application, soon to be rolled-out to other 
centres in Hyprop’s portfolio (see Case Study). 

Suppliers 
Regular meetings are held with key suppliers to determine and ensure optimal service levels. 
Service Level Agreements are in place to ensure efficient delivery of services. Hyprop uses 
national service providers.

Communities
Hyprop’s shopping centres are focal points for the surrounding communities: all centres use 
the local community newspapers and radio stations to communicate. The centres are often 
involved in sponsorship and promotion of community events and organisations. In addition all 
centres are committed supporters of local charities and schools, providing promotional space 
and organising events which benefit these organisations. 

Civil society 
Some centres such as The Mall of Rosebank and Clearwater are active in local community 
organisations such as Roodepoort Chamber of Commerce, Rosebank Management District 
and The Rosebank Action Group. In addition centres hold regular meetings with the South 
African Police and participate with community policing fora in the communities in which they 
operate.

Stakeholder feedback assessment 

Hyprop polls investors following the release of annual and interim results. The centres conduct 
formal research through various channels including surveys, focus groups and market research. 
Hyprop also conducts formal tenant polls and audits. 

read more
Hyprop is committed to 
delivering sound growth for 
unitholders as well as enhancing 
and safeguarding its people, 
who are instrumental in driving 
stakeholder value

page 45
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Hyprop is committed to delivering sound growth for unitholders as well as enhancing and 
safeguarding its people, who are instrumental in driving stakeholder value. The company employs 
a relatively small workforce of 298. 

Hyprop strives to be the “employer of choice” in its industry and recruiting and retaining the 
right people is seen as critical for the success and sustainability of the company. The company 
boasts a negligible annual staff turnover, demonstrating its success in this regard. One of its key 
competitive strengths lies in the calibre of the current management at head office and at senior 
operational level. 

Hyprop’s employees comprise: 

Female Male Total
White 117 55 172

Black 48 34 82
Coloured 11 17 28
Indian/Asian 11 5 16
Total 187 111 298

Male Female

Black Indian/
Asian

Coloured White Male  
Sub-total 

Black Indian/
Asian

Coloured White Female 
Sub-total 

Total

Senior  
Management

1 1 0 11 13 0 0 0 15 15 28

Middle  
Management

1 3 1 24 29 3 1 2 37 43 72

Administration 8 7 8 13 36 44 4 9 64 121 157
Maintenance 24 0 8 7 39 1 0 0 1 2 41
Total 117 181 298

 

Discrimination on any level is not tolerated. Should any such discrimination occur it is immediately 
and appropriately dealt with in terms of the Code of Ethics and attendant disciplinary procedures. 
No incidences of discrimination were reported during the year. Hyprop does not have any 
unionised employees.

Skills development and training

A core objective of the skills development programme is to assist employees in advancing their 
careers within the company while improving productivity. 

Targets for 2012 include:

	•		To	upskill	five	more	employees	on	an	administrative	level,	enabling	their	advancement	to	
middle management through the Graduate Programme.

	•		To	identify	one	maintenance	assistant	at	each	site	and	provide	training	for	a	trade	either	as	
a plumber or electrician. 

The company offers the newly established Graduate Programme to permanent employees who 
are invited to apply. Once minimum requirements have been met - KRA rating, area of study 
and first term pass rate - the employee is provided with financial assistance. The successful 
employees are then assessed and trained for further career development in the company. 

OUR PEOPLE
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General training undertaken during the year included:

Course Attendees
Unisa (Accounting 2nd year) 1
Damlin (B.Com Marketing – 1st year) 1
University of Pretoria, leasing certificate 5
MS Office computer training was offered to all employees for 2012. A choice 
of two modules was identified per employee for 2012 

68 x 2

Canal Walk mentorship programme 48
SAPOA – Advanced shopping centre leadership programme 1
SAPOA – Basic Marketing Certificate 1
Basic book keeping skills 1
First Aid and Firefighting 15

Total spend for the year was R341 000* (2010: R645 000) which is an average training spend per 
employee of R2500. The decline in training spend is attributable to the fact that during 2010 a 
large portion of spend went towards training on implementing “The Canal Walk Way” concept. 
62% of the participants were black. 

 
Training spend was allocated as follows: 

Course Spend Attendees
Unisa R17 000 1
Damelin R13 000 1
SAPOA R20 000 1
Canal Walk Way R200 000 48
Dynamic R60 000 68
First Aid and Fire Fighting R31 000 15
Total R341 000 134
Total per employee R2 544

*  Hyprop employees only (excludes Attfund Retail employees)

Health & Safety

The company is committed to a safe, healthy and hygienic working environment in compliance 
with the Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 (No. 85 of 1993). Health and safety is managed 
at each centre. In the year ahead company-wide policies and procedures will be put in place to 
standardise the approach across the portfolio. The current health and safety policy is outlined 
in the overall company policy document and states that Hyprop endeavours to protect the 
health and safety of its employees, customers and others that might be affected by its activities. 
Management and all employees are responsible for implementing the policy effectively. 

Hyprop’s objectives in fulfilment of this policy are:

•				To	provide	a	Health	and	Safety	Programme	which	is	effective,	of	a	high	standard	and	
subject to continuous review and improvement.

	•				To	comply	with	the	requirements	of	the	relevant	statutory	provisions	relating	to	health,	
safety, and environmental matters as these may affect employees, customers, contractors 
and the public at large.

	•				To	ensure	that	all	employees	are	properly	informed	of	their	responsibilities	with	regards	to	
health, safety and environmental matters and that they discharge them effectively.

	•				To	encourage	employees	to	participate	in	the	prevention	of	accidents	and	the	preservation	
of health.

	•				To	provide	the	resources	and	training	to	achieve	the	stated	objectives.

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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Hyprop is aware of the potentially devastating 
effects of HIV/ AIDS on its employees and 
the community at large. A formal policy in 
this regard provides guidelines on creating 
a non-discriminatory workplace for all, 
dealing with HIV testing, confidentiality and 
disclosure, providing equitable employee 
benefits, dealing with dismissal and managing 
grievance procedures. The policy assures each 
affected employee’s right to confidentiality. 
Where employees willingly disclose their 
status the company encourages openness, 
acceptance and support. The policy further 
makes provision for creating a safe working 
environment and developing procedures 
to manage occupational incidences and 
compensation claims.

Canal Walk 

The Facilities Manager is responsible for 
health and safety. The last full health, safety 
and risk assessment was conducted during 
2009 and Canal Walk conforms with all 
the recommendations then made. All the 
necessary health and safety appointments 
are in place. Quarterly safety meetings are 
held as per Occupational Health and Safety 
guidelines. 

Canal Walk has a HIV/AIDS policy which 
is reviewed annually. The purpose of this 
policy is to outline the method of dealing 
with HIV/AIDS in the workplace including the 
management of exposed/infected/affected 
staff.

Clearwater 

The General Manager and Operations 
Manager are responsible for health and safety. 

The Glen 

Health and safety is managed by outsourced 
supplier Scott Safe. Two audits were 
conducted during the year, in February 
and August. All concerns raised have been 
addressed. During the year First Aid and Fire 
Fighting training took place. 

CapeGate 

Health & safety is the responsibility of the 
Operations and General Managers and is 
governed by a formal health and safety policy. 
The centre has in place management systems 
for health and safety and environment risk, 
which are regularly reviewed. 

Hyde Park 

Health and safety is the responsibility of the 
Operations Manager. All centre management, 
staff, security seniors and cleaning supervisors 
attend an induction course dealing with 
safety in the workplace. Measures are in place 
to ensure all patrons working and visiting the 
centre are aware of hazards when building 
work is in progress. During the year Hyde Park’s 
contracted security company, Servest, sent 
their senior staff on a level 1,2 and 3 Safety 
Training, First Aid and Fire Fighting courses 
and two centre management staff members 
completed a Fire Fighting training programme.

The Mall of Rosebank 

The Mall of Rosebank employs the services 
of a professional third party health and safety 
provider, which undertakes bi-annual audits. 
All suppliers to the centre such as cleaning 
and security undertake regular training 
programmes in terms of their contractual 
obligations. These programmes include fire 
and evacuation training and first aid training. 

Willowbridge 

A health and safety audit was conducted in 
November 2011 by an external provider. All 
the items identified have been addressed 
and a follow up inspection was conducted in 
February 2012, reflecting the success of new 
initiatives.

Atterbury Value Mart

The General Manager and Operations 
Manager, together with the Security and 
Cleaning Managers, are responsible for health 
and safety. New personnel and contractors 
at the centre receive training on the safe use 
of chemicals and equipment onsite as well as 
procedures to follow in case of emergencies. 
During 2011 external companies conducted 
audits on all equipment used onsite, including 
air-conditioning, lifts, escalators and fire 
fighting equipment. These audits are done on 
an annual basis.

Stoneridge 

Stoneridge conducted a full health and safety 
audit in November 2011 through Scott Safe, 
with a follow-up in February 2012. The centre 
received a 97% compliance report. 
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Sustainability development is guided by the King III Report, the GRI and standards set by the JSE’s 
Socially Responsible Investments (SRI) Index. 

Hyprop’s shopping centres run as autonomous entities to a certain extent, each undertaking its 
own sustainability measures, which in turn comply with the overall company policy in this regard. 

TRANSFORMATION
Hyprop recognises that integrating transformation into business practice is crucial for the 
sustainability of the company and South Africa generally. The company supports the Property 
Transformation Charter and is committed to transformation. The Social and Ethics Committee will 
be responsible going forward for driving the company’s B-BBEE scorecard. One of the objectives will 
be to implement a 10-year plan in line with the Property Charter recommendations. The company 
has engaged a service provider to assist with a formal BEE verification, gap analysis and certification. 

ENVIRONMENT
Optimal utilisation and conservation of natural resources is a strategic imperative for all of the 
shopping centres in Hyprop’s portfolio. This is further underpinned by Hyprop’s membership of 
the Green Building Council of South Africa (GBCSA), through which the company undertakes to 
ensure all its buildings are managed in an environmentally sustainable way with minimal impact on 
the environment. The primary environmental impacts are energy, water and waste. 

Hyprop is in the process of formalising an overall environmental policy. This will be on the agenda 
of the Social and Ethics Committee in the year ahead now that the Attfund Retail properties are 
part of the property portfolio. 

Hyprop’s executive team is responsible for setting environmental objectives and targets. These will 
form the basis of the formal policy referred to above.

Recycling initiatives are in place at all centres, although not all related activities are formalised with 
set targets.

SUSTAINABILITY

The company’s vision, strategic objectives 
and value system are integrated into all 
policies, procedures, decision-making 
processes and operations, with sustainability 
as the ultimate objective. 

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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At Canal Walk the target is to recycle 60% of 
all waste. The overall recycling performance 
for 2011 by volume was 72%.

At The Mall of Rosebank 100% recyclable 
waste is recycled such as bottles, paper, boxes 
and plastic containers. 

The recycled waste generates revenue 
which is applied to reduce the overall 
cost of waste management procedures. 
Southcoast Mall recycled a total of  
128 332kg of waste for the year. 

Stoneridge has increased levels of recycled 
waste from 36% to 52% over a four-year 
period.

Canal Walk has commenced measurement 
of carbon emissions, with the other centres 
set to commence measurement in the  
near future. Canal Walk has set a target to 
reduce emissions by 10% compared to 2007 
levels. In the year under review electricity 
consumption was reduced approximately 
2,5% from 68 482 156 kWh to 66 835 788 kWh.

Canal Walk, Southcoast Mall and Willowbridge 
are located in environmentally sensitive areas. 
Canal Walk adjoins the Intaka Island wetlands, 
which comprise 8ha of ecologically sensitive 
pans. Canal Walk strives to comply with the 
Century City Property Owners Association’s 
requirements with all landscaping, bird 
deterrent devices and pest control proposals 
submitted for approval. Care is taken to 
minimise water pollution by ensuring that only 
biodegradable chemicals are used in areas 
where rainwater run-off into the canal occurs. 
In addition no direct lighting may illuminate 
the wetlands at night.

Willowbridge is located next to the Elsieskraal 
River. Activities on site are governed by an 
environmental management plan which is 
agreed with the local council. This includes 
regular testing of the quality of water entering 
the river to ensure that specified parameters 
are met. 

Southcoast Mall is surrounded by eco estates 
and wetlands and through its Operational 
Environmental Management Plan is committed 
to minimising pollution and environmental 
harm. 

Conserving scarce resources 

All centres use independent contractor Utilities 
Administration Services to monitor that 
energy savings comply with the requirements 
set by the local councils. Reduction of energy 
usage is a key focus across the company. 

Canal Walk has achieved commendable results 
in its efforts to conserve electricity (see Case 
Study). All other centres have also initiated 
programmes aimed at reducing electricity and 
water consumption. Examples include: 

•		CapeGate	-	conducted	an	electricity	
audit to assess consumption and explore 
ways to minimise consumption. Borehole 
water is used to irrigate the gardens. 

	•		Willowbridge	-	power-factor	correction	
equipment is used onsite and the HVAC 
plant is managed manually to ensure that 
the building is cooled before peak times. 

	•		The	Glen	-	uses	borehole	water	for	the	
toilet system and to water the gardens.

•			Initiatives	to	conserve	resources	are	
being included in The Mall of Rosebank’s 
redevelopment. The centre is currently 
planning for a major refurbishment 
including all electrical, plumbing and 
mechanical reticulation. The new designs 
and rationale are focused on energy 
saving and green design principles where 
possible. 

•			Woodlands	power	factor	correction	
equipment is installed and air-
conditioning plants are managed 
manually to ensure that the building is 
cooled down before peak times. 

COMMuNITY
Hyprop is committed to advancing 
local communities through socio- 
economic development and empowerment 
programmes. This is achieved by efforts of the 
company and individual shopping centres. 

At company level, support of tenants through 
rent reductions and remissions assists the 
economic viability of local businesses in a 
challenging economy. The shopping centres 
often represent a central gathering point in 
the communities in which they operate and 
are active partners in upliftment projects (see 
Corporate Social Investment). 

PREFERENTIAL PROCuREMENT
The company encourages preferential 
procurement and has put in place a programme 
of verifying all supplier B-BBEE certificates. 
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This was achieved through the following initiatives:

•	 	flooding	the	building	with	140C	to	180C	naturally	
cooled air, early in the mornings, which allows 
the start up of the chillers to be delayed by  
90 minutes

•	 	replacing	 3	 500	 fluorescent	 light	 fittings	 with	
more energy-efficient electronic ballasts in the 
parking areas, back passages and mall lighting

•	 	replacing	 150W	Metal	Helide	 lights	on	the	roof	
level parking with energy-efficient high luminous 
low pressure sodium vapour bulbs and 26 w 
CFL’s

•	 	installing	 a	 “lighter”	 green	 roof	 on	 the	 newly	
constructed retail pods, as per the existing 
mall.	The	higher	reflectivity	and	“lighter”	colour	
reduce energy consumption

•	 	Reprogramming	the	Building	Management	System	
to control the chiller and cooling tower 
operating hours and optimise savings by aligning 
running hours with the new Time of Use Tariff 
hours

•	 	installing	 double	 walled	 tinted	 glazing	 on	 the	
retail pods to increase temperature insulation 
and reduce glare and ultra violet ray dispersal 
into the shops

•	 	harvesting	 natural	 daylight	 through	more	 than	 
3 000m2 of skylights and domes, etc.. To increase 
this saving, mall light sensors connected to 
control equipment will be incorporated going 
forward

•	 	upgrading	 the	 computerised	 light	 switching	
system to maximise control

•	 	installing	 a	 monitoring	 system	 directly	
connected to the City Council’s high voltage 
electrical meters, which allows active control 
of Canal walk’s maximum demand and prevents 
exceeding the set value

•	 	variable	fresh	air	supply	through	the	installation	
of economic aircycle handling units at the new 
retail pods

Case study: 

Canal Walk 

Over the past 6 years Canal walk increased 
its GLA by 18%.  However the centre 
has effectively controlled electricity 
consumption and maximum demand, 
recording increases of only 4% and  
2%, respectively.
 

In 2011 Canal walk reduced 
its maximum demand 
to a monthly average of 
11,5MVA, 40% below the 
industry benchmark and 
34% below the SANS 204 
standard. 

 

 Canal Walk CapeGate CANSA shavathon Atterbury blood drive

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT
A variety of different charities and fundraising opportunities were supported by each centre in the Hyprop portfolio during the year: 

Recipient Rand value raised
Canal Walk Total R165 000 

Bel Porto School for disabled children

Book Drive

Community Sponsorships

Intaka Island Environmental programme

School Drive annually benefiting two informal settlement schools

S.M.I.L.E English learning skills programme

St Josephs Home for chronically ill children

SA Medical & Education Foundation

Ubunye Educare centre (Du Noon)

Clearwater Total R400 000

CANSA	(Shavathon;	Stylathon	and	Breat	Cancer	Awareness)

Casual Day

The Gateway Society

The Lions Club Wrapping Stations

Matla A Bana- for abused children 

QASA (The quadriplegic association of South Africa) 

Roodepoort Old Age Home

The Round Table Trolley Race

South African Police (West Rand) 

Solidarity Helping Hands

CapeGate Total R73 000

Animal rescue

CANSA Shavathon 

Carel du Toit Centre for hearing impaired children (CapeGate Race and Christmas wrapping stations)

Casual Day

SAPS

NSRI, WP Blood Transfusion Services, SPCA, Breast Cancer Awareness, SAPS, Doctors without Borders, Cuppa for CANSA

The Glen Total R391 000

CANSA

Johannesburg Care For The Aged Quadriplegics Association Of South Africa, Oliver’s House, Bellavista Crèche, United Services, 
Avril Elizabeth Home

The South African National Blood Service

St Mary’s Children’s Home

South African National Police Services

Community policing
Thusanani Children’s Foundation

Woodlands Total R12 335

ABBA House for babies in crisis

Hyde Park Total R257 500

EWT Trust- The Riverine Rabbit Programme

Johannesburg Child Welfare

Rotary Club of Rosebank (Art Festival) 

South African Ballet Theatre (SABT)

World Chefs Against Hunger

The Mall of Rosebank Total R27 000

Angels in Blue Project

Willowbridge Total R103 000

Madiba Day fundraiser 

The centre donated money to Radio Tygerberg for a children’s development centre to complete a training facility

Proceeds of Carols by Candlelight donated to Shiloh Synergy 

Water Project, Beaufort West 
In response to the water shortage in Beaufort West, the centre delivered 6000l of water to the community 

Western Cape NPO Koi Show 

Total R1 428 835
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Revenue  1 583 157  1 119 048  923 655  781 343  631 148 
Investment property income  1 350 937  984 910  790 568  658 674  589 463 
Straight-line rental income accrual  100 214  14 148  13 318  15 769  15 678 
listed property securities income  132 006  119 990  119 769  106 900  26 008 

property and other operating expenses  (511 681)  (371 932)  (259 380)  (205 209)  (177 585)
net property income  1 071 476  747 116  664 275  576 134  453 563 
other operating expenses  (43 855)  (36 044)  (47 840)  (41 353) (39 651)
net interest  (208 325)  (121 554)  (70 829)  (17 080)  3 664 

received  31 416  7 006  26 931  39 408  85 362 
paid  (239 741)  (128 560)  (97 760)  (56 488)  (81 698)

net operating income  819 296  589 518  545 606  517 701  417 576 
Change in fair value  (212 008)  586 121  583 733  187 091  1 393 060 

Investment property  236 654  517 262  580 121  255 630  1 355 012 
Straight-line rental income accrual  (100 214)  (14 148)  (13 318)  (15 769)  (15 678)
listed property securities  258 716  75 430  32 391  (52 770)  53 726 
Impairment of goodwill  (547 654)
Derivative instruments  (59 510)  7 577  (15 461)

(loss)/surplus on disposal  (9 835)  8 392  25 624 
Investment property  (6 129)  8 392  2 235 
listed property securities  (3 706)  23 389 

Amortisation of debenture premium  231 354  110 810  97 696  85 492  43 088 
Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  953  715  4 139  1 742 
non-core income  4 555  905  905  1 871  2 196 
Income before debenture interest  833 362  1 288 307  1 228 655  774 686  1 883 286 
Debenture interest  (741 703)  (593 024)  (544 851)  (511 629)  (405 018)
net (loss)/income before share of income from associate  91 659  695 283  683 804  263 057  1 478 268 
Share of income/(loss) from associate  9 949  55 201  20 305  (11 799)  66 755 
net income before taxation  101 608  750 484  704 109  251 257  1 545 023 
taxation  (185 639)  (80 696)  (152 084)  100 615  (385 753)
net (loss)/income after taxation  (84 031)  669 788  552 025  351 872  1 159 270 
Investment property at fair value  17 271 864  9 425 626  8 788 928  7 458 847  6 894 379 
Distribution per combined unit (cents)  383 357 328 308  270 

 

FIVE YEAR REVIEw

GOVERNANCE & SuSTAINABILITY
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We declare that, to the best of our 
knowledge, the company has lodged with the 
Registrar of Companies all such returns as are 
required of a public company in terms of the 
South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as 
amended, and that all such returns are true, 
correct and up-to-date.

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) 
Limited

Company Secretary

Johannesburg
28 February 2012

 

The annual financial statements were 
approved by the board and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Pieter Prinsloo   

CEO 

Johannesburg

28 February 2012

AppROvAl OF ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

The annual financial statements set out on 
pages 55 to 94 are the responsibility of the 
directors. They are responsible for selecting 
and adopting sound accounting practices, for 
maintaining an adequate and effective system 
of accounting records, for safeguarding assets 
and for developing and maintaining a system 
of internal control that, among other things, 
will ensure the preparation of annual financial 
statements achieves fair presentation. The 
annual financial statements set out in this 
annual report have been prepared by the 
directors in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. They are 
based on appropriate accounting policies 
which have been consistently applied, unless 

AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

otherwise indicated, and which are supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The annual financial statements have been 
prepared on the going concern basis since 
the directors have every reason to believe 
that the company has adequate resources 
in place to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting 
on these annual financial statements in 
conformity with International Standards on 
Auditing. Their report is set out on page 56 of 
the annual report.

DEClARATION by COmpANy SECRETARy

Laurence Cohen

Financial Director
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INDEpENDENT AUDITOR’S REpORT TO ThE UNIThOlDERS OF 
hypROp INvESTmENTS lImITED AND SUbSIDIARIES

We have audited the group annual financial 
statements and annual financial statements of 
Hyprop Investments Limited and subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated and 
separate statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated 
and separate statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, 
as set out on pages 55 to 94.

Directors’ responsibility for the 
financial statements

The company’s directors are responsible 
for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing. Those standards require that  
we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we  
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial 
position of Hyprop Investments Limited 
and subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011, 
and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate 
cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

GrANT ThorNToN
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

EFG Dreyer
Partner
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor

28 February 2012

Grant Thornton Office Park
137 Daisy Street, Sandown
Johannesburg, 2196
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AUDIT COmmITTEE REpORT

The information below constitutes the report 
of the Audit Committee in respect of the 
year under review. 

During the year the Audit Committee 
comprised independent non-executive 
directors Les Weil (committee chairman),  
Roy McAlpine and Lindie Engelbrecht and 
non-executive director Stewart Shaw-Taylor.  
Lindie Engelbrecht was appointed as 
independent non-executive director 
with effect 20 January 2011 and  
Roy McAlpine resigned with effect  
30 June 2011. Post year-end Gavin Tipper  
was appointed to the board and Audit 
Committee as an independent non-
executive director. As a result Stewart  
Shaw-Taylor stepped down from the 
committee ensuring the committee 
comprises exclusively independent non-
executive directors, in compliance with  
King III requirements and the new Companies 
Act.

A short curriculum vitae for each of these 
directors has been set out on pages 26 to 
27 of the annual report demonstrating their 
relevant skills and experience. 

The committee meets three times a year. 
Attendance of directors is set out on page 
36. Special meetings are convened as 
required. The external auditors and executive 
management are invited to attend every 
meeting. 

The chairman reports to the board on the 
activities and recommendations made by the 
committee.

The Audit Committee is governed by a formal 
charter which codifies the committee’s role 
and responsibilities including the responsibility 
to review accounting, auditing and financial 
reporting matters. The committee ensures an 
effective control environment is maintained 
by assessing adherence to the charter. It 
further assesses adherence to the company’s 
systems of controls and, where necessary, 
recommends and monitors improvements 
during the year. 

The charter is currently being reviewed and 
updated in line with King III requirements and 
the new Companies Act.

In line with new recommendations the Audit 
Committee reviewed this Integrated Report 
to ensure its integrity. 

Responsibility for the monitoring of any 
proposed changes in accounting policies lies 
with the Audit Committee. It further advises 
the board on any accounting implications of 
any major transactions. 

The committee is also responsible for 
reviewing the internal audit function 
and recommending the appointment of  
external auditors for approval by unitholders. 
In addition, it establishes guidelines for 

recommending the use of external auditors for 
non-audit services to ensure independence.

The external auditors provide a report 
to the Audit Committee motivating their 
independence. The committee considered 
the independence of the external auditors, 
Grant Thornton, and was of the view that 
the external auditors were independent of 
the company.

The committee further considered and  
was satisfied with the expertise and 
experience of the company’s Financial 
Director, Laurence Cohen. 

The committee has reviewed and 
recommended for approval to the board the 
entire integrated report, including the annual 
financial statements.
 

Les Weil

Audit Committee Chairman

28 February 2012
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DIRECTORS’ REpORT
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Nature of business

Hyprop is a professionally managed property 
loan stock company listed on the JSE, 
specialising in prime quality shopping 
centres. Hyprop provides investors with the 
opportunity to hold combined units in quality 
retail real estate and distributes all its income 
on a semi-annual basis. The company further 
continues to grow the portfolio through 
acquisitions and developments as and when 
appropriate opportunities arise.

review of activities

The results of the group and the company are 
commented on in the Chairman’s Report and 

2011 Beneficial 2010 Beneficial
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Executive directors
lr Cohen 132 000 124 109
pG prinsloo 295 049 293 737

Non-executive directors
MS Aitken 15 000 25 000 15 000
S Shaw-taylor 8 479 8 479
lI  Weil 21 153 1 953
M Wainer 508 313 * 528 758 *
DH rice^ 4 601 * 1 694 *
l norval 14 619 749 4 856 975
llS van der Watt 6 368 454

Total 14 664 381 12 190 392 25 432 948 298

are set out in the annual financial statements 
on pages 55 to 94.

Capital structure

All combined units comprise one ordinary 
share and one debenture and may only  
be traded on the JSE. The terms and 
conditions governing the debentures 
are contained in the Hyprop Debenture  
Trust Deed.

During the year the share capital of the 
company was converted to shares of no par 
value, and the authorised share capital was 
increased from 200 000 000 to 500 000 000 
ordinary shares. 

*Held via Redefine’s 30.93% interest in Hyprop.
^Resigned 25 November 2011

77 million new combined units were issued 
during the year.

Full particulars regarding the authorised 
and issued share capital at 31 December 2011 
are set out in note 12 to the annual financial 
statements, and full particulars regarding the 
debentures are set out in note 14.

Directors’ interests

The only interests of the directors in  
the combined units of the company at  
31 December 2011 were as follows:

No non-beneficial combined units were held by any of the directors. There have been no changes in the directors’ interests between year-end 
and the date of this report.
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Directorate

PG Prinsloo was appointed to the board  
as CEO from 1 May 2011. L Norval and  
LLS van der Watt were appointed to the 
board as non-executive directors effective 
1 September 2011. M Rodel and DH Rice 
resigned from the board on 3 March 
2011 and 25 November 2011, respectively.  
Having turned 70, R McAlpine retired 
from the board effective 30 June 2011. The 
board thanks Roy, Mike and David for their  
valuable contribution. Post year-end  
GR Tipper was appointed to the board 
effective 8 March 2012.

MS Aitken, EG Dube, L Norval, S Shaw-
Taylor, GR Tipper and LLS van der Watt, 
in accordance with the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation, retire 
at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting, and being eligible they will offer  
themselves for re-election. 

An abridged curriculum vitae for each of the 
directors is set out on pages 26 and 27.

Company secretary

The company secretary is Probity Business 
Services (Pty) Limited. The business and postal 
addresses of the company secretary are set 
out on page 110.

Audit Committee report

The committee has fulfilled its responsibilities 
during the year (refer to the Audit Committee 
Report on page 57 for details in this regard).  
The committee has furthermore satisfied 
itself as to the independence of the external 
auditors and their suitability for reappointment 
for the ensuing year.

Auditors

Grant Thornton will continue in office in 
accordance with part C of section 90 of the 
South African Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, 
as amended.

Directors’ interest in contracts

No material contracts in which the directors 
have an interest were entered into during the 
year, other than the transactions detailed in 
note 34 to the annual financial statements.

Going concern

The directors consider that the group 
and company have adequate resources to 
continue operating for the foreseeable future 
and that it is appropriate to adopt the going-
concern basis in preparing the group and 
company financial statements. The directors 
have satisfied themselves that the group and 
company are in a sound financial position and 
that they have access to sufficient borrowing 
facilities to meet their foreseeable cash 
requirements.

Administration and management

Property management and asset management 
is fully internalised. No property management 
or asset management fees were paid during 
the year. 

Co-owned shopping centres

The results of The Glen, Canal Walk, 
Southcoast Mall and Stoneridge, in which 
the group owns undivided shares of 75,15%, 
80%, 50% and 90%, respectively, have been 
proportionately consolidated in the group 
and company annual financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REpORT CONTINUED

Special resolutions

The following special resolutions were 
passed by unitholders during the year, and 
where necessary have been registered by 
the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission (CIPC):

•	 	Special	 resolutions	 passed	 at	 general	
meeting of unitholders held on  
13 May 2011:

 -  Conversion of shares to no par value 
shares;

 -  Increase in authorised share capital; and
 -  Specific repurchase of combined units.

•	 	Special	resolutions	passed	at	annual	general	
meeting of unitholders held on 28 June 2011:

 -  General authority for acquisition of 
combined units;

 -  Amendment of MOI/ Memorandum 
of Incorporation (all future payments 
to unitholders to be made by way of 
electronic funds transfer); and

 - Approval of directors’ remuneration. 

Johannesburg

28 February 2012
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STATEmENTS OF FINANCIAl pOSITION
AT 31 DECEmbER 2011

Group CompaNy CompaNy CompaNy
2011 2011 2010 2009

restated* restated*
note r000 r000 r000 r000

assETs
 Non-current assets  19 746 691  19 746 407  11 303 054  10 550 405 

Investment property 2  16 957 678  16 957 678  9 224 395  8 601 731 
Development property 2  116 000  116 000  73 674  87 743 
Straight-line rental income accrual 2  283 599  283 599  183 385  169 237 
Building appurtenances and tenant installations 3  35 873  35 647  21 237  20 993 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 4  2 176 173  2 176 173  1 529 268  1 453 838 
Investment in associate 5  117 658   210 055  169 499
Investment in subsidiary 6   12 493   
Goodwill 6  12 493 
loan receivable 8  47 217  164 817  47 813  47 364 
Derivative instruments 16  13 227 

Current assets  327 641  320 937  154 331  258 153 
receivables 9  119 247  118 510  86 584  80 591 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  208 394  202 427  67 747  177 562 

Non-current assets classfied as held-for-sale 11  123 822  123 822 
Total assets  20 198 154  20 191 166  11 457 385  10 808 558 
EquITy aND lIaBIlITIEs
Equity capital and reserves  6 070 107  6 139 637  6 154 138  5 484 350 

Share capital 12  1 661  1 661  1 661  1 661 
retained income  524 530  38 512  14 668  14 946 
non-distributable reserves 13  5 543 916  6 099 464  6 137 809  5 467 743 

lIaBIlITIEs
Non-current liabilities  12 116 277  12 116 075  4 826 690  4 909 093 

Debentures and debenture premium 14  6 359 541  6 359 541  2 447 895  2 558 705 
long-term loans 15  4 191 622  4 191 622  1 490 000  1 550 000 
Derivative instruments 16  44 463  44 463  21 111  12 447 
Financial guarantee for associate      953 
Deferred taxation 17  1 520 651  1 520 449  867 684  786 988 

Current liabilities  2 011 770  1 935 454  476 557  415 115 
payables 19  238 479  232 166  172 570  134 691 
taxation 27  70 003     
Short-term loans 15  1 347 292  1 347 292 
Derivative instruments 16  22 931  22 931  3 015 
Combined unitholders for distribution  333 065  333 065  303 987  277 409 

Total liabilities  14 128 047  14 051 530  5 303 247  5 324 208 
Total equity and liabilities  20 198 154  20 191 166  11 457 385  10 808 558 
Net asset value per combined unit (r)   51,12  51,41  51,78  48,42 
Net asset value per combined unit
 - excluding deferred taxation liability (r)   57,37  57,67  57,01  53,16 

* Refer to note 18
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Group CompaNy CompaNy
restated *

2011 2011 2010
note r000 r000 r000

revenue  1 583 157  1 566 716  1 119 048 
Investment property income  1 350 937  1 334 496  984 910 
Straight-line rental income accrual  100 214  100 214  14 148 
listed property securities income  132 006  132 006  119 990 

property expenses  (511 681)  (496 149)  (371 932)
net property income  1 071 476  1 070 567  747 116 
other operating expenses  (43 855)  (43 855)  (36 044)
operating income  1 027 621  1 026 712  711 072 
net interest  (208 325)  (208 325)  (121 554)
    received 20  31 416  31 416  7 006 
    paid 21  (239 741)  (239 741)  (128 560)

net operating income 23  819 296  818 387  589 518 
Change in fair value  (212 008)  343 540  586 121 

Investment property  236 654  236 654  517 262 
Straight-line rental income accrual  (100 214)  (100 214)  (14 148)
listed property securities  258 716  258 716  75 430 
Investment in subsidiary  6  (17 507)
Goodwill  22  (547 654)  
Surplus on the transfer of listed property securities from subsidiary 25 401
Derivative instruments  16  (59 510)  (59 510)  7 577 

loss on disposal  (9 835)  (9 835) 
Investment property  (6 129)  (6 129)
listed property securities  (3 706)  (3 706)

Amortisation of debenture premium  231 354  231 354  110 810 
Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  953 
non-core income  4 555  4 555  905 
Income before debenture interest and taxation  833 362  1 388 001  1 288 307 
Debenture interest  (741 703)  (741 703)  (593 024)
net income before share of income from associate  91 659  646 298  695 283 
Share of income from associate 5  9 949  9 949  55 201 

Investment property income  9 949  9 949  15 518 
Straight-line rental income accrual  320 
Change in fair value of investment property  39 363 

net income before taxation  101 608  656 247  750 484 
taxation 27  (185 639)  (670 748)  (80 696)

Capital gains taxation  (70 003)
Security transfer taxation  (17 983)  (17 983)
Deferred taxation  (97 653)  (652 765)  (80 696)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (84 031)  (14 501)  669 788 
Basic and diluted earnings per combined unit (cents) 28  342,4  720,0 
Headline earnings per combined unit (cents) 28  406,3  425,6 
Distributable earnings per combined unit (cents) 28  383,6  356,9 

* Refer to note 18

STATEmENTS OF COmpREhENSIvE INCOmE
AT 31 DECEmbER 2011
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STATEmENTS OF ChANGES IN EQUITy
AT 31 DECEmbER 2011

Group non-
Share distributable retained

capital reserve income total
r000 r000 r000 r000

Balance at 31 December 2008  1 661  4 231 199  14 322  4 247 182 
restatement of prior period balances  685 143  685 143 
total comprehensive income for the year (restated)  552 025  552 025 
net transfer to non-distributable reserve  551 401  (551 401)
Balance at 31 December 2009  1 661  5 467 743  14 946  5 484 350 
total comprehensive income for the year (restated)  669 788  669 788 
net transfer to non-distributable reserve  670 066  (670 066)
Balance at 31 December 2010  1 661  6 137 809  14 668  6 154 138 
total comprehensive income for the year  (84 031)  (84 031)
net transfer to non-distributable reserve  (593 893)  593 893 
Balance at 31 December 2011  1 661  5 543 916  524 530  6 070 107 

CompaNy

Share
capital

r000

non-
distributable

reserve
r000

retained
income

r000
total
r000

Balance at 31 December 2008  1 661  4 231 199  14 322  4 247 182 
restatement of prior period balances  685 143  685 143 
total comprehensive income for the year (restated)  552 025  552 025 
net transfer to non-distributable reserve  551 401  (551 401)
Balance at 31 December 2009  1 661  5 467 743  14 946  5 484 350 
total comprehensive income for the year (restated)  669 788  669 788 
net transfer to non-distributable reserve  670 066  (670 066)
Balance at 31 December 2010  1 661  6 137 809  14 668  6 154 138 
total comprehensive income for the year  (14 501)  (14 501)
net transfer to non-distributable reserve  (38 345)  38 345 
Balance at 31 December 2011  1 661  6 099 464  38 512  6 139 637 
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Group CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

note r000 r000 r000
Cash flows from operating activities  (47 668)  39 243  62 608 

Cash generated from operations 29.2  879 947  966 858  735 963 
Interest received  31 416  31 416  7 006 
Interest paid  (239 741)  (239 741)  (128 560)
Income from associate  11 318  11 318  14 645 
taxation paid  (17 983)  (17 983)
Distribution to Hyprop combined unitholders 29.3  (712 625)  (712 625)  (566 446)

Cash flows from investing activities  (4 420 886)  (8 096 477)  (112 423)
Acquisition of and additions to investment property  (124 606)  (7 875 104)  (111 974)
Acquisition of business combination 29.4  (4 371 461)
proceeds on disposal of investment property  84 728  84 728 
net proceeds - associates  (17 497)  (17 497)

loan to  Mantrablox (pty) ltd (117 600) (117 600)
Sale of investment in VpIF 100 103 100 103

Acquisition of subsidiary  (30 000)
Acquisition of listed property securities  (266 554)
loan advanced  7 950  7 950  (449)

Cash flows from financing activities  4 609 201  8 191 914  (60 000)
Increase in share capital and debentures  4 143 000  4 143 000 
Increase/(decrease) in (long-term and short-term) loans  466 201  4 048 914  (60 000)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  140 647  134 680  (109 815)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  67 747  67 747  177 562 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10  208 394  202 427  67 747 

STATEmENTS OF CASh FlOWS
AT 31 DECEmbER 2011
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS 
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

1.5 Associates

An associate is an enterprise over which the 
company is in a position to exercise significant 
influence, through participation in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of 
the investee, but does not have control nor 
joint control over these policies.

The investment is initially recorded at cost and 
the carrying amount is adjusted to recognise 
the investor’s share of the post-acquisition 
profits or losses of the investee after the date 
of acquisition, as well as distributions received 
and any adjustments that are required. Such 
amounts are recognised in the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income.

The results and assets and liabilities of 
associates are incorporated in the financial 
statements using the equity method of 
accounting.

1.6 Investment property

Investment property is initially recognised 
at cost including transaction costs. Cost 
includes initial costs as well as costs incurred 
subsequently to extend or refurbish 
investment property.

Investment property is subsequently 
measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising 
from changes in fair value are included in net 
profit or loss for the period in which they 
arise. These gains or losses are transferred to 
non-distributable reserves in the Statement 
of Changes in Equity.

Realised gains or losses arising on the disposal 
of investment properties are recognised in net 
profit or loss for the year and transferred to 
non-distributable reserves in the Statement 
of Changes in Equity.

1.7  Investment property under 
development

Investment property under development is 
recorded at fair value. 

1.8  Investment property held-for-
sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups 
comprising assets and liabilities, that are 
expected to be recovered primarily through 
sale rather than through continuing use, 

1.  ACCoUNTING PoLICIES AND 
PrESENTATIoN oF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the AC 
500 standards issued by the Accounting 
Practices Board, the South African Companies 
Act, No 71 of 2008 as amended and related 
regulations and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The annual financial statements have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for the measurement of investment 
properties, investment property classified as 
held-for-sale and certain financial instruments 
which have been disclosed at fair value and 
incorporate the principal accounting policies 
set out below. 

Fair value adjustments do not affect the 
calculation of distributable earnings, but have 
an effect on the net asset value per combined 
unit to the extent that such adjustments are 
made to the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities.

Other than the change in accounting policy 
disclosed in note 18 to the annual financial 
statements, these accounting policies are 
consistent with those applied in the previous 
year.

Various new accounting standards, or 
revisions to current accounting standards, 
have been issued with effective dates 
applicable to future financial statements. 
Refer to note 38 for further information.

1.1 Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements comprise the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, 
expenses and cash flows of the group and all 
entities controlled by the group. The results 
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in the consolidated 
financial statement from the date of 
acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

All intercompany transactions, unrealised 
profits and balances between group 
enterprises are eliminated on consolidation.

In terms of the co-ownership agreements 
for Canal Walk, The Glen, Stoneridge and 
Southcoast Mall, material capital expenditure 
requires mutual consent of the co-owners. 
In view of the significant increases in 
development costs, most of the capital 
expenditure now being undertaken is 
material and accordingly these centres are 
not considered to be solely controlled by 
Hyprop. The interests in these centres has 
therefore been proportionately consolidated 
and reflect Hyprop’s share of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure. 

1.2  Accounting for business 
combinations

All business combinations are accounted for 
by applying the acquisition method in terms 
of IFRS 3. 

The group measures goodwill as the fair value 
of the consideration transferred including the 
recognised amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree, less the net 
recognised amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured 
as at the acquisition date.

1.3 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the group 
has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the entities so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights that are 
presently exercisable or convertible are taken 
into account.

In the separate financial statements of the 
company, investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for at cost and adjusted for 
impairment is applicable.

1.4 Joint ventures

The investment in a joint venture is accounted 
for using the proportionate consolidation 
method. Under the proportionate 
consolidation method the attributable  
share of each of the assets, liabilities, income, 
expenses and cash flows of such investments 
is combined line by line with similar  
items in the financial statements. The use of 
proportionate consolidation is discontinued 
from the date on which the company  
ceases to have joint control over the  
entity.
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are classified as held-for-sale. Investment 
property classified as held-for-sale is 
measured in accordance with IAS 40 
Investment property at fair value with gains 
and losses on subsequent measurement 
being recognised in profit or loss.

1.9  Building appurtenances and 
tenant installations

Building appurtenances and tenant 
installations are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation 
is provided on all building appurtenances and 
tenant installations to write down the cost, 
less residual value, by equal instalments over 
their useful lives as follows:
•	 	tenant	installations	-	period	of	lease;	and
•		 	building	appurtenances	 -	 three	 to	 seven	

years.

1.10. Financial instruments

1.10.1 Initial recognition and 
measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised on the Statements of Financial 
Position when the group becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group classifies financial instruments, or 
their component parts, on initial recognition 
as a financial asset, a financial liability or an 
equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value through profit or loss.

1.10.2 Subsequent measurement

1.10.2.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and are subject to 
insignificant risk of change in value. Cash and 
cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Interest earned on cash invested with financial 
institutions is recognised on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest method.

1.10.2.2 Receivables

Trade and other receivables are carried 
at amortised cost less any accumulated 
impairments. Doubtful debts are written off 
to profit or loss during the year in which they 
are identified. 

Short-term receivables are measured at 
original invoice amount when the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 

1.10.2.3 Trade payables

Trade and other payables are recognised at 
cost and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. 

Short-term payables are measured at 
original invoice amount when the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

1.10.2.4 Long-term loans

Long-term loans are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

1.10.2.5 Listed property securities

Listed property securities are classified at 
fair value through profit or loss and are, 
accordingly, subsequently measured at 
fair value less the accrual for distributions 
receivable. This accrual is included in 
receivables. No deduction is made for 
transaction costs which may be incurred on 
sale or other disposal. Gains or losses are 
transferred to non-distributable reserves in 
the Statement of Changes in Equity.

1.10.2.6 Derivative instruments

The entity uses derivative financial instruments 
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk 
arising from its financing activities. Derivative 
instruments are adjusted to fair value at each 
reporting date and have been designated by 
the group as instruments accounted for at fair 
value through profit and loss. Gains or losses 
are transferred to non-distributable reserves 
in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

1.10.2.7 Debentures

Debentures are designated as financial 
liabilities measured at amortised cost. The 
debenture premium is amortised over the 
period in which the debentures will be repaid. 

The portion recorded in profit and loss for 
the amortisation of debentures is added back 
for distribution purposes.

1.11 Intangible assets

1.11.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a 
business and represents the excess of the cost 
of the acquisition over the groups’ interest in 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. 

Where the net recognised amount of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed exceeds the fair value of the 
consideration transferred, this excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses.

1.12 revenue

Revenue includes operating lease income 
and operating expense recoveries from 
investment properties: 

•	 		Operating	 lease	 income	 is	 recognised	as	
income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

•	 	Turnover	 rental	 is	 recognised	 in	 revenue	
when the amounts can be reliably 
measured. 

•	 	Interest	 received	 from	 listed	 property	
securities is recognised on an accrual 
basis. 

•	 		Other	interest	income	is	recognised	as	it	
accrues, using the effective interest rate 
method.

1.13 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or construction of a 
qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the 
cost of that asset until such time as the asset 
is substantially ready for its intended use.

The amount of borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation is the actual borrowing costs 
incurred on funds specifically borrowed in 
respect of the qualifying asset. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment 
of borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing cost capitalised. Capitalisation 
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

ceases when substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for 
its intended use are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

1.14 Impairment 

Financial assets are assessed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any 
evidence of impairment. A financial asset 
is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events 
have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flow of that asset. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.15 Taxation

1.15.1 Current liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, 
to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability.

Current tax liabilities for the current and 
prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities, 
using the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

1.15.2 Deferred tax liability and asset

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
recognised to the extent that they arise from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction which, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax on the fair value adjustment 
of investment property and listed property 
securities has been provided for using the 
capital gains tax rates, based on the manner 
in which each asset is expected to be realised 
to the extent that there are insufficient tax 
losses to cover such charge.

1.15.3 Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as 
income or an expense and included in profit 
or loss for the period. 

1.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

1.17 Segment reporting

On a primary basis the operations are 
organised into three major business segments 
- retail, office and listed property securities.

1.18 Key estimations and 
uncertainties

Estimates and assumptions are an integral 
part of financial reporting and as such have 
an impact on the amounts reported for 
the group’s income, expenses, assets and 
liabilities. Judgement in these areas is based 
on historical experience and reasonable 
expectations relating to future events.

Information on the key estimations and 
uncertainties that have the most significant 
effect on amounts recognised are set out in 
the following notes to the annual financial 
statements:

•	 	Accounting	 policy	 notes	 -	 notes	 1.6,	 1.7,	
1.10, 1.11, 1.14 and 1.15

•	 Investment	property	valuation	-	note	2.5
•	 	Valuation	 of	 financial	 assets	 held	 at	

fair value through profit and loss (listed 
property securities) - note 4

•	 Impaired	receivables	–	note	9
•	 Deferred	taxation	-	note	17	and	18
•	 Goodwill	–	note	22
•	 Taxation	-	note	27
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Group CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

r000 r000 r000

INVESTMENT ProPErTY
2.1 Net carrying value
Historical cost  11 270 158  11 270 158  3 450 522 
revaluation surplus  5 925 520  5 925 520  5 847 547 
Development property  (116 000)  (116 000)  (73 674)
Assets classified as held-for-sale  (122 000)  (122 000)

 16 957 678  16 957 678  9 224 395 
2.2 movement for the year  
Investment property at valuation 1 January  9 224 395  9 224 395  8 601 731 
Capital expenditure  7 841 486  7 841 486  97 360 
Change in fair value  236 654  236 654  517 262 
Disposals  (90 530)  (90 530)
Interest capitalised  10 213  10 213  8 121 
Straight-line rental income accrual  (100 214)  (100 214)  (14 148)
Development property  (42 326)  (42 326)
transfer from development property
Change in fair value of development property  14 069 
transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale  (122 000)  (122 000)
Investment property at valuation 31 December  16 957 678  16 957 678  9 224 395 
2.3 reconciliation to independent valuation
Investment property at valuation  16 957 678  16 957 678  9 224 395 
Straight-line rental income accrual  283 599  283 599  183 385 
Building appurtenances and tenant installations  38 646  38 646  21 237 
Centre management assets  (8 059)  (8 059)  (3 391)
Independent valuation  17 271 864  17 271 864  9 425 626 
Capitalisation rate used to determine interest capitalised 9,2% 9,2% 9,4%

Included in Investment property is property under leasehold in respect of Willowbridge north.
the lessor is transnet ltd and the lease term runs until 30 June 2033.

2.4 Investment property pledged as security
the following properties have been pledged as security by means of mortgage bonds (note 15): 

To The standard Bank of south africa limited to secure borrowing facilities totaling r1,4 billion.

1.  A 75,15% undivided share in erf 50 Gleneagles extension 2 (the Glen)
2.  A 40% undivided share in erf 5958 Montague Gardens, City of Cape town (Canal Walk)

Hyprop’s share of the market value of these properties at year-end was r4,1 billion.

To rand merchant Bank (a division of Firstrand Bank limited) to secure borrowing facilities totaling r1,3 billion.

A 40% undivided share in erf 5958 Montague Gardens, City of Cape town. (Canal Walk)
Hyprop’s share of the market value of this property at year-end was r 2,4 billion. 

2.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
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Group CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

r000 r000 r000

3.1 Cost

Building appurtenances  47 077  46 812  50 817 
tenant installations  51 111  51 111  33 895 

 98 188  97 923  84 712 
3.2 accumulated depreciation
Building appurtenances  32 422  32 383  36 732 
tenant installations  29 893  29 893  26 743 

 62 315  62 276  63 475 
3.3 Net carrying value
Building appurtenances  14 655  14 429  14 085 
tenant installations  21 218  21 218  7 152 

 35 873  35 647  21 237 
3.4 movement for the year
net carrying value 1 January  21 237  21 237  20 993 
Capital expenditure  23 524  23 259  6 492 
Disposals  (470)  (470)
Classified as held-for-sale  (705)  (705)
Depreciation  (7 713)  (7 674)  (6 248)
net carrying value 31 December  35 873  35 647  21 237 

3.

To Nedbank limited to secure borrowing facilities totaling r2,9 billion.
   
erven 17792,17793,17794,17052,17053,17054,17055,17056, 18738 Brackenfell (CapeGate Shopping Centre)   
erf 3772, Faerie Glen, ext 15 (Atterbury Value Mart)   
erf 929, Strubensvallei, ext 12 (Clearwater Mall)  
portions 498 of the Farm Garsfontein 374 Jr (Woodlands) 
erf 1590 ext 5, erf 1591 ext 22, erf 1709 ext 23, erf 1712 ext 35, pretoriuspark (Woodlands) 
erf 38722, Bellville (Willowbridge South)   
   
the market value of these properties at year-end was r6, 9 billion. 
  
2.5 Investment property valuation   

Investment property is reflected at valuation at year-end. It is the policy of the group to obtain an independent valuation of the investment property portfolio on a six 
monthly basis.

Development property is valued by management by applying a current market value per bulk square metre to a basket of rights (in GlA) applicable to the property. 

the portfolio was valued at r 17,4 billion at 31 December 2011, excluding minority interests, by the Valuation Division of old Mutual Investment Group South Africa led by 
the Valuation Manager trevor King (BSc DipSurv MrICS, Valuer), professional Valuer (SA), Member of the South African Institute of Valuers, Chartered Valuation Surveyor and 
Associate of the royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (uK), using the Discounted Cash Flow method. the directors confirm that there have been no material changes to 
the information used and assumptions applied by the registered valuer. the average annualised portfolio yield produced by the valuer was 7,49%. the average annualised yield 
range produced across all properties was 6,97% to 10,71%.  

BUILDING APPUrTENANCES AND TENANT INSTALLATIoNS
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 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

note  r000  r000  r000 

 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIr VALUE  
ThroUGh ProFIT AND LoSS 
(lIsTED propErTy sECurITIEs)

Carrying value at beginning of year
Sycom  1 529 268  1 529 268  1 453 838 

Acquisitions during the year  291 955  291 955 
Sycom  197 739  197 739 
Acucap  94 216  94 216 

listing of Vunani - transfer from investment in associate 5  96 235  96 235 
Fair value adjustment during the year  258 715  258 715  75 430 

Sycom  252 750  252 750  75 430 
Acucap  3 041  3 041 
Vunani  2 924  2 924 

Carrying value at end of year  2 176 173  2 176 173  1 529 268 
Sycom  1 979 757  1 979 757  1 529 268 
Acucap  97 257  97 257 
Vunani  99 159  99 159 

Hyprop's % interest: –
Sycom - 84 225 688 units (2010: 75 328 391 units) 39,0% 39,0% 34,8%
Acucap - 2 610 430 units 1,5% 1,5%
Vunani - 14 198 976 units 11,8% 11,8%

these investments have been accounted for as investments rather than equity accounted, since Hyprop does not exercise significant influence over Sycom, Acucap or Vunani. 
In particular, Hyprop does not have representation on the board of these companies and does not participate in any policy-making processes of the respective companies.

the fair values of these investments is based on the closing price on the JSe at 31 December 2011, less an accrual for distributions, which is included in receivables.

the Sycom units have been pledged as security for the rand Merchant Bank loan facility (note 15).

4.



Hyprop AnnuAl report 201170

NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

note  r000  r000  r000 

INVESTMENT IN ASSoCIATES

Vunani property Investment Fund (pty) ltd ("VpIF")

Cost of investment  70 995  70 995  70 995 
Financial guarantee  7 548  7 548  7 548 
loan advanced  7 355  7 355  7 355 
Share of post-acquisition profits  134 106  134 106  124 157 

Investment property income  12 631  12 631  2 682 
Straight-line rental income accrual  4 030  4 030  4 030 
Fair value adjustment to investment property  112 660  112 660  112 660 
profit on disposal of investment property  4 785  4 785  4 785 

Disposal of units  (123 769)  (123 769)
listing of VpIF - transfer of remaining investment to listed property securities  4  (96 235)  (96 235)

Closing balance (Directors' valuation) Nil Nil  210 055 

During August 2011 VpIF listed on the JSe and Hyprop sold 14 198 976 of its units concurrently with the listing, representing 50% of its interest in VpIF. At year-end Hyprop owned 
14 198 976 units in VpIF. on listing, the investment was reclassified as a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss.

the following represents a summary of the financial information of VpIF at 31 December 2010:
Investment property income  104 237 
net property income  31 160 
Fair value of investment property  776 522 
total assets  795 493 
total debt (excludes debentures)  290 565 

mantrablox (pty) ltd
loan advanced  117 600 
(refer to note 8)

Details in respect of Mantrablox (pty) ltd are as follows:
principle activity - property investment
place of incorporation - South Africa
ownership interest - 20%
the following represents a summary of the financial information of Mantrablox (pty) ltd at 31 December 2011:

total assets  938 980 
total liabilities  922 851 
net assets  16 129 
Group's share of associate's net assets  3 226 
total revenue of associate  33 615 
total profit for the period of associate  16 128 

It's Called advertising (pty) ltd*  58 
Total investment in associates  117 658 210 055

*  A graphic design and advertising company, 40% owned by Word4Word Marketing (Pty) Ltd. Word4Word Marketing (Pty) Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Hyprop - refer to note 6.

5.
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 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

note  r000  r000  r000 

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIArY
Word4Word marketing (pty) ltd
Goodwill allocated to Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd/Investment in Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd  30 436  30 000 
Goodwill impaired (refer to note 22)/Impairment in subsidiary (17 943)  (17 507)

Balance after impairment (Directors' valuation)  12 493  12 493 

the subsidiary is wholly-owned, controlled by the company and registered in the republic of South Africa.

the group tests goodwill annually for impairments. the valuation of Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd was determined using the discounted cash flow method. the future cash 
flows were discounted at 16%, with an assumed annual growth of 8%. 

 INVESTMENT IN JoINT VENTUrES

the following represents a summary of Hyprop's undivided share in co-owned shopping centres at year-end:
Canal Walk - 80%

Carrying value of investment property  4 880 000  4 880 000  4 556 000 
Current assets  46 517  46 517  43 890 
Current liabilities  44 353  44 353  51 834 
Investment property income  423 566  423 566  387 810 
expenses  (122 251)  (122 251)  (111 348)
net property income  301 315  301 315  276 462 

The Glen - 75.15%
Carrying value of investment property  1 623 365  1 623 365  1 535 433 

Current assets  25 045  25 045  11 944 
Current liabilities  25 285  25 285  27 133 
Investment property income  178 087  178 087  163 328 
expenses  (65 160)  (65 160)  (60 232)
net property income  112 927  112 927  103 096 

southcoast - 50%
Carrying value of investment property  122 000  122 000  129 500 
Current assets  944  944  1 451 
Current liabilities  829  829  1 336 
Investment property income  20 968  20 968  21 600 
expenses  (9 402)  (9 402)  (8 228)
net property income  11 566  11 566  13 372 

stoneridge - 90%
Carrying value of investment property  370 800  370 800  407 700 
Current assets  26 188  26 188  4 651 
Current liabilities  23 014  23 014  15 608 
Investment property income  58 339  58 339  49 523 
expenses  (32 545)  (32 545)  (21 971)
net property income  25 794  25 794  27 552 

6.

7.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

note  r000  r000  r000 

 LoAN rECEIVABLE
portion 113 Weltevreden (pty) ltd, a company associated with 
abland (pty) ltd ("abland")  47 217  47 217  47 813 
the above loan is repayable on 23 September 2013, bears interest at a rate linked to the three month JIBAr rate 
which is payable monthly in arrears. 
the loan was advanced to Abland in 2008 to facilitate the acquisition by Abland of its 10% interest in Stoneridge.

mantrablox (pty) ltd  117 600 
the above loan is repayable on 31 August 2013, bears interest at 8,5%, payable monthly in arrears on the last business 
day of every month.

the loan was advanced to Mantrablox (pty) ltd, which is 80% owned by Atterbury Investment Holding (pty) ltd, on  
1 September 2011, to facilitate the sale of Garden route Mall by Attfund retail to Mantrablox (pty) ltd. At year-end 
Hyprop owned 20% of the issued shares in Mantrablox (pty) ltd.

Atterbury Investments Holdings ltd has a call option to purchase Hyprop’s 20% share in  Mantrablox (pty) ltd from 
Hyprop on 31 August 2013.

 47 217  164 817  47 813 

rECEIVABLES
rent receivable  54 959  54 959  50 051 
Allowance for doubtful debts  (27 843)  (27 843)  (15 694)
listed in property securities - accrued distribution  40 777  40 777  31 536 
other receivables  51 354  50 617  20 691 

 119 247  118 510  86 584 
ageing of receivables past due but not impaired
30 days  5 168  5 168  7 062 
60 days  2 288  2 288  3 068 
90 + days  10 665  10 665  8 637 
total  18 121  18 121  18 767 
ageing of impaired receivables
30 days  2 355  2 355  3 201 
60 days  1 889  1 889  2 399 
90 + days  20 404  20 404  6 848 

 24 648  24 648  12 448 

CASh AND CASh EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and cash  208 394  202 427  67 747 

8.

9.

10.
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 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

NoN-CUrrENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS hELD-For-SALE

southcoast mall 

the assets and liabilities of Southcoast Mall are reflected at the lower of fair value less cost to sell or the carrying 
amount and represent Hyprop’s 50% undivided share in the underlying balances:
assets  124 687 124 687 
Investment property, building appurtenance and tenant installation  122 706  122 706 
trade receivables  759  759 
Cash and cash equivalents  1 222  1 222 

liabilities
trade and other payables  (865)  (865) 

 123 822  123 822 

Subsequent to year-end Hyprop sold its 50% undivided share in Southcoast Mall to redefine for r108,5 million. the effective date of the disposal will be the transfer date, 
which is anticipated to be in July 2012.

 Group CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

ShArE CAPITAL
authorised
500 000 000 no par value ordinary shares (2010: 200 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each)
Issued
243 113 169 no par value ordinary shares (2010: 166 113 169 ordinary shares of 1 cent each)  1 661  1 661  1 661 

the authorised share capital was increased to 500 000 000 during the year and the shares were converted into no par value shares.

11.

12.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010 2009

restated * restated *
 r000  r000 r000 r000

NoN-DISTrIBUTABLE rESErVES

realised surplus on disposal of investment properties  146 749  146 749  146 749  146 749 
realised surplus on disposal of listed property securities  111 096  111 096  171 783  171 783 
revaluation of investment property  4 847 672  4 847 672  5 227 562  4 780 437 
revaluation of listed property securities  315 775  315 775  93 280  28 410 
revaluation of derivative instruments  (67 394)  (67 394)  (7 883)  (15 462)
Amortised debenture premium  616 299  616 299  384 945  274 135 
non-distributable reserves of associate (VpIF)  121 373  121 373  121 373  81 691 
Impairment of investment in subsidiary (Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd)  (17 507)
Impairment of goodwill  (547 654)  25 401 

 5 543 916  6 099 464  6 137 809  5 467 743 
* Refer to note 18

DEBENTUrES AND DEBENTUrE PrEMIUM
243 113 169 (2010: 166 113 169) unsecured unsubordinated 
variable rate debentures of 493 cents each  1 198 548  1 198 548  818 938 
premium on debentures  5 160 993  5 160 993  1 628 957 
 - upon issue of combined units  5 777 291  5 777 291  2 013 902 
 - Debenture premium amortised  (616 298)  (616 298)  (384 945)

 6 359 541  6 359 541  2 447 895 

In terms of the Hyprop Debenture trust Deed, interest on the debentures is calculated in accordance with a distributable income formula. the right of redemption may 
be exercised only by special resolution of the debenture holders passed within 90 days after 25 January 2013 or every 10th anniversary thereafter. the debentures are 
redeemable at their par value on the last Friday in December of the fifth year after which the debenture special resolution is passed. the Hyprop Debenture trust Deed is 
available for inspection by combined unitholders or their duly authorised agents at the registered office of the company. 

During the year, 77 000 000 new debentures were issued as part settlement for the shares in Attfund retail. refer to note 33.

13.

14.
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 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

INTErEST-BEArING BorroWINGS
15.1  long term
15.1.1 Nedbank limited
loan 1  702 107  702 107 
loan 2  962 106  962 106 
loan 3  1 229 409  1 229 409 
the total available facility in respect of the above loans is r3,87 billion. the loans bear  
interest at prime less 1,8%.  

the loans are repayable as follows:
loan 1: April 2015
loan 2: August 2016
loan 3: June 2018

r2,25 billion of the above loans are fixed in terms of interest rate swaps as follows:
start date maturity date all-in rate

r 500 million Jan 2012 Jan 2016 8,59%
r 500 million Jan 2012 Jan 2017 8,80%
r 500 million oct 2011 oct 2017 8,82%

r 500 million Sept 2011 Sept 2018 8,93%
r 250 million Feb 2012 Feb 2016 8,29%

 2 893 622  2 893 622 
15.1.2  rand merchant Bank (a division of Firstrand Bank limited)
Fixed  200 000  200 000  200 000 
Floating  50 000 
the loan is repayable in September 2014. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears.

the interest rate is fixed in respect of r200 million until September 2014 at an all-in average rate of 10,11%.

the above facility is secured by a pledge of 75 382 391 Sycom units. the Sycom units were valued at  
year-end at r1,80 billion.

 200 000  200 000  250 000 
Floating  648 000  648 000 

Hyprop entered into a r810 million facility during october 2011 to facilitate the repurchase of 15 million Attfund 
retail consideration units.

the loan bears interest at JIBAr plus 160 basis points and is repayable in September 2016.

the facility is secured by a 40% undivided share in erf 5958 Montagu Gardens, City of Cape town (Canal Walk).

Subsequent to year-end, r200 million of this facility was fixed for four years at an all-in rate of 8,14%.

15.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 
15.1.3.   The standard Bank of south africa limited
Fixed  450 000  450 000  450 000 
Hyprop entered into a r500 million loan facility with the Standard Bank of South Africa limited in January 2009.  
the loan is repayable on 31 october 2013.  Interest is payable quarterly in arrears.

the loan is secured in terms of first mortgage bonds over fixed properties and a cession of leases.

r450 million of this facility is fixed until october 2013 at an all-in rate of 9,40%.

Fixed 700 000 (1)
Floating 90 000 (2)

the market value of the bonded properties for all of Hyprop’s facilities with Standard Bank at year-end was  
r4,0 billion. (Hyprop’s share of the Glen and 40% of Canal Walk).

Total long-term interest-bearing borrowings 4 191 622 4 191 622 1 490 000

15.2.  short term
15.2.1. The standard Bank of south africa limited

Fixed  700 000  700 000  (1)
the loan is secured in terms of first mortgage bonds over fixed properties and a cession of leases.
this loan comprises a r900 million facility of which r700 million is fixed and r200 million is floating. At year-end, 
the total facility amounting to r900 million was extended for five months to take advantage of low short-term 
rates. the loan is repayable on 31 May 2012. A portion of the loan may be replaced during 2012 with debt capital 
market funding.

the following fixed interest rate agreements/interest rate swaps were in place throughout the year:
r300 million at 9,66% - expiry date november 2012
r100 million at 9,74% - expiry date August 2015
r100 million at 9,50% - expiry date november 2019
r50 million at 9,67% - expiry date May 2017
r50 million at 10,24% - expiry date May 2017
r100 million at 10,18% - expiry date november 2015

effective January 2012, the fixed interest rate agreements/interest rate swaps were amended as follows:  
r300 million at 9,55% - expiry date november 2012    
r100 million at 8,79% - expiry date August 2015    
r100 million at 8,54% - expiry date november 2019    
r50 million at 8,73% - expiry date May 2017    
r50 million at 8,73% - expiry date May 2017    
r100 million at 8,95% - expiry date november 2015    

Interest is payable quarterly in arrears.

Floating  200 000  200 000 (2)
Interest is payable monthly in arrears. the interest rate is 1 month JIBAr plus a margin.

 900 000  900 000 

these loans with Standard Bank were included in long-term interest-bearing borrowings at 
31 December 2010. Detail more fully disclosed in note 15.2.1. below.}
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 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

15.2.2.  rand merchant Bank (a division of Firstrand Bank limited) 
Floating  447 292  447 292 
Hyprop entered into the bridge loan facility to facilitate the purchase of Attfund retail. this loan was repayable  
on 29 February 2012.  Subsequent to year-end, the loan was extended to 31 August 2012. 
Interest is payable at 75 basis points above 1 month JIBAr and is compounded monthly in arrears.

Total short-term interest-bearing borrowings  1 347 292  1 347 292  
At year-end the average rate in respect of total debt was 8.2 %, increasing to 8.3% from February 2012.
15.3.  Borrowing powers
In terms of its MoI, the borrowing powers of the company, excluding the debentures, are limited to 55% of the 
directors’ bona fide valuation of the group’s property portfolio.

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

DErIVATIVE INSTrUMENTS
Derivative instruments comprise fixed interest rate agreements and interest rate swaps. 
opening balance as at 1 January  7 884  7 884  15 461 
Fair value adjustment  59 510  59 510  (7 577)
Closing balance  67 394  67 394  7 884 

The standard Bank of south africa limited:
Asset:
long term Cancellable interest rate swap  10 671 

Fixed interest rate agreement  2 556 
liabilities:
long term Cancellable interest rate swap  35 623  35 623  21 111 
Short term Fixed interest rate agreement  8 238  8 238 
Nedbank limited:
liabilities:
long term Interest rate swap  8 840  8 840 
Short term Interest rate swap  14 693  14 693 

 67 394  67 394  7 884 

reconciliation to the balance sheet:
non-current assets 13 227
non-current liabilities 44 463 44 463 21 111
Current liabilities 22 931 22 931

67 394 67 394 7 884

Valuation of the derivative instruments was determined by discounting the future cash flows using the JIBAr swap curve.  

the designation of such instruments has been further disclosed in note 37.

16.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny

2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

DEFErrED TAXATIoN
Change in fair value of investment property  1 358 820  1 358 820  799 887 
Change in fair value of listed property securities  58 662  58 662  15 229 
tenant installations and building appurtenances  90 636  90 636  69 252 
taxation loss  (61 828)  (61 828)  (56 987)
Straight-line rental income accrual  79 408  79 408  51 348 
Income received in advance  (12 051)  (12 051)  (6 731)
other temporary differences  7 004  6 802  (4 314)

 1 520 651  1 520 449  867 684 
reconciliation of the movement in deferred taxation liability:
opening balance 1 January  867 684  867 684  786 988 
Change in fair value of investment property  558 933  558 933  70 416 
Change in fair value of listed property securities  43 433  43 433  10 560 
tenant installations and building appurtenances  21 384  21 384  18 034 
taxation loss  (4 841)  (4 841)  (19 258)
Straight-line rental income accrual  28 060  28 060  3 961 
Income received in advance  (5 320)  (5 320)  (1 967)
other temporary differences  11 318  11 116  (1 050)
Closing balance  1 520 651  1 520 449  867 684 

Deferred tax has been calculated at 14% on revaluation of investment properties, straightlining of leases and investment properties held-for-sale.
In this regard, refer to further disclosure in note 18 to the annual financial statements.

17.
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 prior year 
 2010 

r000

 restatement 
 2010 

r000

 restated prior 
year 

 2010 
r000

statement of comprehensive Income
taxation  147 496  (66 800)  80 696 

statement of financial position
non-distributable reserve  5 385 866  751 942  6 137 808 
retained income  14 668  14 668 
Deferred tax liabilities  1 619 627  (751 942)  867 685 

 7 020 161  7 020 161 

 prior year 
 

2009 
r000

 restatement 

 2009 
r000

 restated prior 
year 

 2009 
r000

statement of financial position
non-distributable reserve  4 782 600  685 143  5 467 743 
retained income  14 946  14 946 
Deferred tax liabilities  1 472 131  (685 143)  786 988 

6 269 677 6 269 677

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

PAYABLES

trade creditors and accrued expenses  50 909  50 909  121 425 
tenant deposits  28 759  28 759  22 499 
Gift vouchers  1 388  1 388  922 
Interest payable  44 106  44 106  13 454 
other payables  113 317  107 004  14 270 

 238 479  232 166  172 570 

INTErEST rECEIVED
From positive bank balances  31 416  31 416  7 006 

INTErEST PAID

long-term loans  249 955  249 955  136 681 
Capitalised  (10 214)  (10 214)  (8 121)

 239 741  239 741  128 560 

rESTATEMENT oF DEFErrED TAXATIoN
Hyprop has early adopted the amendments to IAS 12 as published by the IASB on 20 December 2010. the amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or  
after 1 January 2012. the effect is that deferred taxation on investment properties is calculated at the capital gains taxation rate as opposed to a blended rate since the 
assumption is that the carrying value of the investment property will be recovered through sale.

the following summarises the restatement in prior years:

18.

19.

20.

21.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

GooDWILL

Goodwill arising on acquisition
Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd 30 436
Impairment (17 943)

Balance 12 493

Goodwill arising on acquisition
Attfund retail 529 711
Impairment (529 711)

Balance

Total effect in statement of comprehensive income (547 654)
Refer to note 6

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and the impairment is recognised in profit and loss.

NET oPErATING INCoME

net operating income is arrived at after accounting for the following:
Contingent rental income (turnover rental)  12 219  12 219  6 043 
Depreciation  7 713  7 673  6 863 
Consulting fees  450  450  12 000 
Key management remuneration
the following key management remuneration was paid during the year:
Salaries  17 337  7 051 
Bonuses  5 415  1 884 
top 3 salaries plus bonus earned by employees other than directors
A  2 796 2 492
B 1 938 1 607
C  1 599 1 330

AUDITorS’ rEMUNErATIoN

Audit fee - current year  1 424  1 424  1 092 
Adjustment in respect of the prior year  (275)  (275)  (55)
other services  595  595  236 

 1 744  1 744  1 273 

22.

23.

24.
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 Group  CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

 r000  r000  r000 

DIrECTorS’ EMoLUMENTS
Non-executive  2 220  2 220  2 075 
Fee for services as directors 
MS Aitken (paid to Corovest property Group Holdings (proprietary) limited)  290  290  300 
We Cesman (paid to redefine properties limited) (resigned May 2010)  75 
eG Dube (paid to Vunani Capital (proprietary) limited)  160  160  180 
K ellerine  160  160  225 
Jr McAlpine (resigned June 2011)  130  130  305 
S Shaw-taylor (paid to the Standard Bank of South Africa limited)  300  300  305 
My Sibisi (resigned December 2010)  150 
M Wainer (paid to redefine properties limited)  180  180  180 
lI Weil  280  280  325 
MJ lewin (paid to redefine properties limited)  160  160  15 
D rice (paid to redefine properties limited - resigned november 2011)  160  160  15 
l engelbrecht (appointed January 2011)  320  320 
l norval (paid to parkdev SA (pty) ltd - appointed September 2011)  40  40 
llS van der Watt (paid to Atterbury property Holdings (pty) ltd - appointed September 2011)  40  40 
Executive  11 134  11 134  4 604 
pG prinsloo  (Ceo) (appointed 1 May 2011)  2 839  2 839 

Basic salary  1 623  1 623 
provident fund contributions  16  16 
performance bonus  1 200  1 200 

MF rodel (Ceo) (resigned 3 March 2011)  5 410  5 410  2 480 
Basic salary  389  389  1 571 
provident fund contributions  21  21  109 
performance bonus      800 
other benefits and payments  5 000  5 000 

lr Cohen  (FD)  2 885  2 885 2 124 
Basic salary  1 415  1 415  1 144 
provident fund contributions  132  132  128 
performance bonus  1 000 1 000  600 
Incentive scheme payment (refer note 26 below) 338 338 252

INCENTIVE SChEME
the Hyprop board recognises that a key factor to the success of Hyprop is the retention and incentivisation of management and staff. Accordingly, a scheme was formulated 
to reward employees who make a meaningful and sustainable contribution to the financial performance of Hyprop by providing them with the opportunity to participate in 
its future growth. Senior Hyprop management and staff were offered this incentive.

the incentive is directly linked to the performance of Hyprop’s combined units. employees were granted ‘phantom’ Hyprop combined units at a notional strike price  
(“the initial price” (Ip)). employees receive an award equivalent to the increase in the market value of the Hyprop combined unit over the initial price. this award is paid in 
four payments within 30 days after the date on which the relevant payment is calculated.

the payment is calculated as follows:
Cash bonus = 1/4 AS x (p - Ip) – relevant taxes
AS = allocated ‘phantom’ units
p = volume weighted average traded price of Hyprop combined units for the 30 JSe trading days prior to the calculation date

If the market price of the Hyprop combined unit on the relevant calculation date is not greater than the initial price, no payment is made. the award is only applicable if the 
employee is in the employ of Hyprop on the payment date. 1 339 345 ‘phantom’ Hyprop combined units were in issue at year-end (2010: 1 196 419).

25% of the total scheme liability is provided for in December of each year to ensure adequate provision for the coming year’s ‘phantom’ scheme payment.

25.

26.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Group CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010

restated*
r000 r000 r000

TAXATIoN
Capital gains taxation  (70 003)
Security transfer taxation  (17 983)  (17 983)
Deferred taxation  (97 653)  (652 765)  (80 696)

 (185 639)  (670 748)  (80 696)

no provision has been made for normal taxation since the company has a loss for taxation purposes.
the capital gains taxation arose on the sale of a 25% interest in Centurion Mall to Fountainhead property trust.  
the sale of Centurion Mall was ring-fenced in Attfund retail. Accordingly, Hyprop's assessed loss for taxation 
purposes could not be set off against the capital gain.

reconciliation of taxation charge

net profit before taxation at 28% (2010:28% )  28 450  183 749  210 136 
permanent differences:

 Amortisation of debenture premium  (64 779)  (64 779)  (31 027)
 Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  (267)
 Share of income from associate  (3 040)  (3 040)  (15 456)
 Fair value adjustment to investment property  (17 749)  (17 749)  (70 455)
 Fair value adjustment to listed property securities  (29 007)  (29 007)  (10 560)
 Fair value adjustment to derivative instruments  16 663  16 663  (2 122)
 Capital profit on disposal of investment property  1 167  1 167 
 Capital profit on disposal of listed property securities  10 072  10 072 
 other permanent differences  2 533  1 947  481 

Goodwill impairment  153 343  7 112 
Deferred taxation asset not recognised in prior year  (467)
Adjustment to assessed loss  434 
Deferred taxation taken-on in respect of the Attfund retail transaction  546 630 
Security transfer tax paid on Attfund retail shares  17 983  17 983 
Capital gains taxation on sale of 25% interest in Centurion Mall  70 003 
taxation expense per statements of comprehensive income  185 639  670 748  80 697 
* Refer to note 18

27.
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Group CoMpAny
2011 2010

r000 r000

EArNINGS, hEADLINE EArNINGS AND DISTrIBUTABLE  
EArNINGS PEr CoMBINED UNIT
At year-end, the company had 243 113 169 combined units in issue.   

reconciliation - earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings
net (loss)/income after taxation  (84 031)  602 988 
Debenture interest  741 703  593 024 
Earnings  657 672  1 196 012 
Headline earnings adjustments  122 613  (489 099)

Amortisation of debenture premium  (231 354)  (110 810)
Impairment of goodwill  547 654 
loss on disposal of listed property securities  3 706 
loss of disposal of investment property  6 129 
Change in fair value of investment property  (203 522)  (378 289)

Change in fair value before adjusting for deferred taxation  (236 654)  (517 262)
Deferred taxation  33 132  138 973 

Headline earnings  780 285  706 913 
Distributable earnings adjustments  (37 054)  (114 137)

Change in fair value of listed property securities  (222 496)  (64 870)
Change in fair value before adjusting for deferred taxation  (258 716)  (75 430)
Deferred taxation  36 220  10 560 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments  59 510  (7 577)
Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  (953)
taxation  87 986 
Deferred taxation  28 302  (2 037)
Share of income from associate  (39 683)
Attfund retail transaction costs  9 644  983 

Distributable earnings  743 231  592 776 
total combined units in issue  243 113 169  166 113 169 
Weighted average combined units in issue - for earnings and headline earnings  192 061 114  166 113 169 
Weighted average combined units in issue - for distributable earnings  192 061 114  166 113 169 

Earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings per combined unit  Cents  Cents 
Basic and diluted earnings per combined unit  342,4  720,0 
Headline earnings per combined unit  406,3  425,6 
Distributable earnings per combined unit  383,6  356,9 

28.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Group CompaNy CoMpAny
2011 2011 2010 

r000 r000 r000

NoTES To ThE CASh FLoW STATEMENTS
29.1     The following convention applies to figures other than adjustments:

outflows of cash are represented by figures in brackets.
Inflows of cash are represented by figures without brackets.

29.2     Cash generated from operations

net income before taxation  101 608  656 247  750 484 
Adjustments:  838 236 282 941  (46 407)

Change in fair value:  Investment property  (236 654)  (236 654)  (517 262)
                                   listed property securities  (258 716)  (258 716)  (75 430)
                                   Investment in subsidiary 71 507
                                   Derivative instruments  59 510  59 510  (7 577)
Impairment of goodwill  547 654  (25 401)
loss on disposal of investment property  6 129  6 129 
loss on disposal of listed investment  3 706  3 706 
Share of income from associate  (9 949)  (9 949)  (55 201)
Depreciation  7 714  7 674  6 248 
Interest received  (31 416)  (31 416)  (7 006)
Interest paid  239 741  239 741  128 560 
Debenture interest paid  741 703  741 703  593 024 
Amortisation of debenture premium  (231 354)  (231 354)  (110 810)
Amortisation of financial guarantee for associate  (953)
other non-cash items  168  461 

operating profit before working capital changes  939 844  939 188  704 077 
Decrease in working capital  (59 897)  27 670  31 886 

Increase in receivables  (285 228)  (31 925)  (5 993)
Increase in payables  225 331  59 595  37 879 

Cash generated from operations  879 947  966 858  735 963 

29.3     Debenture interest paid to combined unitholders

Interest payable at the beginning of the year  (303 987)  (303 987)  (277 409)
per statement of comprehensive income  (741 703)  (741 703)  (593 024)
Interest payable at the end of the year  333 065  333 065  303 987 

 (712 625)  (712 625)  (566 446)

29.4     acquisition of business combination (attfund retail)

Investment property  (7 750 764 )
net working capital  93 143
loans assumed  3 582 713
Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd (30 000)
listed property securities  (266 553) 

 (4 371 461)

29.
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Group CoMpAny
2011 2010

r000 r000

CoMMITMENTS

30.1     Capital commitments

authorised capital expenditure
Contracted for  34 619  52 210 
not yet contracted for  51 898  5 650 

 86 517  57 860 
Capital commitments contracted for comprise the following:
Development costs

 - Canal Walk  18 264  14 857 
 - Clearwater Mall  6 303
 - CapeGate  1 134   
 - Woodlands 538  
 - Stoneridge  359  8 460 
 - Hyde park  68  7 072 
 - the Glen   9 921
 - the Mall offices  5 000  450 
 - Cradock Heights  2 953  11 450 

 34 619  52 210 
Capital commitments not yet contracted for comprise the following:
Development costs

 - Canal Walk  11 068 
 - Clearwater Mall  1 509 
 - CapeGate  8 951 
 - Woodlands  2 580 
 - Stoneridge  384 
 - Hyde park  11 132 
 - the Glen  6 423 
 - Willowbridge  3 684 
 - Somerset Value Mart  1 480 
 - Southcoast Mall  1 364 
 - Atterbury Value Mart  424 
 - the Mall of rosebank  4 450 
 - the Mall of rosebank  1 200 
 - offices  2 899 

 51 898  5 650 
the above expenditure will be financed out of available cash resources and banking facilities.

30.



Hyprop AnnuAl report 201186

NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Group CoMpAny
2011 2010

r000 r000
30.2     operating expense commitments

Hyprop has entered into various service contracts for the cleaning,
upkeep and general maintenance of its investment property portfolio.
the operating expense commitments payable to service providers in
future years have been classified as follows:

- short-term contracts (up to one year )  49 670  37 266 
- medium-term contracts (greater than one year and up to five years )  1 742  18 948 

there are no commitments for contracts beyond 2014.

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS rECEIVABLE

Minimum lease payments comprise contractual rental income
and operating expense recoveries from investment property.
the minimum lease payments receivable from tenants have been classified
into the following categories:

- short-term (up to one year )  1 373 853  1 097 173 
- medium-term (greater than one year and up to five years )  3 917 734  1 934 988 
- long-term ( greater than five years )  1 101 322  437 544 

rETIrEMENT BENEFITS

All eligible employees are members of the Hyprop Investments limited pension fund.

the retirement funding and risk related benefits are market related. All benefits from the pension fund accrue to the members.

the pension fund complies with all current legislation. the company has no commitment for post-retirement medical aid benefits.  
r 4 220 391 was contributed to the pension fund during the year for group risk benefits and recognised as an expense.

31.

32.
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BUSINESS CoMBINATIoNS
33.1     subsidiary acquired

During the financial year, Hyprop acquired with effect from 1 September 2011, 100% of the issued shares in Attfund retail. 
Attfund retail is a property investment company.

33.2    assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of acquisition

Group
2011

r000
Non-current assets
Investment property  7 750 764 
loan receivable - Mantrablox (pty) ltd  117 600 
listed property securities  275 717 
Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd  30 000 
Non-current liabilities
long-term loans  (3 582 713)
Deferred taxation  (555 112)
Net current assets/current liablities 1 374 325

33.3    Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of cash-generating units.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and the impairment is recognised in profit and loss.

Goodwill on the acquisition of Attfund retail was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Refer to note 22

33.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Group & 
CompaNy

2011
r000

CoMpAny
2010

r000

rELATED PArTIES AND rELATED PArTY TrANSACTIoNS

related parties with whom the group transacted during the year were:

The standard Bank of south africa limited
rental income received  19 569  10 954 
expenditure comprising: Interest on borrowings  116 026  118 827 
long-term loans  1 350 000  1 240 000 

relationship: Directorial

Vunani Capital (pty) ltd
expenditure comprising: 

Asset management fee paid by associate  325  1 657 
relationship: Directorial

Ellerine Bros (pty) ltd
rental income received - Stuttafords branches  13 542  12 917 

relationship: Directorial

parkdev Investments (pty) ltd
Consulting fee  450 

redefine properties ltd
expenditure comprising: 

letting commission  1 322 
Consulting fee  12 000 

relationship: Directorial

Canal Walk manco
expenditure comprising:  

Management fee and letting commission 708
relationship: Joint management and directorial

JHI real Estate limited 
expenditure comprising:  

property management  1 692
rental income received  340 

relationship: Directorial

Hyde park Corner merchants association
rental income received  78 
relationship: Marketing of Hyde park 

34.
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FINANCIAL rISK MANAGEMENT
the group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, loans from banks, receivables, fixed interest rate agreements, interest rate swaps, listed property 
securities, debentures and payables. In respect of the abovementioned financial instruments, book values approximate fair value. exposure to interest rate, credit and  
liquidity risks occurs in the normal course of business.

Interest rate risk

the group’s exposure to interest rate risk and interest rates on financial instruments at the reporting date were:

35.

year ended 31 December 2011

Weighted 
average 

effective  
interest rate

%

one year or 
less

r000

one to five
years
r000

more than
five years

r000
Total
r000

Financial assets
listed property securities   2 176 173  2 176 173 
receivables  119 247  119 247 
Cash and cash equivalents  208 394  208 394 
Total financial assets  327 641  2 176 173  2 503 814 

Financial liabilities
Debenture capital  Variable  6 359 541  6 359 541 
Interest-bearing borrowings  8,2 1 347 292 4 191 622  5 538 914 
payables  238 479  238 479 
Combined unitholders for distribution  Variable  333 065  333 065 
Derivative instruments  22 931  44 463  67 394 
Total financial liabilities 1 941 767 4 236 085  6 359 541  12 537 393 

year ended 31 December 2010

Weighted 
average 

effective  
interest rate

%

one year or 
less

r000

one to five
years
r000

more than
five years

r000
Total
r000

Financial assets
listed property securities   1 529 268  1 529 268 
receivables  86 584  86 584 
Cash and cash equivalents  67 747  67 747 
Total financial assets  154 331  1 529 268  1 683 599 
Financial liabilities
Debenture capital  Variable  2 447 895  2 447 895 
Interest-bearing borrowings  9,4  1 490 000  1 490 000 
payables  172 570  172 570 
Combined unitholders for distribution  Variable  303 987  303 987 
Derivative instruments   21 111 21 111
Total financial liabilities 476 557  1 511 111  2 447 895  4 435 563 

Interest rates are monitored and appropriate steps taken to ensure that Hyprop’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations is limited. Interest rates have been fixed for extended 
periods ranging from 2012 to 2019. the expiry dates of the fixed interest rate agreements and interest rates swaps are disclosed in note 15. the average rate of interest at year-
end (applicable to the fixed interest rate agreements and interest rate swaps) was 8,92% (2010: 9,57%). 
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations timeously. Credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets at the 
reporting date.

receivables
trade receivables consists of a large, wide-spread tenant base. the financial position of these tenants is monitored on an ongoing basis. An allowance is made for all specific 
doubtful debts at year-end. Management does not consider there to be any material credit risk exposure that is not already covered by a doubtful debt allowance. the carrying 
value of receivables is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

listed property securities
listed property securities included in non-current assets represent Hyprop’s investment in Sycom, Acucap and Vunani. the value of these investments is monitored closely by 
management and the credit risk exposure is regarded as minimal.

Cash and cash equivalents
It is company policy to deposit short-term cash investments with reputable financial institutions.

liquidity risk
liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet financial commitments. this risk is minimised by holding cash balances and by a floating loan facility. In addition, 
the company monitors liquidity risk by regularly monitoring forecast cash flows.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

the company's borrowings excluding debentures are limited by its MoI to 55% of the directors' bona fide valuation of the consolidated property portfolio.

the company is funded by debentures and external borrowings.  the company's capital management objective is to maintain a strong capital base to provide sustainable 
returns to combined unitholders and other stakeholders.  

the company's utilised borrowing capacity at 31 December can be summarised as follows:

Group &  
CompaNy

2011
r000

CoMpAny 
2010

r000
Value of property portfolio * 19 686 038 11 238 630 
55% thereof 10 827 321 6 181 247 
total borrowings (long-term and short-term) 5 538 914 1 490 000 
unutilised borrowing capacity 5 288 407 4 691 247 
* Includes listed property securities

FINANCIAL rISK MANAGEMENT CoNTINUED35.

36.
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FINANCIAL INSTrUMENTS BY CATEGorY

the accounting policies have been applied to the various financial instruments as indicated below:

Fair value estimation of financial instruments 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are grouped by the level into which the fair value is categorised:
level 1: Fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active  markets for identical instruments.
level 2: Fair value is derived through the use of valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly. 
level 3: Fair value is derived through the use of valuation techniques  using significant unobservable inputs.

the table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value by the level into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

assets
loans 

and 
receivables

r000

assets
designated at

fair value
through profit

and loss
r000

level 1
r000

level 2
r000

level 3
r000

31 Dec 2011
listed property securities  2 176 173  2 176 173 
receivables  119 247 
Cash and cash equivalents  208 394 
31 Dec 2010
listed property securities 1 529 268 1 529 268 
Derivative instruments 13 227 13 227 
receivables 86 584 
Cash and cash equivalents 67 747 

liabilities

liabilities
measured at

amortised
cost

r000

liabilities
designated

at fair
value
r000

level 1
r000

level 2
r000

level 3
r000

31 Dec 2011
Debentures and debenture premium  6 359 541 
long-term loans - long-term portion 4 191 622
                            - short-term portion 1 347 292
Derivative instruments  67 394 67 394 
payables  238 479 
31 Dec 2010
Debentures and debenture premium 2 447 895 
long term loans 1 490 000 
Derivative instruments  21 111 21 111 
payables 172 570 

37.
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NOTES TO ThE ANNUAl FINANCIAl STATEmENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

NEW AND AMENDED 
INTErNATIoNAL FINANCIAL 
rEPorTING STANDArDS NoT 
YET EFFECTIVE
Management anticipates that new or revised 
standards and interpretations will be adopted 
in the group’s accounting policies for the first 
period beginning after the effective date 
of the pronouncement or at an earlier date 
if specifically stated. Information on new 
standards, amendments and interpretations 
that are expected to be relevant to the group’s 
annual financial statements is provided below. 

Certain other new standards and 
interpretations have been issued but are not 
expected to have a material impact on the 
group’s annual financial statements.

38.1  IFrS 9 Financial Instruments – 
Effective date: Periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued in 
November 2009 and amended in 2010. The 
standard introduces new requirements 
for the measurement and classification of 
financial assets and will replace the relevant 
sections of IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 there are two 
options in respect of classification of financial 
assets namely financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value.

All equity instruments are measured at fair 
value. A debt instrument is measured at 
amortised cost only if the entity is holding 
it to collect contractual cash flows and the 
cash flows represent principal and interest. 
Otherwise it is at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

The most significant effect of IFRS 9 regarding 
the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities relates to the accounting 
for changes in fair value of a financial 
liability, designated at fair value through 
profit or loss, attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of that liability. The requirements 
in IAS 39 relating to the derecognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities has 
been incorporated unchanged into the new 
version of IFRS 9.

Management has yet to assess the impact 
that this new and amended standard is likely 
to have on the financial statements of the 
company.

38.2  IFrS 10 Consolidated financial 
statements – Effective date: Periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013

This new standard introduces new guidance 
on control and consolidation. It has a single 
revised definition of control for all entities 
and addresses all perceived inconsistencies 
between IAS27 and SIC12. 

IFRS has introduced a model that will require 
increased judgement in determining whether 
an investor controls an investee.

De facto control is taken into account to 
determine if the investor has control over an 
investee.

Substantive voting rights are also used to 
establish if the investor controls the investee, 
as opposed to the current guidance in IAS 27 
that requires that current exercisable potential 
voting rights are taken into account.

No material impact on the financial 
statements of the group is anticipated.

38.3 IFrS 11 Joint arrangements – 
Effective date: Periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2013

This new standard makes distinction between 
joint operations and joint ventures. 

Joint operations includes operations that  
do not have a separate vehicle but is 
managed by contractual arrangement in the 
form of a co-ownership aggreement. Such 
arrangements will be accounted for on a line-
by-line basis for the underlying assets and 
liabilities.

Joint ventures that are separate vehicles  
(ie jointly controlled entities) are now required 
to apply equity accounting. 

This standard is expected to be applied 
retrospectively.

The impact on the financial statements for the 
group has not yet been assessed, however, it 
is expected that the current accounting for 
jointly controlled entities will not materially 
change, but that they will be reclassified as 
joint operations.

38.4  IFrS 12 Disclosure of interest in 
other entities – Effective date: Periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 12 introduces a single standard for 
disclosure requirements in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and unconsolidated 
entities. 

IFRS 12 expands the disclosure requirements 
for these entities and users will now be able to 
evaluate the nature and risks associated with 
an entity’s interests in other entities as well as 
the effects of those interests on the entity’s 
financial position, financial performance and 
cash flows. 

The impact on the financial statements has 
not yet been determined. 

38.5  IFrS 13 - Fair Value Measurement - 
Effective date: Periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2013

This new IFRS specifies how an entity should 
measure fair value and disclose fair value 
information. 

This statement was developed to:

•	 	Establish	 a	 single	 source	 of	 guidance	 for	 
all fair value measurements;
•	 	Clarify	 the	 definition	 of	 fair	 value	 and	

related guidance;
•	 	Enhance	 disclosures	 about	 fair	 value	
measurements	 –	 the	 new	 disclosures	
increase transparency about fair value 
measurements, including valuation techniques 
and inputs used to measure fair value.

38.6  IAS 12 Deferred Taxation – 
Effective date: Periods commencing  
on or after 1 January 2012

The amendment to the standard is relevant 
only when an entity elects to use the fair 
value model for measurement in IAS 40 
Investment Property. The amendments 
introduce a rebuttable presumption that in 
such circumstances, an investment property 
is recovered entirely through sale. This 
presumption is rebutted if the investment 
property is held within a business model 
whose objective is to consume substantially 
all of the economic benefits embodied in the 
investment property over time, rather than 
sale. 

Previously, a blended rate was utilised to 
calculate the deferred taxation; while in 
future the capital gains taxation rate will be 
applied on fair value calculations measured in 
terms of IAS 40 Investment Property. 

This treatment has been early adopted in the 
2011 financial statements. Refer to note 18.

38.
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SEGmENTAl ANAlySIS  
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

propErTy  
porTFolIo

sTaTEmENT oF 
 ComprEHENsIVE INComE

sTaTEmENT oF  
FINaNCIal posITIoN

Business segment Gla (m2) Total
value

(r000)

Value
attributable

to Hyprop
(r000)

revenue
(r000)

Net
property

income
(r000)

Historic 
yield #

%

receivables
(r000)

payables
(r000)

loans
(r000)

2011
Canal Walk  157 450  6 100 000  4 880 000  423 566  301 315  6,6  20 336  44 358 
super regional  157 450  6 100 000  4 880 000  423 566  301 315   20 336  44 358 
Clearwater Mall  85 370  2 500 000  2 500 000  96 654  61 562  14 184 49 906
the Glen  74 624  2 160 000  1 623 365  178 087  112 927  7,4  7 241  13 497 
Woodlands Boulevard  69 867  1 604 000  1 604 000  59 054  40 619  22 576 24 593
CapeGate  106 016  1 435 000  1 435 000  57 266  36 911  35 326 26 535 
large regional 335 877 7 699 000 7 162 365 391 061 252 019 79 327 114 531
Hyde park  36 910  1 337 000  1 337 000  152 944  93 963  7,4  9 495 26 646
the Mall of rosebank  35 950  923 000  923 000  105 823  70 222  7,6  6 442 10 040
Southcoast Mall  29 361  244 000  122 000  20 968  11 565  8,9  96 829
regional 102 221 2 504 000 2 382 000 279 735 175 750 16 033 37 515
Atterbury Value Mart  47 707  885 000  885 000  31 062  24 163  5 346 11 899
Willowbridge  45 011  607 000  607 000  25 932  15 253  8 046 14 100
Stoneridge  51 293  455 000  409 500  58 339  25 795  6,3  3 387 4 895
Somerset Value Mart  12 546  154 000  154 000  6 903  4 597  2 111 2 163
Value centres 156 557 2 101 000 2 055 500 122 236 69 808 18 890 33 057
shopping centres  752 105  18 404 000  16 479 865  1 216 598  798 892  134 586 229 461
offices  51 240  769 000  769 000  70 569  45 320  13 556  12 175
Hotel  145 000  145 000  47 326  (5 866)  1 370 7 339
Investment property  803 345  19 318 000  17 393 865  1 334 493  838 346  149 512 248 975
Development property  116 000  116 000  1 952  
listed property securities  2 176 173  2 176 173  132 006  132 006  3 074 
Straight-line rental income accrual  100 214 
Word4Word Marketing (pty) ltd  16 444  909  6 312 
Fund management expenses  (19 705)  (35 291) (16 808)  5 538 914 
net interest  (208 325)

 803 345 21 610 173 19 686 038  1 583 157  743 231  119 247 238 479  5 538 914 

2010
Canal Walk  150 394  5 695 000  4 556 000  387 810  276 462  6,8  13 007  53 869 
the Glen  74 583  2 043 000  1 535 433  163 328  103 096  7,2  8 009  27 133 
Hyde park  36 894  1 277 000  1 277 000  140 613  88 080  7,0  8 055  20 045 
the Mall of rosebank  37 009  918 000  918 000  107 414  64 995  7,2  9 444  11 954 
Stoneridge  50 241  453 000  407 700  49 523  27 552  6,5  4 624  15 608 
Southcoast Mall  29 361  259 000  129 500  21 600  13 372  9,5  2 221  1 336 
shopping Centres  378 482  10 645 000  8 823 633  870 288  573 557  45 360  129 945 
offices  22 221  331 000  331 000  49 858  28 014  4 761  9 227 
Hotels  271 000  271 000  64 764  11 407  3 210  6 772 
Investment property  400 703  11 247 000  9 425 633  984 910  612 978  53 331  145 944 
Development property  73 674 
listed property securities  1 529 268  1 529 268  119 990  255 
Investment in associate (VpIF)  210 055*  210 055* 
Straight-line rental income accrual  14 148 
Fund management  (36 044)  32 998  26 626 1 490 000 
net interest  (121 554)

 400 703  12 986 323  11 238 630  984 910  589 518  86 584  172 570 1 490 000 
# Based on 2011 net property income and December 2010 valuations   * Includes cumulative equity accounted profits of associate
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SEGmENTAl ANAlySIS (CONTINUED) 
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

59,
94

%

38
,49

%

1,57%

Geographical profile by revenue ( r )

**  Sold subsequent to year-end. See note 11.

 Gauteng  799 860   59,94% 
 Western Cape  513 668   38,49%
 KwaZulu-natal  20 968  1,57%**

    1 334 496  100,00%

56
,39

%

39
,96

%

3,65%

Geographical profile by Gla ( m2 )*

 Gauteng 452 961  56,39%
 Western Cape 321 023  39,96%
 KwaZulu-natal 29 361  3,65%

   803 345  100,00%

93,62%

6,38%

sectoral profile by Gla  ( m2 )*

* Excludes Southern Sun Hyde Park. 

 retail  752 105  93.62%
 offices  51 240   6.38%

    803 345   100.00%

91,
17%

5,29% 3,54%

sectoral profile by revenue ( r )

 retail  1 216 600   91,17%
 offices  70 569  5,29% 
 Hotels 47 327  3,54% 

    1 334 496   100,00%



Hyprop AnnuAl report 2011 95

COmbINED UNIThOlDERS’ DIARy  

DISTRIbUTION DETAIlS
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DECEmbER 2011

Financial year-end  31 December

Publication of financial results  29 February 2012

Annual general meeting  20 June 2012

Annual report posted to combined unitholders  May 2012

Interim report posted to combined unitholders  August 2012

Distribution 
number

2011 (cents) 2010 (cents)

INTErEsT oN DEBENTurEs
six months ended:

30 June 2010 45 174
31 December 2010 46 183

six months ended:  
      30 June 2011

47 181

special distribution - two months ended:
31 August 2011 48 65

Four months ended:
31 December 2011 49 137

383 357

UNIThoLDEr INForMATIoN
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UNIThOlDER ANAlySIS  

Number of Number of
combined combined 

unitholders % units %
Combined unitholder spread at year-end:
public combined unitholders  4 165 99,59%  140 306 275 57,71%
non-public combined unitholders: 17 0,41%  102 806 894 42,29%
–     Directors 

Direct beneficial 5 0,12% 14 959 430 6,15%
Indirect beneficial 10 0,24% 11 910 343 4,90%

–    Combined unitholders with an interest of 10% or more 2 0,05% 75 937 121 31,24%

total  4 182 100,00%  243 113 169 100,00%

portfolio size (combined units)
1 – 1 000  1 798 43,00%  936 411 0,38%
1 001 – 10 000  1 772 42,37%  6 080 643 2,50%
10 001 – 100 000  452 10,81%  13 317 198 5,48%
100 001 – 1 000 000  126 3,01%  38 940 075 16,02%
1 000 001 and over  34 0,81%  183 838 842 75,62%
total  4 182 100,00%  243 113 169 100,00%

At year-end the directors were aware of the following interests of 5% or more in the combined  
units of the group: 

% of total
Number of combined
combined units in 

units issue
redefine properties  75 937 121 31,2%
Government employees pension Fund  20 727 807 8,5%
l norval (non-executive director)  19 516 724 8,0%

116 181 652 47,7%
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NOTICE OF ANNUAl GENERAl mEETING OF 
ShAREhOlDERS AND DEbENTURE hOlDERS

NoTICE oF ANNUAL GENErAL 
MEETING oF ShArEhoLDErS 
AND DEBENTUrE hoLDErS

Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Notice is hereby given that the annual 
general meeting of shareholders of Hyprop 
(“shareholders”) and debenture holders of 
Hyprop (“debenture holders”) will be held 
at the offices of Hyprop, 2nd Floor, Cradock 
Heights, 21 Cradock Avenue, Rosebank one 
Wednesday, 20 June 2012 at 11:00 for the 
purposes of:

A.  Considering and adopting the directors’ 
report, the annual financial statements 
and the Audit Committee report 
of the company for the year ended  
31 December 2011 contained in the annual 
report to which this notice of annual 
general meeting is attached; 

B.  Transacting any other business as may be 
transacted at an annual general meeting 
of shareholders of a company;

C.  Considering and, if deemed fit, adopting 
with or without modification, the 
shareholder Special and Ordinary 
Resolutions set out below.

Important dates to note:
•	 	Record	date	to	receive	this	notice:	Friday,	

11 May 2012
•	 	Last	day	 to	 trade	 in	order	 to	be	eligible	

to participate in and vote at the annual 
general meeting: Friday, 1 June 2012

•	 	Record	 date	 to	 participate	 in	 and	 vote	 
at the annual general meeting: Friday,  
8 June 2012

Due to the expanded meaning of “shareholder” 
in section 57(1) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as amended (the “Companies Act” or 
“Act”) the company has expanded its notice 
to shareholders and debenture holders for a 
“combined” annual general meeting. Due to 
Hyprop’s linked unit structure, its shareholders 
are also its debenture holders and the matters 
to be voted on at the annual general meeting 
are matters on which shareholders, and not 
debenture holders, are entitled to vote. As a 
result, a proxy form has only been included 
for shareholders.

Section 63(1) of the Companies Act, 71 
of 2008:

Identification of meeting participants

Kindly note that meeting participants (including 
proxies) are required to provide reasonably 
satisfactory identification before being 
entitled to attend or participate in a meeting. 
In this regard, all Hyprop shareholders and 
debenture holders recorded in the registers 
of the company on the record date for voting 
at the annual general meeting will be required 
to provide identification satisfactory to the 
chairman of the annual general meeting. 
Forms of identification include valid identity 
documents, driver’s licences and passports.

Section 62(3)(e) of the Companies Act: 

In terms of section 62(3)(e) of the Companies 
Act:

•	 		a	 shareholder	who	 is	 entitled	 to	 attend	
and vote at the annual general meeting 
is entitled to appoint a proxy or two or 
more proxies to attend, participate in and 
vote at the meeting in the place of the 
shareholder;

•	 	a	 debenture	 holder	 who	 is	 entitled	 to	
attend the annual general meeting is 
entitled to appoint a proxy or two or 
more proxies to attend and participate 
(but not vote) in the meeting in the place 
of the debenture holder;

•	 	a	proxy	need	not	be	a	shareholder	of	the	
company.

 Special resolution 1: Combined unit 
repurchases 

“Resolved that the directors be authorised 
in terms of the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation (“MOI”), until this authority 
lapses at the next annual general meeting of 
the company, unless it is then renewed at the 
next annual general meeting of the company 
and provided that this authority shall not 
extend beyond 15 months, to enable the 
company or any subsidiary of the company 
to acquire combined units of the company 
subject to the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited (the “Listings Requirements”) and 
the Companies Acton the following bases:
a)  the acquisition of combined units must 

be implemented through the order 
book operated by the JSE trading system 
without any prior understanding or 

arrangement between the company and 
the counterparty;

b)  the company (or any subsidiary) must be 
authorised to do so in terms of its MOI; 

c)  the number of combined units which 
may be acquired pursuant to this 
authority in any financial year (which 
commenced 1 January 2012) may not in the 
aggregate exceed 20% (or 10% where the 
acquisitions are effected by a subsidiary) 
of the company’s share capital as at the 
date of this notice of annual general 
meeting; 

d)  repurchases may not be made at a price 
more than 10% above the weighted 
average of the market value on the 

  JSE of the combined units in question 
for the five business days immediately 
preceding the repurchase; 

e)  at any point in time the company (or any 
subsidiary) may appoint only one agent to 
effect repurchases on its behalf;

f)  repurchases may not take place during a 
prohibited period (as defined in paragraph 
3.67 of the Listings Requirements) unless a 
repurchase programme is in place (where 
the dates and quantities of combined 
units to be repurchased during the 
prohibited period are fixed) and full 
details thereof announced on SENS prior 
to commencement of the prohibited 
period; 

g)  after the company has acquired 
combined units which constitute, on a 
cumulative basis, 3% of the number of 
combined units in issue (at the time that 
authority from combined unitholders for 
the repurchase is granted), the company 
shall publish an announcement to such 
effect, or any other announcements that 
may be required in such regard in terms of 
the Listings Requirements applicable from 
time to time; and

h)  the board of directors of the company 
must resolve that the repurchase 
is authorised, the company and its 
subsidiaries have passed the solvency 
and liquidity test, and since the test was 
performed, there have been no material 
changes to the financial position of the 
group.”

In accordance with the Listings Requirements 
the directors record that although there is no 
immediate intention to effect a repurchase 
of the combined units of the company, the 
directors will utilise this general authority 
to repurchase combined units as and when 
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constituted and as amended from time to 
time, authorise the company to provide 
direct or indirect financial assistance, as 
contemplated in section 45 of the Companies 
Act by way of loans, guarantees, the provision 
of security or otherwise, to any of its present 
or future subsidiaries and/or any other 
company or corporation that is or becomes 
related or inter-related (as defined in the 
Companies Act) to the company for any 
purpose or in connection with any matter, 
such authority to endure until the next 
annual general meeting provided that such 
authority shall not extend beyond 2 years, 
and further provided that inasmuch as the 
company’s provision of financial assistance 
to its subsidiaries will at any and all times be 
in excess of 1% of the company’s net worth, 
the company hereby provides notice to its 
shareholders of that fact.” 

In order for this Special Resolution 2 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

reason for and effect of Special 
resolution 2

The company would like the ability to 
provide financial assistance, in appropriate 
circumstances and if the need arises, in 
accordance with section 45 of the Companies 
Act. This authority is necessary for the 
company to provide financial assistance 
in appropriate circumstances. Under the 
Companies Act, the company will, however, 
require the special resolution referred to 
above to be adopted, provided that the board 
of directors of the company are satisfied 
that the terms under which the financial 
assistance is proposed to be given are fair and 
reasonable to the company and, immediately 
after providing the financial assistance, the 
company would satisfy the solvency and 
liquidity test contemplated in the Companies 
Act. In the circumstances and in order to, inter 
alia, ensure that the company’s subsidiaries 
and other related and inter-related companies 
and corporations have access to financing 
and/or financial backing from the company 
(as opposed to banks), it is necessary to 
obtain the approval of shareholders, as set 
out in Special Resolution 2. Therefore, the 
reason for and effect of Special Resolution 2 
is to permit the company to provide direct 
or indirect financial assistance (within the 

suitable opportunities present themselves, 
which may require expeditious and immediate 
action.

The directors undertake that, after considering 
the maximum number of combined units that 
may be repurchased and the price at which 
the repurchases may take place pursuant to 
the buy-back general authority, for a period 
of 12 months after the date of this annual 
general meeting:

•	 	the	 company	 and	 the	 group	will,	 in	 the	
ordinary course of business, be able to 
pay its debts; 

•	 	the	consolidated	assets	of	the	company	
and the group fairly valued in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, will exceed the consolidated 
liabilities of the company and the 
group fairly valued in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards; and 

•	 	the	 company’s	 and	 the	 group’s	 share	
capital, reserves and working capital 
will be adequate for ordinary business 
purposes. 

The following additional information, some 
of which may appear elsewhere in the annual 
report of which this notice forms part, is 
provided in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the 
Listings Requirements for purposes of this 
general authority:

•	 	Directors	and	management	–	pages	26	to	
28; 

•	 	Major	beneficial	unitholders	–	page	96;	
•	 	Directors’	 interests	 in	 combined	 units	 –	

page 58; and 
•	 	Capital	structure	of	the	company	–	page	

58. 

Litigation statement

In terms of section 11.26 of the Listings 
Requirements, the directors, whose names 
appear on pages 26 and 27 of the annual 
report of which this notice forms part, are not 
aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings 
including proceedings that are pending or 
threatened, that may have or have had in 
the recent past (being at least the previous 
12 months) a material effect on Hyprop’s 
financial position.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors whose names appear on pages 
26 and 27 of the annual report of which 
this notice forms part, collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility for the 
accuracy of the information pertaining to this 
special resolution and certify that, to the best 
of their knowledge and belief, there are no 
facts that have been omitted which would 
make any statement false or misleading, and 
that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 
facts have been made and that the special 
resolution contains all information required 
by the Companies Act and the Listings 
Requirements.

Material changes

Other than the facts and developments 
reported on in the annual report of which 
this notice forms part, there have been no 
material changes in the affairs or financial 
position of the company and its subsidiaries 
since the date of signature of the audit report 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 
and up to the date of this notice.

In order for Special Resolution 1 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution. 

reason for and effect of Special 
resolution 1

The reason for Special Resolution 1 is to afford 
the directors of the company (or a subsidiary 
of the company) general authority to effect 
a buy-back of the company’s combined units 
on the JSE. The effect of the resolution will 
be that the directors will have the authority, 
subject to the Listings Requirements and the 
Companies Act to effect acquisitions of the 
company’s combined units on the JSE.

 Special resolution 2: Financial 
assistance to related and interrelated 
parties

“Resolved that to the extent required by the 
Companies Act, the board of directors of the 
company may, subject to compliance with the 
requirements of the company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation, the Companies Act and 
the Listings Requirements, each as presently 

NOTICE OF ANNUAl GENERAl mEETING OF 
ShAREhOlDERS AND DEbENTURE hOlDERS (CONTINUED)
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meaning attributed to that term in section 
45 of the Act) to the entities referred to in 
Special Resolution 2 above.

 Special resolution 3: Approval of non-
executive directors’ fees proposed for 
the year ending 31 December 2012

“Resolved that the non-executive directors’ 
fees proposed for the year ending  
31 December 2012 as set out below, be and  
is approved:

•	 	Board	Chairman	R265	000	pa;	
•	 	Non-executive	director	R170	000	pa;	
•	 	Audit	Committee	chairman	R127	000	pa;	
•	 	Audit	Committee	member	R106	000	pa;	
•	 		Remuneration	 Committee	 member	 

R21 000 pa; 
•	 	Nomination	 Committee	 member	 

R21 000 pa; 
•	 	Risk	Committee	member	R21	000	pa;	
•	 	Social	 and	 Ethics	 Committee	 member	 

R21 000 pa; and 
•	 	Investment	Committee	member	R5	000	

per meeting.” 

In order for this Special Resolution 3 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

reason for and effect of Special 
resolution 3

The reason for and effect of Special Resolution 
3 is to pre-approve the remuneration and fees 
payable to the non-executive directors as 
required in terms of sections 66(8) and (9) of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended.

 ordinary resolution 1: Adoption of 
annual financial statements

“Resolved that the annual financial statements 
of the company for the year ended 31 
December 2011 be and are received and 
adopted.”

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 1 to be 
adopted, the support of more than 50% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution.

ordinary resolution 2: re-election of 
director

“Resolved that EG Dube who retires in 
terms of the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation and who, being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae is included in 
the annual report of which this notice forms 
part.

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 2 to 
be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 
required to pass this resolution.

ordinary resolution 3: re-election of 
director

“Resolved that M Aitken who retires in 
terms of the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation and who, being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae is included in 
the annual report of which this notice forms 
part.

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 3 to 
be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 
required to pass this resolution.

ordinary resolution 4: re-election of 
director

“Resolved that S Shaw-Taylor who retires in 
terms of the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation and who, being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae is included in 
the annual report of which this notice forms 
part.

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 4 to 
be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 
required to pass this resolution.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAl GENERAl mEETING OF 
ShAREhOlDERS AND DEbENTURE hOlDERS (CONTINUED)

class in issue added to those that may 
be issued in future (arising from the 
conversion of options/convertible 
securities), at the date of such 
application:

  (1)  less any combined units of the 
class issued, or to be issued in 
future arising from options/
convertible securities issued, 
during the current financial year 
(which commenced 1 January 
2012);

  (2)  plus any combined units of that 
class to be issued pursuant to:

   (aa)  a rights issue which has been 
announced, is irrevocable 
and is fully underwritten; or

   (bb)   an acquisition (in respect 
of which final terms have 
been announced) which 
acquisition issue securities 
may be included as though 
they were securities in issue 
at the date of application;

d)   the maximum discount at which 
combined units may be issued is 10% of 
the weighted average traded of such 
shares measured over the 30 business 
days prior to the date that the price of 
the issue is agreed between the company 
and the party subscribing for the 
combined units;

e)   after the company has issued combined 
units in terms of this general authority 
to issue combined units for cash 
representing on a cumulative basis 
within a financial year, 5% or more of the 
number of combined units in issue prior 
to that issue, the company shall publish 
an announcement containing full details 
of that issue, including

 (i) the number of combined units issued;
 (ii)  the average discount to the weighted 

average traded price of the combined 
units over the 30 business days prior 
to the date that the issue is agreed 
in writing between the company 
and the party/ies subscribing for the 
combined units; and

 (iii)   the effects of the issue on the net 
asset value per combined unit, net 
tangible asset value per combined 
unit, earnings per combined unit, 
headline earnings per combined unit, 
and if applicable diluted earnings  
and diluted headline earnings per 
combined units.”

ordinary resolution 5: re-election of 
director

“Resolved that GR Tipper who retires in 
terms of the company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation and who, being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election, be re-elected as a 
director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae is included in 
the annual report of which this notice forms 
part.

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 5 to 
be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 
required to pass this resolution.

ordinary resolution 6:  
re-appointment of auditors

“Resolved that Grant Thornton be re-
appointed as the auditors of the company 
and EFG Dreyer be appointed as the 
individual registered auditor of the company 
from the conclusion of this annual general 
meeting until the conclusion of the next 
annual general meeting.”

The Audit Committee has nominated for 
appointment as auditors of the company 
under section 90 of the Companies Act 
Grant Thornton and EFG Dreyer. 

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 6 to 
be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 
required to pass this resolution.

ordinary resolution 7: Unissued 
combined units

“Resolved that 5% of the authorised but 
unissued combined units of the company 
be and is hereby placed under the control of 
the directors of the company until the next 
annual general meeting, with the authority 
to allot and issue all or part thereof in their 
discretion, subject to the Companies Act and 
the JSE Listings Requirements.”

In order for this Ordinary Resolution 7 to 
be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 
required to pass this resolution.

ordinary resolution 8: Issue of 
combined units for cash

“Resolved that, subject to the restrictions 
set out below and subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the directors of the company 
be and are hereby authorised until this 
authority lapses at the next annual general 
meeting of the company, provided that this 
authority shall not extend beyond 15 months, 
to allot and issue combined units of the 
Company for cash on the following bases:

a)   the combined units which are the subject 
of the issue for cash must be of a class 
already in issue or, where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such shares or 
rights as are convertible into a class 
already in issue;

b)  the allotment and issue of combined units 
for cash shall be made only to persons 
qualifying as “public shareholders”, as 
defined in the Listings Requirements, and 
not to “related parties”;

c)   combined units which are the subject of 
general issues for cash:

 (i)  in aggregate in any one financial year 
may not exceed 5% of the company’s 
combined units in issue of that class 
(for purposes of determining the 
shares comprising the 5% number in 
any one year, account must be taken 
of the dilution effect, in the year 
of issue of options or convertible 
securities, by including the number 
of any equity securities which may 
be issued in future arising out of the 
issue of such options/convertible 
securities);

 (ii)  of a particular class will be 
aggregated with any securities that 
are compulsorily convertible into 
securities of that class and, in the 
case of the issue of compulsorily 
convertible securities, by including 
the number of equity securities which 
may be issued in future arising out of 
the issue of such options/convertible 
securities);

 (iii)  as regards the number of combined 
units which may be issued (the 5 % 
number), same shall be based on the 
number of combined units of that 
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In terms of the Listing Requirements , in order 
for Ordinary Resolution 8 to be adopted, the 
support of at least 75% of the total number 
of votes exercisable by shareholders, present 
in person or by proxy, is required to pass this 
resolution.

ordinary resolution 9:
re-appointment of members of the
Audit Committee

“Resolved that the members of the 
company’s Audit Committee set out below 
be and are hereby reappointed with effect 
from the end of this annual general meeting 
in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act. The membership as proposed by 
the Nominations Committtee is LI Weil 
(Chairman), L Engelbrecht and GR Tipper.”

In order for Ordinary Resolution 9 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 50% of 
the total number of votes, exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution. 

ordinary resolution 10: Signature of 
documentation

“Resolved that any director of the  
company or the company secretary be 
and is hereby authorised to sign all such 
documentation and do all such things as 
may be necessary for or incidental to the 
implementation of Ordinary Resolution 
numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 and Special 
Resolution numbers 1, 2 and 3, which are 
passed by the unitholders with and subject 
to the terms thereof.”

In order for Ordinary Resolution 10 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 50% of 
the total number of votes, exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, 
is required to pass this resolution. 

Quorum 

A quorum for the purposes of considering 
the resolutions above shall consist of three 
shareholders of the company personally 
present (and if the shareholder is a body 
corporate, it must be represented) and 
entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. 
In addition, a quorum shall comprise 25% of 
all the voting rights that are entitled to be 
exercised by Hyprop shareholders in respect 

of each matter to be decided at the annual 
general meeting. 

The date on which Hyprop shareholders must 
be recorded as such in the register maintained 
by the transfer secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited,  
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown 2107), for the purposes of 
being entitled to attend, participate in and 
vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 
8 June 2012.

Shareholders

General instructions

Shareholders are encouraged to attend, 
speak and vote at the annual general meeting.

Electronic participation

The company has made provision for Hyprop 
shareholders or their proxies to participate 
electronically in the annual general meeting 
by way of telephone conferencing. Should 
you wish to participate in the annual 
general meeting by telephone conference 
call as aforesaid, you, or your proxy, will be 
required to advise the company thereof by 
no later than 11h00 on Monday, 18 June 2012 
by submitting by e-mail to the company 
secretary at pbs@probitysecretaries.co.za 
or by fax to be faxed to +27 11 327 7149, for 
the attention of Neville Toerien, relevant 
contact details, including an e-mail address, 
cellular number and landline as well as full 
details of the Hyprop shareholder’s title to 
securities issued by the company and proof 
of identity, in the form of copies of identity 
documents and share certificates (in the case 
of materialised Hyprop shares) and (in the 
case of dematerialised Hyprop shares) written 
confirmation from the Hyprop shareholder’s 
CSDP confirming the Hyprop shareholder’s 
title to the dematerialised Hyprop shares. 
Upon receipt of the required information, 
the Hyprop shareholder concerned will be 
provided with a secure code and instructions 
to access the electronic communication 
during the annual general meeting. Hyprop 
shareholders must note that access to the 
electronic communication will be at the 
expense of the Hyprop shareholders who 
wish to utilise the facility.
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Proxies and authority for 
representatives to act

Due to Hyprop’s linked unit structure, its 
shareholders are also its debenture holders 
and the matters to be voted on at the 
annual general meeting are matters on which 
shareholders and not debenture holders are 
entitled to vote. As a result, a proxy form has 
only been included for shareholders.

Debenture holders wishing to appoint a 
proxy or two or more proxies to attend 
and participate (but not vote) in the annual 
general meeting, may contact the company 
secretary on pbs@probitysecretaries.co.za or 
by fax on +27 11 327 7149, to obtain such form 
of proxy.

 
Probity Business Services  
(Proprietary) Limited
Company Secretary

Registered office
2nd Floor Cradock Heights
21 Cradock Avenue, Rosebank 

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services 
(Proprietary) Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001

 

NOTICE OF ANNUAl GENERAl mEETING OF 
ShAREhOlDERS AND DEbENTURE hOlDERS (CONTINUED)

participate at the annual general meeting on 
its behalf is passed by its directors. Resolutions 
authorising representatives in terms of section 
57(5) of the Companies Act must be lodged 
with the company’s transfer secretaries prior 
to the annual general meeting.

Debenture holders

General instructions

Debenture holders are encouraged to attend 
and speak at the annual general meeting.

Electronic participation

The company has made provision for 
its debenture holders or their proxies to 
participate electronically in the annual general 
meeting by way of telephone conferencing. 
Should you wish to participate in the annual 
general meeting by telephone conference 
call as aforesaid, you, or your proxy, will be 
required to advise the company thereof by 
no later than 11h00 on Monday, 18 June 2012 
by submitting by e-mail to the company 
secretary at pbs@probitysecretaries.co.za 
or by fax to be faxed to +27 11 327 7149, for 
the attention of Neville Toerien, relevant 
contact details, including an e-mail address, 
cellular number and landline as well as full 
details of the debenture holder’s title to 
securities issued by the company and proof 
of identity, in the form of copies of identity 
documents and debenture certificates (in the 
case of materialised debentures) and (in the 
case of dematerialised debentures) written 
confirmation from the debenture holder’s 
CSDP confirming the debenture holder’s 
title to the dematerialised debentures. Upon 
receipt of the required information, the 
debenture holder concerned will be provided 
with a secure code and instructions to access 
the electronic communication during the 
annual general meeting. Debenture holders 
must note that access to the electronic 
communication will be at the expense of the 
debenture holder who wishes to utilise the 
facility.

Hyprop shareholders and their appointed 
proxies attending by conference call will 
not be able to cast their votes at the annual 
general meeting through this medium.

Proxies and authority for 
representatives to act

A form of proxy is attached for the 
convenience of any Hyprop shareholder 
holding certificated shares, who cannot 
attend the annual general meeting but wishes 
to be represented thereat.

The attached form of proxy is only to be 
completed by those shareholders who are:

•	 	holding	shares	in	certificated	form;	or
•	 	recorded	on	 the	 company’s	 sub-register	

in dematerialised electronic form with 
“own name” registration.

All other beneficial owners who have 
dematerialised their shares through a Central 
Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or 
broker and wish to attend the annual general 
meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker 
to provide them with the necessary letter 
of representation, or they must provide the 
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions 
in terms of the relevant custody agreement 
entered into between them and the CSDP 
or broker. These shareholders must not use 
a form of proxy.

Forms of proxy must be deposited at the 
Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor 
Services (Pty) Ltd at 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg or by fax on +27 11 688 6238 to 
be received no later than 11h00 on Monday, 
18 June 2012. Any shareholder who completes 
and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless 
be entitled to attend, speak and vote in 
person at the annual general meeting should 
the shareholder decide to do so.

A company that is a shareholder, wishing to 
attend and participate at the annual general 
meeting should ensure that a resolution 
authorising a representative to so attend and 
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Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

ThIS ForM oF ProXY IS oNLY For USE BY:
•				registered	shareholders	who	have	not	yet	dematerialised	their	Hyprop	linked	units;
•					registered	shareholders	who	have	already	dematerialised	their	Hyprop	linked	units	and	which	units	are	registered	in	their	own	names	in	the	

company’s sub-register.

For completion by the aforesaid registered shareholders of Hyprop who are unable to attend the annual general meeting of the company to 
be held at the offices of the company at 2nd Floor, 21 Cradock Avenue, Cradock Heights, Rosebank, 2196 at 11h00 on Wednesday, 20 June 2012 
(the “annual general meeting”).

FORm OF pROXy FOR ShAREhOlDERS

I/We (NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 
Of (ADDRESS)
being the registered holder of  combined units 
hereby appoint  of  
or failing him/her,  of  
or failing him/her, the chairperson of the annual general meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general 
meeting of the company.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces below how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/ 
she thinks fit.

In favour of Against Abstain
Special resolution 1 Combined unit repurchases
Special resolution 2 Financial assistance to related and inter-related parties

Special resolution 3 Approval of non-executive directors’ fees proposed for the year ending 31 December 2012
ordinary resolution 1 Adoption of annual financial statements

ordinary resolution 2 re-election of director (eG Dube)

ordinary resolution 3 re-election of director (M Aitken)

ordinary resolution 4 re-election of director (S Shaw-taylor)

ordinary resolution 5 re-election of director (Gr tipper)

ordinary resolution 6 re-appointment of auditors
ordinary resolution 7 unissued combined units

ordinary resolution 8 Issue of combined units for cash
ordinary resolution 9 re-appointment of Audit Committee

ordinary resolution 10 Signature of documentation

Signed this  day of 2012.
Signature Assisted by (if applicable) 

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, vote and speak at his/her stead. 
A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and on a poll, 
vote in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting.

Forms of proxy must be deposited at Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to be received no later than 11h00 on Monday, 18 June 2012.

Please read the notes on the reverse.
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NOTES TO ThE FORm OF pROXy FOR ShAREhOlDERS

1.  Only shareholders who are registered in the 
register of the company under their own name 
on the date on which shareholders must be 
recorded as such in the register maintained by 
the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor 
Services (Proprietary) Limited, being Friday, 8 June 
2012 (the “voting record date”), may complete 
a form of proxy or attend the annual general 
meeting.  This includes shareholders who have 
not dematerialised their shares or who have 
dematerialised their shares with “own name” 
registration.  The person whose name stands first 
on the form of proxy and who is present at the 
annual general meeting will be entitled to act as 
proxy to the exclusion of those whose names 
follow.  A proxy need not be a shareholder of the 
company.

2.  Certificated shareholders wishing to attend 
the annual general meeting have to ensure 
beforehand with the transfer secretaries of 
the Company (being Computershare Investor 
Services (Proprietary) Limited) that their shares 
are registered in their own name.

3.  Beneficial shareholders whose shares are not 
registered in their “own name”, but in the name 
of another, for example, a nominee, may not 
complete a proxy form, unless a form of proxy 
is issued to them by a registered shareholder and 
they should contact the registered shareholder 
for assistance in issuing instruction on voting 
their shares, or obtaining a proxy to attend, speak 
and, on a poll, vote at the annual general meeting.

4.  Dematerialised shareholders who have not 
elected “own name” registration in the register 
of the company through a Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to 
attend the annual general meeting, must instruct 
the CSDP or broker to provide them with the 
necessary authority to attend.

5.  Dematerialised shareholders who have not 
elected “own name” registration in the register of 
the company through a CSDP and who are unable 
to attend, but wish to vote at the annual general 
meeting, must timeously provide their CSDP or 
broker with their voting instructions in terms of 
the custody agreement entered into between 
that shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

6.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy 
or the names of two or more alternative proxies 
of the shareholder’s choice in the space, with or 
without deleting “the chairman of the annual 
general meeting”. The person whose name stands 
first on the form of proxy and who is present at 
the annual general meeting will be entitled to act 
as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names 
follow.

7.  The completion and lodging of this form will not 
preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
the annual general meeting and speaking and 
voting in person thereat to the exclusion of 
any proxy appointed, should such shareholder 
wish to do so.  In addition to the aforegoing, a 
shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment 
by (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and  
(ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument 
to the proxy, and to the company.

8.  The revocation of a proxy appointment 
constitutes a complete and final cancellation of 
the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the 
relevant shareholder as of the later of the date:

 8.1.  stated in the revocation instrument, if any; 
or

 8.2.  upon which the revocation instrument is 
delivered to the proxy and the relevant 
company as required in section 58(4)(c)(ii) of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended 
(“the Companies Act”).

9.  Should the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies have been delivered to the company, as 
long as that appointment remains in effect, any 
notice that is required by the Companies Act or 
the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to 
be delivered by the company to the shareholder 
must be delivered by the company to;

 9.1. the shareholder, or

 9.2.  the proxy or proxies if the shareholder has in 
writing directed the relevant company to do 
so and has paid any reasonable fee charged 
by the company for doing so.

10.  A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from 
exercising, any voting right of the relevant 
shareholder without direction, except to the 
extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of the company or the instrument appointing the 
proxy provide otherwise.

11.  If the company issues an invitation to 
shareholders to appoint one or more persons 
named by the company as a proxy, or supplies a 
form of instrument for appointing a proxy:

 11.1.  such invitation must be sent to every 
shareholder who is entitled to receive 
notice of the meeting at which the proxy is 
intended to be exercised;

 11.2.  the company must not require that the 
proxy appointment be made irrevocable; 
and

 11.3.  the proxy appointment remains valid only 
until the end of the relevant meeting at 
which it was intended to be used, unless 
revoked as contemplated in section 58(5) of 
the Companies Act.

12.  Any alteration or correction made to this form 
of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/
ies.  A deletion of any printed matter and the 
completion of any blank space(s) need not be 
signed or initialed.

13.  Documentary evidence establishing the 
authority of a person signing this form of proxy 
in a representative capacity must be attached 
to this form unless previously recorded by the 
transfer secretaries of the company or waived by 
the chairman of the annual general meeting.

14.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/
guardian unless the relevant documents 
establishing his/her legal capacity are produced or 
have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

15.  A company holding shares in the company that 
wishes to attend and participate at the annual 
general meeting should ensure that a resolution 
authorising a representative to act is passed by its 
directors.  Resolutions authorising representatives 
in terms of section 57(5) of the Companies Act 
must be lodged with the company’s transfer 
secretaries prior to the annual general meeting.

16.  Where there are joint holders of shares any 
one of such persons may vote at any meeting 
in respect of such shares as if he were solely 
entitled thereto; but if more than one of such 
joint holders be present or represented at the 

meeting, that one of the said persons whose 
name appears first in the register of shareholders 
of such shares or his proxy, as the case may be 
shall alone be, shall be entitled to vote in respect 
thereof.

17.  On a show of hands, every shareholder of the 
company present in person or represented 
by proxy shall have one vote only.  On a poll 
a shareholder who is present in person or 
represented by a proxy shall be entitled to that 
proportion of the total votes in the company 
which the aggregate amount of the nominal value 
of the shares held by him bears to the aggregate 
amount of the nominal value of all the shares of 
the relevant class issued by the company.

18.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may 
reject or accept any proxy which is completed 
and /or received other than in accordance with 
the instructions, provided that he shall not 
accept a proxy unless he is satisfied as to the 
matter in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

19.  A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to 
act on behalf of the shareholder to another 
person.

20.  A shareholder’s instruction to the proxy must 
be indicated by the insertion of the relevant 
number of shares to be voted on behalf of that 
shareholder in the appropriate space provided. 
Failure to comply with the above will be deemed 
to authorise the chairperson of the annual general 
meeting, if the chairperson is the authorised 
proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at the 
annual general meeting or other proxy to vote 
or to abstain from voting at the annual general 
meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of the 
shares concerned. A shareholder or the proxy is 
not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the 
shareholder or the proxy, but the total of votes 
cast in respect whereof abstention is recorded 
may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable 
by the shareholder or the proxy.

21.  It is requested that this form of proxy be lodged 
or posted or faxed to the company’s registered 
office, 2nd Floor, 21 Cradock Avenue, Cradock 
Heights, Rosebank, 2196 or faxed to +27 11 447 0092 
or to the Transfer Secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services (Pty) Ltd at 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg or by fax on +27 11 688 6238, to 
be received by the company no later than 11h00 
on Monday, 18 June 2012.  A quorum for the 
purposes of considering the ordinary resolutions 
shall comprise 25% of all the voting rights that 
are entitled to be exercised by shareholders in 
respect of each matter to be decided at the 
annual general meeting.  In addition, a quorum 
shall consist of three shareholders of the 
company personally present or represented by 
proxy (and if the shareholder is a body corporate, 
it must be represented) and entitled to vote at 
the annual general meeting.

22.  This form of proxy may be used at any 
adjournment or postponement of the annual 
general meeting, including any postponement 
due to a lack of quorum, unless withdrawn by the 
shareholder.

23.  The aforegoing notes contain a summary of 
the relevant provisions of section 58 of the 
Companies Act, as required in terms of that 
section.  
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GRI INDEX

1. STrATEGY

1.1 Statement from the most senior decision-maker of the organisation (e.g., Ceo, chair, or equivalent senior position) about the 
relevance of sustainability to the organisation and its strategy.

14

1.2 Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities. 11; 39-41

2. orGANISATIoNAL ProFILE

3. rEPorT PArAMETErS

2.1 name of the organisation IFC
2.2 primary brands, products, and/or services indicating the nature of its role in providing these products and services and the 

degree to which it utilises outsourcing.
6-11

2.3 operational structure of the organisation, including main divisions, operating companies, subsidiaries and joint ventures. 6-10; 29
2.4 location of organisation’s headquarters. IFC
2.5 number of countries where the organisation operates, and names of countries with either major operations or that are 

specifically relevant to the sustainability issues covered in the report.
Hyprop only operates 
in South Africa

2.6 nature of ownership and legal form. IFC
2.7 Markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors served and types of customers/beneficiaries). 6-9
2.8 Scale of the reporting organisation. 15-21; 45; 52
2.9 Significant changes during the reporting period regarding size, structure, or ownership including:

the location of, or changes in operations, including facility openings, closings and expansions; and
Changes in the share capital structure and other capital formation, maintenance, and alteration operations (for private sector 
organisations).

12-25

2.10 Awards received in the reporting period. 5

3.1 reporting period (e.g. fiscal/calendar year) for information provided. IFC
3.2 Date of most recent previous report (if any). IFC
3.3 reporting cycle (annual, bi-annual, etc.) IFC
3.4 Contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents. IFC
3.5 process for defining report content, including:

•  Determining materiality;
•  Prioritising topics within the report; and
•  Identifying stakeholders the organisation expects to use the report.

IFC

3.6 Boundary of the report (e.g. countries, divisions, subsidiaries, leased facilities, joint ventures, suppliers). IFC
3.7 State any specific limitations on the scope or boundary of the report. IFC
3.8 Basis for reporting on joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased facilities, outsourced operations and other entities that can 

significantly affect comparability from period to period and/or between organisations.
64

3.9 Data measurement techniques and the bases of calculations, including assumptions and techniques underlying estimations 
applied to the compilation of the indicators and other information in the report.

64-66

3.10 explanation of the effect of any re-statements of information provided in earlier reports, and the reasons for such re-
statement.

79

3.11 Significant changes from previous reporting periods in the scope, boundary or measurement methods applied in the report. 79
3.12 GrI table Current page
3.13 policy and current practice with regard to seeking external assurance for the report. 32-38

INDICATOR DESCRIpTION pAGE NUmbER
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GoVErNANCE, CoMMITMENTS AND ENGAGEMENTS

DISCLoSUrES oN MANAGEMENT APProACh

4.1 Governance structure of the organisation, including committees under the highest governance body responsible for specific 
tasks, such as setting strategy or organisational oversight.

32

4.2 Indicate whether the Chairman of the highest governance body is also an executive officer and, if so, reasons for this 
arrangement.

34

4.3 number of independent and/or non-executive members. 34
4.4 Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to provide recommendations or direction to the board. 43-44
4.5 linkage between compensation for members of the highest governance body, senior managers and executives and the 

organisation’s performance.
42

4.6 processes in place for the highest governance body to ensure conflicts of interest are avoided. 32-38
4.7 process for determining the qualifications and expertise of the members of the highest governance body for guiding the 

organisation’s strategy on economic, environmental, and social topics.
30; 32-38

4.8 Internally developed statements of mission or values, codes of conduct, and principles relevant to economic, environmental, 
and social performance and the status of their implementation.

3

4.9 procedures of the highest governance body for overseeing the organisation’s identification and management of economic, 
environmental and social performance, including relevant risks and opportunities, and adherence or compliance with 
internationally agreed standards, codes of conduct and principles.

32-38

4.10 processes for evaluating the highest governance body’s own performance, particularly with respect to economic, 
environmental, and social performance.

32-38

4.11 explanation of whether and how the precautionary approach or principle is addressed by the organisation. 39-41
4.12 externally developed economic, environmental, and social charters, principles, or other initiatives to which the organisation 

subscribes or endorses.
38

4.14 list of stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation. 44
4.15 Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom to engage. 43-44
4.16 Approaches to stakeholder engagement, including frequency of engagement by type and by stakeholder group. 43-44
4.17 Key topics and concerns that have been raised through stakeholder engagement, and how the organisation has responded to 

those key topics and concerns, including through its reporting.
43-44

DMA en the disclosures on management approach for all environmental aspects reported on. 12-14; 48-49
DMA Hr the disclosures on management approach relating to human rights reported on. Data not reported on
DMA lA the disclosures on management approach relating to labour practices and decent work reported on. 45
DMA So the disclosures on management approach relating to Society reported on. 49
DMA pr the disclosures on management approach relate to individual aspects reported on: 

pr1, pr2 – product health and safety impacts 
pr4, pr5, pr8 – Customer satisfaction and privacy of data and non-compliance with regulations 

48-51

DMA eC the disclosures on management approach relate to the individual aspects reported on, including: 
eC1 – Direct economic value generated and distributed 
eC2 – Impacts of climate change 
eC6 – Spending on locally-based suppliers 
eC7 – local hiring, including at senior management level 
eC8, eC9 – economic impacts 

49; 25

INDICATOR DESCRIpTION pAGE NUmbER



ENVIroNMENTAL

en1 Materials used by weight or volume. the disclosure is not 
applicable to our 
business 

en2 percentage of materials used that are recycled input materials. the disclosure is not 
applicable to our 
business

en3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source. limited disclosure as 
data not available for 
all centres 

en4 Indirect energy consumption by primary source. limited disclosure as 
data not available for 
all centres

en5 energy saved due to conservation and efficiency improvements. limited disclosure as 
data not available for 
all centres

en6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable energy based products and services and reductions in energy requirements 
as a result of these initiatives.

limited disclosure as 
data not available for 
all centres

en7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and reductions achieved. limited disclosure as 
data not available for 
all centres

en8 total water withdrawal by source. Data not available
en9 Water sources significantly affected by withdrawal of water. Data not available
en10 percentage and total volume of water recycled and reused. limited disclosure as 

data not available 
en11 location and size of land owned, leased, managed in or adjacent to protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value 

outside protected areas.
limited disclosure as 
data not available 

en12 Description of significant impacts of activities, products, and services on biodiversity in protected areas and areas of high 
biodiversity value outside protected areas.

48-49

en13 Habitats protected or restored. 48-49
en14 Strategies, current actions and future plans for managing impacts on biodiversity. 48-49
en15 number of IuCn red list species and national conservation list species with habitats in areas affected by operations, by level 

of extinction risk.
Disclosure not 
applicable 

en16 total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight. Data not available 
en17 other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight. Data not available
en18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and reductions achieved. Data not available
en19 emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight. Data not available
en20 no, So, and other significant air emissions by type and weight. Data not available
en21 total water discharge by quality and destination. Data not available
en22 total weight of waste by type and disposal method. Some reporting  for 

individual centres
en23 total number and volume of significant spills. not applicable
en24 Weight of transported, imported, exported, or treated waste deemed hazardous under the terms of the Basel Convention 

Annex I, II, III, and VIII, and percentage of transported waste shipped internationally.
not applicable

en25 Identity, size, protected status, and biodiversity value of water bodies and related habitats significantly affected by the 
reporting organisation’s discharges of water and run-off.

Data not available

en26 Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products and services, and extent of impact mitigation. Data not available
en27 percentage of products sold and their packaging materials that are reclaimed by category. not applicable
en28 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws 

and regulations.
not applicable

en29 Significant environmental impacts of transporting products and other goods and materials used for the organisation’s 
operations, and transporting members of the workforce.

not applicable

en30 total environmental protection expenditures and investments by type. Data not available 

INDICATOR DESCRIpTION pAGE NUmbER
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Hr1 percentage and total number of significant investment agreements that include human rights clauses or that have undergone 
human rights screening.

Data not available

Hr2 percentage of significant suppliers and contractors that have undergone screening on human rights and actions taken. Data not available
Hr3 total hours of employee training on policies and procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to operations, 

including the percentage of employees trained.
Data not available

Hr4 total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken. 45
Hr5 operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom of association and collective bargaining may be at significant risk, 

and actions taken to support these rights.
45

Hr6 operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of child labour, and measures taken to contribute to the elimination 
of child labour

Data not available

Hr7 operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of forced or compulsory labour, and measures to contribute to the 
elimination of forced or compulsory labour.

Data not available

Hr8 percentage of security personnel trained in the organisation’s policies or procedures concerning aspects of human rights that 
are relevant to operations.

Data not available

Hr9 total number of incidents of violations involving rights of indigenous people and actions taken. not applicable

hUMAN rIGhTS

LABoUr PrACTICES AND DECENT WorK

lA1 total workforce by employment type, employment contract and region. 45
lA2 total number and rate of employee turnover by age group, gender and region. 45
lA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to temporary or part-time employees, by major operations. not applicable
lA4 percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreements. not applicable
lA5 Minimum notice period(s) regarding operational changes, including whether it is specified in collective agreements. not applicable
lA6 percentage of total workforce represented in formal joint management–worker health and safety committees that help monitor 

and advise on occupational health and safety programs.
not applicable

lA7 rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days and absenteeism, and number of work related fatalities by region. not applicable
lA8 education, training, counselling, prevention and risk-control programs in place to assist workforce members, their families, or 

community members regarding serious diseases.
46-47

lA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions. not applicable
lA10 Average hours of training per year per employee by employee category. Data not available
lA11 programs for skills management and lifelong learning that support the continued employability of employees and assist them in 

managing career endings.
45-46

lA12 percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews. 45-46
lA13 Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per category according to gender, age group, minority group 

membership and other indicators of diversity.
45

lA14 ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category. Data not available

SoCIETY

So1 nature, scope and effectiveness of any programs and practices that assess and manage the impacts of operations on 
communities, including entering, operating and exiting.

Data not available 

So2 percentage and total number of business units analysed for risks related to corruption. Data not available
So3 percentage of employees trained in organisation’s anti-corruption policies and procedures. Data not available
So4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption. 41
So5 public policy positions and participation in public policy development and lobbying. not applicable
So6 total value of financial and in-kind contributions to political parties, politicians and related institutions by country. not applicable
So7 total number of legal actions for anticompetitive behaviour, anti-trust and monopoly practices and their outcomes. not applicable
So8 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and 

regulations.
not applicable
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ProDUCT rESPoNSIBILITY

pr1 life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of products and services are assessed for improvement and percentage of 
significant products and services categories subject to such procedures.

not applicable

pr2 total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes concerning health and safety impacts of 
products and services during their life cycle, by type of outcomes.

46-47

pr3 type of product and service information required by procedures, and percentage of significant products and services subject 
to such information requirements.

not applicable

pr4 total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes concerning product and service 
information and labelling, by type of outcomes.

not applicable

pr5 practices related to customer satisfaction, including results of surveys measuring customer satisfaction. 43-44
pr6 programs for adherence to laws, standards, and voluntary codes related to marketing communications, including advertising, 

promotion and sponsorship.
not applicable

pr7 total number of substantiated complaints regarding breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data. not applicable
pr8 Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning the provision and use of 

products and services.
not applicable

pr9 total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes concerning marketing communications, 
including advertising, promotion, and sponsorship by type of outcomes.

not applicable

pr10 total number of substantiated complaints regarding breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data. none
pr11 Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning the provision and use of 

products and services.
none

eC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs, employee compensation, donations and 
other community investments, retained earnings and payments to capital providers and governments.

Data not available

eC2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities for the organisation’s activities due to climate change. Data not available 
eC3 Coverage of the organisation’s defined benefit plan obligations. not applicable
eC4 Significant financial assistance received from government. not applicable
eC5 range of ratios of standard entry level wage compared to local minimum wage at significant locations of operation. not applicable
eC6 policy, practices and proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at significant locations of operation. Data not available
eC7 procedures for local hiring and proportion of senior management hired from the local community at locations of significant 

operation.
Data not available

eC8 Development and impact of infrastructure investments and services provided primarily for public benefit through commercial, 
in-kind or pro bono engagement.

not applicable

eC9 understanding and describing significant indirect economic impacts, including the extent of impacts. 39-41

ECoNoMIC
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ADmINISTRATION

registered office and business address
Registration number: 1987/005284/06
2nd Floor, Cradock Heights, 21 Cradock Avenue, Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 41257, Craighall, 2024
Tel: +27 11 447 0090
Fax: +27 11 447 0092
Website: www.hyprop.co.za

Company secretary
Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
3rd Floor, The Mall Offices, 11 Cradock Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 85392, Emmarentia, 2029

Corporate advisor and sponsor
Java Capital (Proprietary) Limited
2 Arnold Road, Rosebank, 2196
PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

Trustee for debenture holders
Webber Wentzel Bowens
3rd Floor, Granger Bay Court, Beach Road
V&A Waterfront, Cape Town
PO Box 1820, Cape Town, 8000

Independent auditors
Grant Thornton
(Member firm of Grant Thornton International)
137 Daisy Street, cnr Grayston Drive
Sandton, 2196
Private Bag X28, Benmore, 2010

Editorial

Design & layout
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